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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

HITESHRES

On behalf of the board of directors (the “Board”) of Capital VC
Limited (carrying on business in Hong Kong as CNI VC Limited)
(the “Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively the “Group”), it
is my pleasure to present you the Group’s audited annual results
for the year ended 30 September 2020 (the “Year” or “Fiscal Year
2019/20”).

BUSINESS REVIEW, IMPORTANT EVENTS
OCCURRED AFTER THE END OF FINANCIAL
YEAR AND PROSPECT

In Year 2020, the global investment market has experienced
the largest crisis since the bankruptcy of Lehman Brothers in Year
2008, which is due to the outbreak of COVID-19. Hang Seng Index
dropped sharply from the peak of 29,056 points in January 2020
to the bottom of 21,696 points within two months in March 2020.
Many nations, including China and United States, have adopted
lockdown and quarantine policies and the business activities
are influenced significantly. In spite of such severe business
environment, Hang Seng Index sharply rebounded to over 25,700
points in July 2020 and marked at 23,459 points on the last
trading day of the Year. In such unstable market atmosphere,
the Group’s listed securities performed not so satisfactorily.
The Group continued to make loss on listed investments of
approximately HK$69.9 million for the Year and corresponding loss
of approximately HK$163.6 million was recorded during the year
ended 30 September 2019.

In connection with the Group’s unlisted investments, the Group
continued its focus on bonds investments, which bring constant
cash flows to the Group. The Group acquired three new bonds.
One of them was issued by Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited,
a wholly owned subsidiary of WLS Holdings Limited, which is
listed on GEM of the Stock Exchange, with bond size of HK$20.0
million and coupons of 8.5%. In addition, the Group subscribed
bonds issued by Sincere Smart International Limited (“SSIL"). The
bond size and coupon rate of SSIL are HK$18.0 million and 12%
respectively. The last one was issued by Luxxu Group Limited,
which is listed on Main Board of the Stock Exchange, with bond
size of HK$17.0 million and coupons of 9%.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

HITESWES

The value of the bonds held by the Group reported in the
financial statements of this report decreased from HK$167.7
million as at 30 September 2019 to HK$119.9 million as at 30
September 2020. The decrease in the value of bonds held by the
Group because certain bonds matured over the Year, and expected
loss on the bonds of approximately HK$20.2 million was recorded
during the Year. Aggregate bond coupons of approximately
HK$17.2 million were received during the Year.

During the Year, the Group did not acquire or dispose of any
unlisted equity investment.

Below are the important events affecting the Group which
occurred since the end of the year ended 30 September 2020:

(a) Subsequent to 30 September 2020 and up to the date
of this report, all holders of the convertible bonds
(“CB”) converted the CB to shares of the Company, and
54,000,000 new shares of HK$0.25 each were issued and
allotted accordingly.

(b) Subsequent to 30 September 2020 and up to the date of
this report, certain grantees of share options exercised the
share options and 13,750,000 new shares of HK$0.25 each
were issued and allotted accordingly.

(c) Cheng & Cheng Limited has resigned as the auditor of
the Company with effect from 20 October 2020 and D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED has been appointed as the
Company’s new auditor on 23 October 2020.

(d) The investment management agreement entered into
between the Company and China Everbright Securities
(HK) Limited was terminated with effect from 1 December
2020, and Evergrande Securities (Hong Kong) Limited was
appointed as the Company’s new investment manager with
effect from 8 December 2020.

Looking forward, along with the uncertainties brought from
COVID-19 and the potential restart of trade war between China
and the US, the global investment will be challenging in the coming
year. However, the “QE Infinity” launched by the Federal Reserve
in March 2020 may give investors good chances to make their
investments. As such, the Directors will continue to adopt cautious
measures to manage the Group’s investment portfolio.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS’ STATEMENT

YITESHES

APPRECIATION

The Board would like to take this opportunity to express our
gratitude to all management team and staff members for their
dedication and contribution in the Fiscal Year 2019/20. We would
also like to extend our sincere thanks and appreciation to our
shareholders and business partners for their continued support to
as well as their confidence in the Group.

Chan Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 December 2020
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EEEE

EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Kong Fanpeng (“Mr. Kong”), aged 52, has been an
Executive Director since 18 March 2010. He obtained a Bachelor’s
degree in Finance and Auditing from Zhongshan University, the
PRC. Mr. Kong was a manager of Huizhou TCL Information System
Limited and Guangzhou Bada Telecommunications Limited. He
also worked as the general manager of the PRC market and an
executive director respectively at Chief Securities Limited in Hong
Kong and Excalibur Securities Limited in (now known as “Delta
Wealth Securities Limited”) Hong Kong, specialising in risk averse
arbitrage trading in both Shenzhen and Hong Kong capital market.
Mr. Kong was the chairman and an executive director of Shenzhen
Wansheng Investment Management Company Limited. He has a
wealth of experience in the Hong Kong securities market for over
25 years and is well versed in investment in the second board
market in both China and Hong Kong. Mr. Kong is the chief partner
of Shenzhen CAS Bright Stone Investment Management Limited.

Mr. Chan Cheong Yee (“Mr. Chan”), aged 56, has been
an Executive Director since 21 November 2012. He is one of
the responsible officers of China Everbright Securities (HK)
Limited. Mr. Chan is currently a licensed person to carry out type
1 (dealing in securities), type 2 (dealing in futures contracts),
type 3 (leveraged foreign exchange trading) and type 9 (asset
management) regulated activities under the SFO. Mr. Chan
obtained a Bachelor of Science degree from the College of
Business Administration of the University of South Florida in the
United States of America. Mr. Chan is experienced in dealing in
securities, fund management, corporate management, corporate
finance and managing listed investment companies under Chapter
21 of the Rules (“Listing Rules”) Governing the Listing of Securities
on the Stock Exchange.
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BIOGRAPHIES OF DIRECTORS
EERE

Since June 2003, Mr. Chan joined China Innovation Investment
Limited (stock code: 1217), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, as executive director. Mr. Chan was appointed
as an executive director of China Investment and Finance Group
Limited (stock code: 1226), an investment company listed on the
Stock Exchange, in March 2011. Mr. Chan was appointed as an
executive director of China Investment Development Limited (stock
code: 204), an investment company listed on the Stock Exchange,
in May 2012. Mr. Chan was also appointed as an executive
director of China New Economy Fund Limited (stock code: 80),
an investment company listed on the Stock Exchange, in June
2013. Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive director of China
Trends Holdings Limited (stock code: 8171), the shares of which
are listed on the GEM of the Stock Exchange in February 2016,
and re-designated as a non-executive director of that company in
December 2020. Mr. Chan was appointed as an executive director
of National Investment Fund Limited (stock code: 1227), an
investment company listed on the Stock Exchange, in November
2018, and subsequently re-designated as a non-executive director
in December 2020.

INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Lee Ming Gin (“Mr. Lee”), aged 35, has been an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 6 March
2013. Mr. Lee holds a Bachelor Degree of Quantitative Finance
from the Chinese University of Hong Kong. Mr. Lee is experienced
in securities, insurance advisory and fund management having
been working for several wealth and asset management firms.
Mr. Lee was a continuous education training tutor and is currently
a director of the Institute of Financial Planners of Hong Kong,
and his professional qualifications include Certified Financial
Consultant, Certified Financial Planner and member of the Hong
Kong Securities Institution.

Ms. Lai Fun Yin, aged 36, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since 27 June
2017. She has over 7 years solid sales and marketing experience
in travel industry.

Mr. Cheung Wai Kin, aged 39, has been appointed as an
Independent Non-executive Director of the Company since
27 September 2017. He is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and he has over 14 years accounting
and auditing experience.
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER TR DT

FINANCIAL REVIEW

For the year ended 30 September 2020 (the “Year”), the Group
reported a negative turnover of approximately HK$52.4 million
(Year ended 30 September 2019 (“Year 2019”): HK$142.8 million)
and net loss attributable to equity holders of the Company of
approximately HK$105.5 million (Year 2019: HK$183.6 million).

During the Fiscal Year 2019/20, the Group’s loss on listed
investments decreased from HK$150.6 million in Year 2019 to
HK$61.0 million in the Year. The loss on listed investments for the
Year of approximately HK$61.0 million represented net realised
loss of approximately HK$23.6 million and net unrealised loss
of approximately HK$37.6 million, net of dividend income of
approximately HK$0.2 million. Set out below are further information
of these net realised and unrealised losses:
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Company name Stock code costs consideration in prior years loss
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENRR DM

The shares of Ruicheng (China) Media Group Limited, Eternity
Technology Holdings Limited and Hands Form Holdings Limited are
listed on main board the Stock Exchange, and no stock included
in others contributed the realised gain or loss over HK$3 million
during the Year.

NET UNREALISED LOSS

The net unrealised loss of approximately HK$37.6 million
represents the unrealised gain of approximately HK$26.8 million
net of unrealised loss of approximately HK$64.4 million. Set out
below is the breakdown of the aforesaid unrealised gain and loss:
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Company name Stock code Unrealised gain Unrealised loss
NEEW R REH Wz RELEE
HK$' million HK$' million
BEAT AEAT
WLS Holdings Limited 8021 10.9 -
ERERERA A
Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited 1082 7.5 -
ERHE (AR RESEBRQA
Fire Rock Holdings Limited 1909 2.0 -
NEERBR QA
Shineroad International Holdings Limited 1587 - 2.2
R mh B B AE AR R A A
Asia Grocery Distribution Limited 8413 - 2.5
TMEEERATF
Luxxu Group Limited 1327 - 2.5
BN EEERARF
Seec Media Group Limited 0205 - 3.1
AEREEEERAR
Eternity Technology Holdings Limited 1725 - 4.2
BEMRERERAR
China National Culture Group Limited 0745 - 4.9
PEBERCEXESEBRQA
China Properties Investment Holdings Limited 0736 - 5.8
PEEEREERARIA
EJE (Hong Kong) Holdings Limited 8101 - 12.7
EREM(FE)ERBERAF
Others 6.4 26.5
HA
26.8 64.4
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER TR DT

All the shares of the companies mentioned under Net
Unrealised Loss above are listed on either main board or GEM of
the Stock Exchange, and no stock included in others contributed
the unrealised gain or loss over HK$2.0 million during the Year.

In connection with the unlisted investments, the Group
recorded an unrealised loss of approximately HK$8.7 million during
the Year (Year 2019: 13.0 million). The unrealised loss on unlisted
investments of approximately HK$8.7 million represented loss on
investment in Easy Ideas Limited of approximately HK$4.1 million
and Merit Advisory Limited of approximately HK$4.6 million.

As a result of the unsatisfactory performance of listed and
unlisted financial assets investments, the Group recorded net
loss of approximately HK$105.5 million for the Year. Even so, the
loss significantly reduced as compared to that for Year 2019 of
approximately HK$183.6 million.

Liquidity and Financial Resources

As at 30 September 2020, the Group held assets of
approximately HK$489.8 million (2019: HK$576.0 million), including
cash and cash equivalents of HK16.8 million (2019: HK$26.0
million). Although the Group’s current ratio (as defined by current
assets/current liabilities) decreased from 16.5 as at 30 September
2019 to 13.8 as at 30 September 2020, it was maintained at a
healthy level. The Board believes that the Group has sufficient
resources to satisfy its working capital requirement.

Gearing Ratio
The gearing ratio (defined as total interest-bearing liabilities/
total equity) was 8.13% (2019: 3.93%).
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MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEENRR DM

Capital Structure

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Company has
adopted (i) the share consolidation on the basis that every ten
(10) issued and unissued then existing shares of HK$0.025 each
were consolidated into one share of HK$0.25 each (the “Share
Consolidation”), which were completed on 14 July 2020, and (ii)
placing (the “Placing”) of convertible bonds under the general
mandate. Owing to the Share Consolidation, the share capital of
the Company changed from 2,754,882,496 issued shares with par
value of HK$0.025 each as at 30 September 2019 to 275,488,249
issued shares with par value of HK$0.25 each as at 30 September
2020.

In connection with the Placing, the Company, on 1 September
2020, entered into a placing agreement (the “Placing Agreement”)
with China Prospect Securities Limited (the “Placing Agent”),
a licensed corporation to carry on business in Type 1 (dealing
in securities) and Type 4 (Advising on Securities) regulated
activities under the Securities and Futures Ordinance (Chapter
571 of the Laws of Hong Kong), pursuant to which the Company
has conditionally agreed to issue and the Placing Agent has
conditionally agreed to procure, on a best effort basis, not less
than six placees to subscribe for the convertible bonds with an
aggregate principal amount of up to HK$13.5 million. The Placing
is completed on 18 September 2020 and net proceeds (“Net
Proceeds”) of approximately HK$13.1 million was raised.

The Net Proceeds were intended to be used for the general
working capital of the Group and for future investments pursuant
to the investment objectives of the Company. The aggregate gross
proceeds of the Placing was approximately HK$13.5 million and
the aggregate net proceeds of the Placing, after deduction of
expenses, were approximately HK$13.1 million, representing a net
issue price of approximately HK$0.243 per the new share of the
Company as if the conversion rights attaching to the convertible
bonds are exercised.

12 BE#HAIRERAT  CAPITAL VC LIMITED

BEREB
REBE_Z-_ZFAA=+THLFE KARDHF
MO BB EH BRET(10)RETREE0.0258 T2 &
REBRTRRETRERMEH R —REKREE0.25
BTz ([ROEH]) ROEHERZZ_ZHF
+ATMmATE: R(i) —MEEET 2 8RR E S
E([RE]) BARBRHNEMH ARRZRABR T
—NFNA=+H2Z2,754,882,4960% & I A 150.025
BLZERETRHEEAN_ZS-_TEFALA=TAHZ
275,488,249/ F A A (H0.25 8 T2 B T

RZZE_ZTFANA—B ARFEFBEREESE
RAR ([EEERE] AIREBEEBEMESTIERSFR
HEEFIIBETEE (FHERH) REME (EFREE
ER)ZHE RS BB EE)RREEEITLREER
FUREWZH]D) B A2 KGEREHTRE
ERBEKRERERBHE NEEREDT DR NEE
EAREARAETEA &% 513,500,000 7T 2 A # A%
B EREFER _T_TFALATNBEK I &
SFBRIBFEE ([FT1S 5K IEF 8] ) 413,100,000/

IT, °

N

=

FIEREFRBEAELAEE —REEELES AT
REARRABREBBRZARKRE - RREEHZFAES
TH 48 B8 5 #913,500,0007% 7T I il & £ 18 2 AT 18 5% 78
(%A A H£5413,100,000%8 7T IHE AR
R IRFTAR (5 R B 1TE A#0.243% 0 (BN Al AR (E
HFTM 2 AR REEITE) o

e

s

S|



MANAGEMENT DISCUSSION AND ANALYSIS

BEER TR DT

The conversion price (the “Conversion Price”) of the convertible
bonds of HK$0.25 represent (i) a premium of approximately
52.4% to the closing price of HK$0.164 per share (the “Share(s)”)
of the Company as quoted on the Stock Exchange on the last
trading date (the “Last Trading Date”) immediately before signing
the Placing Agreement; and (ii) a premium of approximately
54.5% to the average closing price of HK$0.1618 per Share
as quoted on the Stock Exchange for the last five trading days
immediately before the Last Trading Date. The Conversion Price
were determined after arm’s length negotiations between the
Company and the Placing Agent after considering the then market
sentiment, and the market prices and performance of the Shares,
and the Group’s financial position. In case of full conversion of the
convertible bonds, 54,000,000 new Shares of aggregate nominal
value of HK$13,500,000 will be issued and allotted.

The Net Proceeds of approximately HK$13.1 million included
approximately HK$0.8 million which was used in investment
in listed securities in various industries in Hong Kong and
approximately HK$0.3 million which was used as general working
capital of the Group during the Year. Save as the above aggregate
amount of HK$1.1 million used as intended, the remaining
proceeds of placing of the convertible bonds of approximately
HK$12.0 million were yet to be used as of 30 September 2020.

The Group had margin payables of approximately HK$23.7
million as at 30 September 2020 which bear interest rates
ranged from 8% to 10% (2019: 8% to 10%) per annum. The
margin payables are in Hong Kong Dollars, and secured by
listed investments of the Group, repayable on demand and are
guaranteed by the Company on behalf of subsidiaries. In view
of such immaterial amount of the margin payables in Hong Kong
Dollars as compared to the Group’s listed stocks of approximately
HK$178.1 million as at 30 September 2020, the Company
considers the currency and interest rate risks exposure of its debt
and obligation are manageable.
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Significant Investments

Investments with fair value/market value not less than 5% of
the Group’s total asset value are significant investments of the
Group, which are included in the Group’s bonds investments
and listed equity investments as detailed in notes 17 and 16 to
the consolidated financial statements of this report, respectively.
Set out below are further information of the Group’s significant
investments.

Bonds Investment—Hao Wen Holdings Limited (“Hao
Wen”)

Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with
limited liability. Hao Wen and its subsidiaries are principally
engaged in money lending, manufacturing of biomass fuel product
and trading of electronic parts. It is listed on GEM of the Stock
Exchange (stock code: 8019). Based on Hao Wen’'s interim
report for the six months ended 30 June 2020, its net asset
value was approximately RMB354.0 million, its current assets
were approximately RMB297.7 million and total liabilities were
approximately RMB56.3 million. In view of Hao Wen'’s strong liquid
assets and limited liabilities, the Company considers that Hao Wen
has sufficient financial resources to meet its ongoing operation,
there is no signal of default of bonds issued by Hao Wen to the
Group.

Bonds Investment—AMCO United Holding Limited
(“AMCO”)

AMCO is a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited
liability and principally engaged in medical device businesses.
The company operates through four segments. Medical Devices
segment is engaged in the manufacture and sales of medical
devices products. Plastic Molding segment is engaged in the
manufacture and sales of plastic molding products. Public
Relations (PR) segment is engaged in the provision of PR
services. Human Resources segment is engaged in the provision
of human resources management services. The company operates
businesses in the regions of Asia, Europe and North and South
Americas. It is listed on main board of the Stock Exchange (stock
code: 630). Based on AMCO'’s interim report for the six months
ended 30 June 2020, its net asset value was approximately
HK$117.4 million, its current assets were approximately HK$170.7
million and total liabilities were approximately HK$56.1 million.
Included in current assets of approximately HK$170.7 million
were substantially assets liquid in nature, which were cash
and cash equivalents of approximately HK$27.7 million, listed
stocks investments of approximately HK$12.7 million, trade
receivables of approximately HK$7.8 million and loan receivables
of approximately HK$110.6 million, totalling HK$158.8 million.
These liquid assets can fully cover AMCO’s total liabilities
of approximately HK$56.1 million. Accordingly, the Company
considers that AMCO has sufficient working capital to meet the
ongoing business, there is no signal of default of bonds issued by
AMCO.
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Equity Investment — Hong Kong Education (Int’l)
Investments Limited (“HKEI”) (stock code: 1082)

HKEI group are principally engaged in the provision of
private educational services, investment in securities and money
lending business. For the year ended 30 June 2020, the audited
consolidated loss attributable to owners of HKEI was HK$107.2
million. The unfavourable market conditions, such as decreasing
enrolment of secondary school students, declining number of
candidates participating in the Diploma of Secondary Education
Examination (“DSE”), increasing number of students studying
abroad, and fierce competition among the industry peers to
recruit and retain quality tutors as well as to attract and retain
students for enrolments, coupled with the continuing impact of
the social incidents and the outbreak of coronavirus disease 2019
(“COVID-19”) in Hong Kong, not only caused a distinct reduction in
course enrolments but also suspension of face-to-face classes in
HKEI's centres.

The HKEl's management believes that the business
environment for the industry of private education remains tough
as it is uncertain when the COVID-19 pandemic will end. The
adverse impacts to the industry of private education persist.
Despite the difficult situation, HKEI is flexibly adjusting its business
strategies in order to strengthen the core businesses. In view of
the decreasing DSE student numbers and the high rent situation
in Hong Kong, it is believed that the closure of the Secondary
Tutoring Centres as a result of a revised and decisive business
strategy will benefit the group in the long term. The COVID-19
pandemic has presented an opportunity for HKEI to accelerate
its endeavour in exploring the transition from the traditional face-
to-face classroom teaching to online classes. HKEI is actively
managing the drastic change by focusing and strengthening its
online services for long term sustainability. HKEI remains confident
in the demand for private education in Hong Kong. The secondary
and primary tutoring services, which are provided through the
brands of “Modern Education (3X#{& )" and “Modern Bachelor
Education (38 X/N2 1) ", continuously serve as the key income
drivers of HKEI. Especially for the primary tutoring service, HKEI
will continue to explore more new potential franchisees and seek
opportunities to expand its presence to better serve the demand
for primary tuition. In addition, the HKEI’'s management team will
make dedicated efforts to explore potential education-related
business partners for business collaboration and to seek for
potential merger and acquisition opportunities in both Hong Kong
and the People’s Republic of China for business diversification in
order to maximize returns to HKEI.
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The Company shares the similar viewpoints of HKEI's
management and believes that the adverse business environment
will improve, and bring the return to us, as HKEI’s shareholders in
medium to long terms.

Dividend Policy

It is the Board’s intention to distribute any excess balance by
way of dividend to the extent permitted by law, the Memorandum
and the Articles. Dividends will only be paid to the extent that they
are covered by net income received from underlying investments.
Distribution will be made annually after the annual accounts of the
Company are approved by the shareholders but interim distribution
may be made from time to time to shareholders as appear to the
Board to be justified by the position of the Company. Distributions
will be made in Hong Kong dollars.

As the Company does not have any pre-determined dividend
distribution ratio, the declaration of future dividends will be subject
to the decision by the Board and will depend on, among other
things, the earnings, financial condition, cash requirements and
availability, the availability of funds to meet the financial covenants
of the Group’s bank loans (if applicable) and any other factors that
our Directors may consider relevant.

Capital Commitment and Operating Lease Commitment
As at 30 September 2020, the Group had no material
commitment.

Contingent Liabilities
As at 30 September 2020, the Group had no material
contingent liabilities.

Foreign Currency Fluctuation

The Group’s exposures to foreign currencies mainly arises
from its investments in companies located in the PRC, which
are financed internally. In order to mitigate the potential impact
of currency fluctuations, the Group closely monitors its foreign
currency exposures and will use suitable hedging instruments
against significant foreign currency exposures, where necessary.
No foreign currency hedge contract was entered into by the Group
during the Year. As at 30 September 2020, the Group had no
outstanding foreign currency hedge contracts (30 September 2019:
Nil).
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Human Resources

As at 30 September 2020, the Group had 13 employees
excluding the Directors. Total staff costs excluding Directors’
remuneration amounted to approximately HK$4.5 million.
They perform clerical, research, business development and
administrative functions for the Group. The Group’s remuneration
policies are in line with the prevailing market practice and the staff
remuneration is determined on the basis of the performance and
experience of individual employees.

Material acquisitions and disposal of subsidiaries,
associates and joint ventures

During the Year, the Company does not have any significant
acquisition and disposal of subsidiaries, associates or joint
ventures.

Charge of Assets
As at 30 September 2020, the Group had pledged listed stocks
of approximately HK$101.8 million to secure the margin payables.
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The Board is committed to maintaining statutory and regulatory
standards and adherence to the principles of corporate governance
with emphasis on transparency, independence, accountability
and responsibility. The Board reviews its corporate governance
practices from time to time in order to meet the rising expectations
of shareholders and comply with increasingly stringent regulatory
requirements, and to fulfill its commitment to excellence in
corporate governance.

The Corporate Governance Code (“CG Code”) issued by The
Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (“Stock Exchange”) in its
Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange
(“Listing Rules”) sets out two levels of corporate governance
practices, namely, mandatory CG Code provisions that a listed
company must comply with or explain its non-compliance, and
recommended best practices that listed companies are encouraged
to comply with but need not disclose in the case of non-
compliance. The Company is in compliance with the mandatory CG
Code provisions, save for the deviations discussed below.

BOARD OF DIRECTORS

The Board is charged with providing effective and responsible
leadership for the Company. The Directors, individually and
collectively, must act in good faith in the best interests of the
Company and its shareholders.

The Board comprises two Executive Directors and three
Independent Non-executive Directors during the year ended
30 September 2020 (the “Year” or “Fiscal Year 2019/20"). The
Board has appointed Committees to oversee different areas of
the Company’s affairs. The composition of the Board and the
Committees are given below and their respective responsibilities
are discussed in this report.

The number of Board Meetings, Committee Meetings and
General Meetings attended by each Director during the Year is set
out in the following table. Figure in brackets indicates maximum
number of meetings in the period in which the individual was a
Board Member or Committee Member (as the case may be).
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Board
Meetings
Exg
Name of Director EEfS EE ]
Executive Directors BTES
Mr. Kong Fanpeng LABEE 15/(15)
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee REZLLE 15/(15)
Independent Non-executive Directors BUYTES
Mr. Lee Ming Gin THERE 13/(14)
Ms. Lai Fun Yin PHERT 14/(14)
Mr. Cheung Wai Kin REREE 14/(14)

The Board members have no financial, business, family or
other material/relevant relationships with each other. Each of the
Independent Non-executive Directors has confirmed in writing their
independence from the Company in accordance with the guidelines
on director independence of the Listing Rules. On this basis, the
Company considers all such Directors to be independent.

Biographical details of the Directors of the Company as at the
date of this report are set out on pages 7 to 8 of this annual report.
Given the composition of the Board and the skills, knowledge
and expertise of the Directors, the Board believes that it is
appropriately structured to provide sufficient checks and balances
to protect the interests of the Group and the shareholders. The
Board will review its composition regularly to ensure that it has the
appropriate balance of expertise, skills and experience to continue
to effectively oversee the business of the Company.

The emoluments of the Directors are determined by the Board
of Directors on recommendation of the Remuneration Committee
with the reference to their respective duties and responsibility with
the Company, the Company’s performance and current market
situation. Details of emoluments of the Directors for the Year are
disclosed in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

APPOINTMENT AND RE-ELECTION OF DIRECTORS

A Director may be appointed either by the shareholders in
a general meeting or by the Board on recommendation of the
Nomination Committee. The Board takes into account criteria
such as expertise, experience, integrity and commitment when
considering a new appointment.

Audit Remuneration ~ Nomination Investment
Committee Committee Committee Committee General
Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings Meetings
EhZEE §MzEE REZEE REZEE
L L ] EE S VN
N/A T iEH N/A i@ H NIA T iEF 4/(4) 0/(2)
N/A T EH N/A i N/A 78 4/(4) 2/(2)
2(2) 2/(2) 11(1) N/A i A 0/(2)
2(2) 2/(2) 1/(1) NIA @R 0/(2)
2(2) 2/(2) 1/(1) NA @R 0/(2)
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In accordance with the Articles of Association of the Company
(“Articles”), all Directors are subject to retirement by rotation and
re-election at annual general meetings of the Company. New
Directors appointed by the Board during the Year, if any, are
required to retire and submit themselves for re-election at the first
annual general meeting immediately following their appointments.
Further, at each annual general meeting, not less than one-third
of the Directors or, if their number is not a multiple of three, then
the number nearest to but not exceeding one-third are required to
retire from office.

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE

CG Code provision A.2.1 stipulates that the roles of chairman
and chief executive should be separate and should not be
performed by the same person. Decisions of the Company are
made collectively by the executive Directors. The Board believes
that this arrangement enables the Company to make and
implement decisions promptly, and thus achieve the Company’s
objectives efficiently and effectively in response to the changing
environment. The Board also believes that the Company already
has a strong corporate governance structure in place to ensure
effective oversight of management.

TERM OF OFFICE OF NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS
CG Code provision A.4.1 requires that non-executive directors
should be appointed for a specific term and subject to re-election.
Currently all non-executive Directors (i.e. independent non-
executive Directors) have no specific term of appointment but
they are subject to retirement by rotation in accordance with the
Articles. As such, the Company considers that sufficient measures
have been taken to serve the purpose of this CG Code provision.

DIRECTORS’ TRAINING

As part of an ongoing process of directors’ training, the
Company Secretary continuously updates all Directors on latest
developments regarding the Listing Rules and other applicable
regulatory requirements to ensure compliance of the same by all
Directors. All Directors are encouraged to attend external forum
or training courses on relevant topics which may count towards
Continuous Professional Development training.

Pursuant to CG Code A.6.5, Directors should participate in
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their
knowledge and skills. This is to ensure that their contribution to
the Board remains informed and relevant. During the Year, all
Directors have participated in appropriate continuous professional
development activities either by attending training courses or by
reading materials relevant to the Company’s business or to the
Directors’ duties and responsibilities.
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COMPANY SECRETARY

Ms. Chan Yuet Ching has been the Company Secretary of
the Company since July 2017. Ms. Chan is a member of Hong
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants. She reports to the
Executive Directors and assists the Board in functioning effectively
and efficiently. During the Year, Ms. Chan undertook over 15 hours
of professional training to update her skill and knowledge.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The audit committee (“Audit Committee”) of the Board
comprises all three independent non-executive Directors and is
currently chaired by Mr. Cheung Wai Kin, who possesses extensive
financial and accounting experience in commercial sectors. It is
responsible for appointment of external auditors, review of the
Group'’s financial information and oversight of the Group’s financial
reporting system and risk management and internal control
systems. The Audit Committee is also responsible for reviewing
the interim and final results of the Group prior to recommending
them to the Board for approval. The results for the Year has been
reviewed by the Audit Committee. It meets regularly to review
financial reporting, risk management and internal control matters
and to this end has unrestricted access to personnel, records and
external auditors and senior management.

The Audit Committee has specific written terms of reference
which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated in CG
Code Provisions. In the Fiscal Year 2019/20, the Audit Committee
held two meetings. At the meetings, it reviewed the final results
and accounts for the Year ended 30 September 2020, and the
interim results and accounts for the six months ended 31 March
2020 and financial reporting system, and risk management and
internal control systems. It also reviewed the Company’s progress
in implementing the corporate governance requirements as set out
in the CG Code.
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REMUNERATION COMMITTEE

The Remuneration Committee, comprises all three Independent
Non-executive Directors and is responsible for reviewing and
determining the compensation and benefits of the Directors and
senior management. The Remuneration Committee is chaired
by Independent Non-executive Director Mr. Lee Ming Gin. The
Remuneration Committee has specific written terms of reference
which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated in CG
Code Provisions.

NOMINATION COMMITTEE

The Nomination Committee, comprises all three Independent
Non-executive Directors and is chaired by Mr. Lee Ming Gin. The
responsibilities of the Nomination Committee include reviewing the
structure, size, composition and diversity of the Board; identifying
individuals suitably qualified to become members of the Board and
selecting or making recommendations to the Board on selection of
individual nominated for directorships; making recommendations to
the Board on the appointment or re-appointment of directors and
succession planning for directors, in particular the Chairman and
the Chief Executive; and determining the policy for nomination of
directors. The Nomination Committee has specific written terms of
reference which are of no less exacting terms than those stipulated
in CG Code Provisions.

Board Diversity Policy

The Board has adopted a board diversity policy to achieve
board diversity through the consideration of a number of factors
and measureable objectives, including but not limited to gender,
age, cultural background, educational background, skills,
knowledge and professional experience. All Board appointments
will be based on merit, and candidates will be measured against
objective criteria, with due regard for the benefits of diversity
on the Board. The Nomination Committee has the delegated
responsibilities to monitor the implementation and review the board
diversity policy and report to the Board.

22 E#AIRAMRAT  CAPITAL VC LIMITED

YMEES
FHEEema A =B FRTEREAR
==.:T]I/9%r5§$&mi&§£ﬁ'€2 it BN 42 7 o @Mé
/\EI}*F’EM VMITEEFRAEL L %?@H%ig
NEmATABEGEE HERNEERETERELE
ST RIMESCPRET AR ©

REEEE

REZESHEHMHA=—BUIRTESTER =
FHFAEELERET - REZEGZBRERE B
BEEeRB AR ARXRSTL . MEABSEE
BAETESEZ AL WHBREZRABALHEES

FRMANEETERHEL RESZEXEHNZEN
REE(LERIFERTRAEH) BEAZZFHRER
F‘ﬂ%%@%ﬁ%%:&ETETE%%%ZEAI””TE%%
BeUEmaIABESE EEFNBRERETER
&SRR ARTHE -

EEgSnltEE

EEQCDRMNESSZTCRE - UERERESRE
EEEAAEEEEREZTS S T BEETRR
MR- FR - XEER HEES Rt B REE
KB - BEEMEZTHUBAES BRI WEE
BABRRUESRKRGRIBEREZTENES TIL 21
mREZESRERAAEEERLARTESSS
TR MESSHRE -



CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

TEERRE

INVESTMENT COMMITTEE

The Investment Committee, which comprises all Executive
Directors, is responsible for formulating investment policies and
reviewing and determining the investment portfolio of the Group.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE FUNCTIONS

The Board is responsible for performing the functions set out in
the CG Code provision D.3.1.

The Board reviewed the Company’s corporate governance
policies and practices, continuous professional development of
Directors, the Company’s policies and practices on compliance
with legal and regulatory requirements, the compliance of the
Listing Rules, and the Company’s compliance with the Code and
disclosure in this Corporate Governance Report.

DIRECTORS’ RESPONSIBILITY FOR THE
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The Directors are responsible for overseeing the preparation
of accounts for each financial period with a view to ensuring
such accounts give a true and fair view of the state of affairs of
the Group and of the results and cash flow for that period. The
Company’s accounts are prepared in accordance with all relevant
statutory requirements and applicable accounting standards. The
Directors are responsible for ensuring that appropriate accounting
policies are selected and applied consistently; and that judgments
and estimates made are prudent and reasonable.

INTERNAL CONTROL AND RISK MANAGEMENT

The Board, recognising its overall responsibility in ensuring the
systems of risk management and internal controls of the Group
and for reviewing its effectiveness, is committed to implementing
effective and sound systems to safeguard the interests of
shareholders and the assets of the Group. These risk management
and internal control systems are designed to manage risks rather
than eliminate risk of failure to achieve business objective, and
can only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance against
material misstatement or loss; and to ensure the reliability of
financial information for both internal use and external publication
and to provide reasonable assurance against material statement or
loss and achievement of the Group’s objective.
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Main features of the risk management and internal control
systems

To ensure the efficient and effective operation of the business
and operations, relevant internal control procedures have been set
up for safeguarding assets against unauthorized use or disposition,
controlling over capital expenditure, maintaining proper accounting
records and ensuring the reliability of financial information used
for business and publication. These procedures are monitored and
reviewed from time to time and updated where necessary.

The processes used to identify, evaluate and manage
significant risks by the Group are summarised as follows:

Risk Identification
» Identifies risks that may potentially affect the key processes
of the Group’s business and operations.

Risk Assessment
* Assesses the risks identified by using the assessment
criteria developed by the management; and

» Considers the impact on the business and the likelihood of
their occurrence.

Risk Response
* Prioritizes the risks by comparing the results of the risk
assessment; and

* Determines the risk management strategies and internal
control processes to prevent, avoid or mitigate the risks.

Risk Monitoring and Reporting

* Performs ongoing and periodic monitoring of the risk and
ensures that appropriate internal control processes are in
place;

» Revises the risk management strategies and internal control
processes in case of any significant change of situation;

and

* Report the results of risk monitoring to the management
and the Board regularly.
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The management has carried out periodic review of the
procedures and the implementation of the risk management and
internal control (“RM and IC”) systems, including areas covered
accounting, business and legal compliance.

To further strengthen the risk management and internal control
systems of the Group, the Company has engaged independent
professional adviser (the “System Adviser”) to carry out the internal
audit functions and also perform independent appraisal of the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC systems.
The System Adviser has conducted an annual review of and made
recommendations to improve the effectiveness of the Group’s RM
and IC systems (the “RM and IC Review”).

During the year ended 30 September, 2020, the Audit
Committee, with the assistance of the System Adviser, reviewed
the efficiency and effectiveness of the Group’s RM and IC Systems
in various aspects. The System Adviser executed the RM and IC
Review which involves the following tasks:

1. Conducting interviews with relevant management and staff
members relating to the risk management and internal
controls

2. Conducting walk-through relating to the RM and IC Review

3. Reviewing relevant documentation relating to the RM and
IC Review

4. ldentifying significant deficiencies in the design of the risk
management and internal controls

5. Communicate the significant findings with the management
so as to confirm the factual accuracy of the findings. After
the RM and IC Review, the management provided an action
plan so as to mitigate those identified deficiencies in a
timely manner. All internal control findings would be followed
up closely to ensure that the action plan is implemented
accordingly
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After the RM and IC Review, the management provided an
action plan so as to mitigate those identified deficiencies in a
timely manner. All internal control findings would be followed up
closely to ensure that the action plan is implemented accordingly.

During the year ended 30 September 2020, the Board was
satisfied that the Group’s RM and IC processes are adequate to
meet the needs of the Group in its current business environment
and that nothing has come to its attention to cause the Board to
believe the Group’s RM and IC systems are inadequate. Moreover,
the existing RM and IC systems are effective and adequate, and
will continue to be reviewed, added on or updated to provide for
changes in the operating environment.

AUDITOR’S REMUNERATION

The Company appointed CHENG & CHENG LIMITED as
auditors of the Company on 8 September 2009 and CHENG
& CHENG LIMITED resigned as the Company’s auditor on 20
October 2020. Subsequently on 23 October 2020, the Company
appointed D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED as the Company’s
auditor. In the Fiscal Year 2019/20, total remuneration paid to
the auditors was HK$450,000 (Year ended 30 September 2019:
HK$580,000), which represented statutory audit fee. No non-audit
services was performed by CHENG & CHENG LIMITED or D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED during the Fiscal Year 2019/20.

The responsibilities of the auditors with respect to financial
reporting are set out in the section of “Independent Auditor’s
Report” on pages 55 to 62.

MODEL CODE FOR SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities
Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies (“Model Code”)
as set out in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules. The Company
has made specific enquiry to all Directors regarding any non-
compliance with the Model Code during the Year and they all
confirmed that they have fully complied with the required standard
set out in the Model Code.
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COMMUNICATION WITH SHAREHOLDERS

The Company attaches great priority to establishing effective
communications with its shareholders and investors. In an effort to
enhance such communications, the Company provides information
relating to the Company and its business in its interim and annual
reports.

The Company regards its annual general meetings as an
opportunity for direct communications between the Board and
its shareholders. All Directors, senior management and external
auditors make an effort to attend the annual general meetings to
address shareholders’ queries. The Company also responds to
requests for information and queries from the shareholders and
investors and welcomes the views of shareholders on matters
affecting the Group and encourages them to attend shareholders’
meetings to communicate any concerns they might have with the
Board or management direct.

CONSTITUTIONAL DOCUMENTS
There is no change in the Company’s constitutional documents
during the Year.

SHAREHOLDERS’ RIGHTS
A. Procedures for Shareholders to Convene an Extraordinary

General Meeting

Extraordinary general meetings shall be convened on the
requisition of one or more shareholders of the Company holding,
at the date of deposit of the requisition, not less than one tenth of
the paid up capital of the Company having the right of voting at
general meetings. Such requisition shall be made in writing to the
Board of Directors or the Secretary of the Company (Room 2302,
23/F, New World Tower |, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong)
for the purpose of requiring an extraordinary general meeting to be
called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified in
such requisition.

Such meeting shall be held within 2 months after the deposit of
such requisition. If within 21 days of such deposit, the Board fails
to proceed to convene such meeting, the requisitionist(s) himself
(themselves) may convene such meeting, and all reasonable
expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a result of the failure
of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the
Company.
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B. Procedures for Shareholders to Nominate a Director

A notice in writing of the intention to propose a person for
election as a director of the Company and a notice in writing by
that person of his willingness to be elected together with his/her
particulars (such as qualifications and experience) and information
as required to be disclosed under Rule 13.51(2) of the Rules
Governing the Listing of Securities on the Stock Exchange of Hong
Kong Limited shall be lodged at the Company’s head office and
principal place of business (Room 2302, 23/F, New World Tower I,
18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong Kong) or at its share registrar in
Hong Kong, Tricor Tengis Limited (Level 22, Hopewell Centre, 183
Queen’s Road East, Hong Kong). The period for lodgment of the
notices required will commence no earlier than the day after the
despatch of the notice of the general meeting appointed for such
election and end no later than 7 days prior to the date of such
general meeting, and the minimum length of the period during
which such notices to the Company may be given will be at least 7
days.
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ABOUT THE REPORT

The Environmental, Social and Governance Report (the “ESG
Report” or the “Report”) is to highlight the Group’s approaches
and strategies in pursuit of sustainable development during the
Reporting period. Unless otherwise stated, the Report covers the
sustainability performance and initiatives of the Group and its
investments in listed and unlisted securities business. The Group
primarily adopts the principles and basis of Environmental, Social
and Governance Reporting Guide (the “ESG Guide”) set out in
Appendix 27 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities on
the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”) as its standards, with an
aim to establish a sound environmental, social and governance
structure. For information on the Group’s corporate governance,
please refer to the Corporate Governance Report included in the
Annual Report.

ABOUT THE GROUP

Capital VC Limited (the “Company”, together with its
subsidiaries, “Capital VC” or the “Group”) is a company
incorporated in Cayman Islands with limited liability and its shares
are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong
Limited (the “Stock Exchange”).

The Group is principally engaged in investing in listed and
unlisted securities mainly in Hong Kong and the People’s Republic
of China (the “PRC”) during the period from 1 October 2019 to
30 September 2020 (the “Year”). As at 30 September 2020, the
Group’s core portfolio comprises of mainly small to medium sized
listed companies. It maintains a diversified investment portfolio to
cover a wide range of business sectors, including, but not limited
to, companies engaged in sectors such as finance, consumer
goods and consumer services, media, manufacturing, construction,

etc.

MISSION

To achieve medium-term or long-term capital appreciation.

APPROACH TO SUSTAINABILITY DEVELOPMENT
As a good corporate citizen, the Group is committed to creating
sustained value for stakeholders by incorporating environmental,
social and governance considerations into its operation with
an aim to be a positive force to its environment and the wider
community. To be accountable to all the stakeholders, the Group
endeavoured to minimize the influence to environment, be aware
of the employee well-being and contribute more to the community.
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ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE
MANAGEMENT STRATEGIES

The Board is responsible for and delegating the Group’s
management to timely discuss environmental, social and
governance issues and review the governance codes to enable
the Group to keep abreast of and comply with the latest regulatory
requirements in prior to the approval of this report. This system
monitors the management to design, implement and continuously
monitor risk management and internal control systems and to
assure the suitability and effectiveness of the relevant systems
and to assure timely implementation of the Group’s sustainable
development measures, the accuracy and reliability of the data
presented.

LISTENING TO STAKEHOLDERS

The Group believes that understanding the views of its
stakeholders lays a solid foundation to the long-term growth and
success of the Group. It develops multiple channels to abroad
spectrum of stakeholders in order to provide them with the
opportunity to express their views on its sustainability performance
and future strategies. To reinforce mutual trust and respect,
the Group is committed to maintaining enduring communication
channels, both formally and informally, with stakeholders to
enable it to better shape its business strategies in order to
respond to their needs and expectations, anticipate risks and
strengthen key relationships. The Group has identified employees,
business partners, shareholders, suppliers, government and the
community at large as its key stakeholder groups. The information
collected through different communication processes serves as an
underlying basis for the structure of this Report.

STAKEHOLDER ENGAGEMENT

Stakeholder engagement plays a core role in the sustainability
of the Group. The Group fully appreciates the needs to build
both online and offline communication channels and to provide
stakeholders with timely reports on strategic planning and
performance of the Group in order to establish a continuing
communication mechanism with the stakeholders. In addition,
the Group consults the stakeholders on their recommendations
and propositions to ensure its business practices can meet the
expectations of the stakeholders.
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The stakeholders include the shareholders, government and

regulatory bodies, employees, customers, suppliers and society
and the public. The Group discusses with the stakeholders through

various channels for their expectations and relevant feedback of

the Group as below:

Stakeholder
BHE

Shareholders

IR

Governments and
regulatory bodies

B REEHE

Employees

(=3

Customers
=P

Suppliers
HrEm

Society and the public

HERAR

Expectations

BE

* Financial results

- HMBEE

« Corporate transparency
- EBHE

* Sound risk control

c TEMRRIE

« Compliance with laws and regulations
o EEDI RAR B
* Relevant conference

- HEgE

* Career development platform
- BEBRTS

« Salary and benefits

. FHEREA

« Safe working environment

s REMIERE

« Customer rights and interests protection
- BEPREMRERRE

» Customer information security

- BPERLZE

* Integrity cooperation

. BEAE

* Business ethics and credibility
- BAEERREER

* Environmental protection
. RERE
*  Employment opportunities

- BEKE

FHEERRE BRLEERE EBE TP #

BENEHER AR -AEEBERZEREETNE
MmHEHERAEENERRE FIEOT:

Communication and feedback

BERRE

* To improve profitability

. REEATE

* Regular information disclosure

- EHEEHE

» To optimize risk management and internal
control

< B E IR N A R

» Compliance operation
. ARKE
* Direct communication
- HEESB

* Promotion mechanism

. BFAHE

» Competitive salary and employee benefits

- BEBFNINHFLEERT

» To provide trainings for employees and
strengthen their safety awareness

- RHESEIRNBE R ER

» Compliance marketing
. AR
» Customer privacy protection

- BPILERE

* To build a responsible supply chain
- BEAEREEHHERE
» To perform the contract according to law

c REREBYD

* To put into use environmental protection
and energy saving equipment

- BRRMERBRALER

» To provide employment opportunities

- REftpERe
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MATERIALITY ASSESSMENT

In the Year, the Company undertook its annual materiality
assessment exercise. This involved conducting interviews and/or
surveys with internal and external stakeholders to identify the most

BEEMFMG
RAFER KARDE

S RHNSRABHHEORIR XAE U

BAHEEERABEENEE

significant operating, environmental and social impacts towards its

business.
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Environmental
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Greenhouse gas emissions
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Energy consumption
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Water consumption
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Waste
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Environmental impact of business
XBHERREENTE

Use of natural resources and packaging material
BAERREEMEEA
Utilization of energy resources
BEIRfE A

Use of chemicals
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IMPORTANCE TO BUSINESS ¥ 2 #H EE

Social

HE

9. Local community engagement

9. EitmaH

10. Community investment

10. HREKE

11. Occupational health and safety
N BERREZ2

12. Labour standards in supply chain
12. HpESE A TR

13. Training and development

13. I\l R ER

14. Employee welfare

14. EBEN

15. Inclusion and equal opportunities
15. BER TSRS

16. Talent attraction and retention
16. AX RS R#%E

Operating practices

REEH

17.
17.
18.
18.
19.
19.
20.
20.
21.
21.
22.
22.

Economic value generated
Bl EEE

Corporate governance
hEER

Anti-corruption

REF

Supply chain management
HEgEE R

Customer satisfaction
BERWmE

Customer privacy
BERALE
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ENVIRONMENT
Emissions

The Group’s core business does not directly generate
significant air emissions, hazardous waste or waste water
discharge. The most common emission from its daily business
activities is greenhouse gas (“GHG”) emission which mainly
generated from the consumption of purchased electricity and the
fuel consumed from the use of motor vehicles. The Group strives
to be more proactive on emission and energy reduction by its
procedures on energy management and waste management.

Energy management

As energy consumption accounts for a major part of the
Group’s GHG emissions, various energy saving measures have
been undertaken to improve energy efficiency and reduce energy
consumption of its operations, for example:

» Deploy natural light and use energy-saving lightings, where
feasible

» Switch off unnecessary lighting and energy consumption
equipment (e.g. computer) while not in use

» Put the computer to sleep instead of using a screen saver

* Avoid over-cooling of offices and keep the air conditioning
temperature at a suitable temperature

* Clean the air filter of air-conditioners regularly to improve
cool air flow efficiency

» Switch off air conditioning after 7 p.m. even OT work is
required, as less staff utilise air-conditioning in that period

« Motor vehicles are restricted to the use by management for
attending business meetings and to be used by important

business partners

* Turn off car engines when idling
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Waste Management

The Group’s wastes are mainly classified into two categories
in its business, including general wastes (household wastes) and
recyclable wastes. The Group does not generate any hazardous
waste in the ordinary course of business. Non-hazardous waste
produced from the operations of the Group is mainly comprised
of general office consumables which have no material impact on
the environment. The Group avoids wastage with the following

measures:

* Reuse the pen shafts by using refills instead of simply
throwing away the whole ballpoint pens

» Dispose rechargeable batteries in designated collection
boxes

» Arrange recycle company to collect toner cartridges for
recycling

* Deploy recycling bins to collect used paper products, such
as waste paper, letter and envelope

* Avoid the consumption of paper cups and other disposable
utensils

 Paper use is an essential item for its operational
activities such as printing of publications and notices. For
environmental protection, the Group has implemented the
following policies to reduce the use of paper:

— Adopt an electronic system for filing and documentation

— Promote electronic communications and “think before
you copy” attitude, we encourage our employee to use
both sides off the paper for printing and copying

— Adopt double-sided printing and photocopying

— Sending email is suggested instead of letters or fax
when possible

— Receive incoming faxes electronically through an e-fax

system, and make hard copies only when necessary
using used paper
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Fuel consumption of motor vehicles is the major source of
nitrogen oxides (“NOx”), sulphur oxides (“SOx”) and particulate
matter (“PM”) emissions. The motor vehicles are strictly used for
picking up the staff and business activities.

Gaseous Emissions from the Use of Mobile Combustion

mERRERESAALD (TAR|tD])) mat
(e ®m]) R+ ([BZHRF])HERSN T
BRI AEBERHEANKZETIRERES -

ERARBRBEREENRBHER

Sources

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Environmental Performance Unit 2019/20 2018/19
—B-h/-BF =—2-)\/-IF
RIEBERR By BBEE BHREE
NOXx RE! Kg T3 14.26 3.74
SOx k=Rt Kg T3 0.40 0.15
PM BOZR T Kg T 1.05 0.28
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
GHC emission Unit 2019/20 2018/19
—E-h/—BF =ZE-N—-hE
BER K By MBEE MBRFE
GHG emission (Scope 1) MEREHR (HE1) Kg CO,, 81,999 58,751
Fr-_S{REE
GHG emission (Scope 2) BERBEBER (HE2) Kg CO,, 3,110 2,711
Fr_SixEE
GHG emission (Scope 3) BEREHR (HE3I) Kg CO,, 6 96
TR-_GLRES
Total GHG emission R = RS HEK Kg CO,, 85,115 61,558
Fr-_S{REE
Total number of employees EE B Employee 18 18
BB
GHG emission intensity AEREHEREE Kg CO, /employee 4,729 3,420
FrR-SREETEE
Scope 1: It represents the petrol and diesel consumption from motor #EE1 - 18/REE - MR A R R SR E AR -
vehicles and a vessel.
Scope 2: It represents the electricity purchased from power suppliers. #S2 BRENHERRENERE -
Scope 3: It represents the paper waste disposed at landfills and water S FRENIRIEER SR IE MR E EEY KT ER MK -

used.
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Fiscal Year Fiscal Year

Environmental performance Unit 2019/20 2018/19

—B-h/=BF Z=ZEB-N\/-hE
BRER By MBEE HMHREE

Hazardous wastes produced ELAHEEEY Kg T5 Note 1 fff =1 Note 1 Fff&E1

Intensity of hazardous EXBEEENEE Kg CO, /employee N/A 38 B N/A 38 B

wastes produced FrR-G/LREE EE

Non-hazardous EXBREZREEYD Kg T% Note 2 &2 Note 2 Fff &2

wastes produced

Intensity of non-hazardous EXEEBREYHEE Kg CO, /employee N/A 71 iE N/A 7~ i

wastes produced FR-_SREE RS

Note 1: The Group does not generate hazardous wastes including P REBEELERTELECBEEY BREE
chemical wastes, clinical wastes and hazardous chemicals in its WEEELEREEEREEY-
operations.

Note 2: Non-hazardous wastes produced by the office are minimal and P52 WMAEEENBERENBRLEIEZREREY
are mainly comprised of general office consumables which have MERNFZEN—MRRIEM BRI EEEA
no material impact on the environment. Therefore, no relevant Bk -
figure is quantified.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations BFH L ELEA

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance AKEE AEERITANBEARAEEBEIRAE

with the Waste Disposal Ordinance and other applicable laws
and regulations that have a significant impact relating to air and
greenhouse gas emissions, discharging into water and land,
generation of hazardous and non-hazardous waste of the Group in
the Year.

No fines or non-monetary sanctions for non-compliance with
relevant laws and regulations had been reported in the Year.

Use of Resources

The Group grasps every opportunity to encourage its
employees in supporting green initiatives in daily operations to
incorporate environmental sustainability into its business operation.
Due to the nature of office’s operations and business, the major
resources consumed by the Group are electricity, water and paper.
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Employees are required to switch off the lights, electrical
appliances and air conditioning when not in use. Air conditioners
are set for indoor temperature of 24 degrees Celsius, if possible,
to reduce electricity usage. The Group’s key water usage is
arising from toilet flushing, water tap and drinking water. It
operates in leased office premises of which both of the water
supply and discharge are solely controlled by the respective
building management which is considered that provision of water
withdrawal and discharge data or sub-meter for individual occupant
not feasible. To avoid unnecessary water consumption from daily
operation, the Group promotes staff behaviour by encouraging
employees to always turn taps off tightly so they do not drip and
giving priority to effective water-saving products.

The Group will continue to look for opportunities to reduce
further emissions and wastes on an ongoing basis in order to
minimise the Group’s impacts of activities on the environment and

natural resources.

AEBEREEHAAREER ERkEH =8
BAEHAEERNRE4ABKE UHHOAE-AKE
ﬁ$§$%%§ﬁﬁ*%%ﬁﬁﬁﬁm°$ﬁgﬂﬁ
ERDYPERNEE EHHFKABZTEFTERRTEE
%%mﬁﬁﬂﬂﬁﬁAﬁhﬁ$&wK%%ﬁn%°
RRAREETRREIVENRK NEEZEIESR
REBBEKEBEAGAK BEERAREKER
REE TEKEIKEE -

AEEREESLKREUFEE- PRI TRE
By ZERSAEEEPURELRARERNTZE

Consumptions from Operations EIEMXMA
Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Environmental Performance Unit 2019/20 2018/19
=2-h/ =2-N/
RIRAN By “EFHREE —hWEPREFE
Electricity consumption AE KWh F K B 3,888 3,389
Electricity intensity B KWh/employee 216 188
FTERE &8
Water consumption Ak M3 37 75 K - -
Water intensity FAKEE M3/employee = =
MHKREE
Packaging material BEMEBERE Kg T7 Note 1 Fff %1 Note 1 Ff}&E1
consumption
Packaging material intensity 8 # ¥ 8E Kg per unit produced N/A 7~ i A N/A 7~
Fr(FEESBM)
Note 1: No packaging material is consumed by the Group. MfsE1 - REBWEFEBBEME

The Environment and Natural Resources

The principal business activities of the Group do not have
significant impact on the environment and natural resources.
Despite this, it is committed to sustainability by seeking to reduce
the environmental impact of its operations, with a particular focus
on reduction of greenhouse gas emissions and preservation of
resources.

BREKRBARER

AEBNEIZEBEHHRENAARERL EE
FEAFE - GENOL AKENEEREAUFEN
BHAORALEZEHREELANTE EHRLAER
BB NREEIR
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The Group encourages all employees to participate in different
kinds of recycling activities and minimising the use of natural
resources. In the Year, there is no significant impact on the
environment and natural resources from the operations.

Employees are well-informed of the green measures adopted
by the Group through regular meetings and sending them emails
and relevant materials to advocate their awareness and behavioral
change.

As mentioned in the above sections, the Group has
implemented various measures to protect water resources and
reduce waste. The Group will continue to encourage green
office and resources conservation in order to contribute to the
sustainable development of mankind.

SOCIAL
Employment and Labour Practices

Employees are regarded as the greatest and valuable
assets and core competitive advantage of the Group. It aims to
provide employees with respectful and fair working environment
through maintaining a sound system of human resources
management covering the various aspects such as recruitment and

remuneration.

The recruitment and promotion of the Group are fair and open
for all employees, and are not affected by age, sex, physical or
mental health status, marital status, family status, race, skin colour,
nationality, religion, political affiliation and sexual orientation
and other factors. In order to provide a good and fair working
environment and safeguard the well-being of the employees, it
seriously considers all those valuable opinions from the employees
for enhancing workplace productivity and harmony.

The Group offers competitive remuneration, promotional
opportunity, compensation and benefit packages to attract and
retain talents. Remuneration packages are reviewed periodically
based on the Group’s operating results, individual performance
and market information. The Group aims to reward and motivate
the contribution and performance of employees and assist them in
their career development and promotion within the Group.
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As at 30 September 2020, the Group had a total of 18 RZZEZZBFENA=1TH -AKELE18REES (R
employees (As at 30 September 2019: 18 employees) including —E-NAFNALA=+H18%EE8) (BEAQRFE
directors of the Company. All of the employees are located in ) BEREBHURERE BETRERNSENE SN
Hong Kong. The distribution of workforce classified by difference DT

catalogues are as follows:

By gender By age group
I EE) 5 TR FEAL B )5
Under 30 years old
30BE AT

6% Over 50 years old
50884 £

2%
30 - 50 years old

Female &%
33%

30-507%
72%

By employment category By academic qualifications
IEIFEE P& 5 EFKFE 5

Senior level

= A S
2;30}/3 Entry level Bachelor Z’Kif’l' Co”ege 7‘{?}

50% 44% 56%

Middle1le;/el HAR

7%

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
Employee turnover rate of the Group 2019/20 2018/19
—2-h/ —2-N/
rEBEREERAE —EFUHREE —hWETHREE
Overall Turnover rate of employee EEEERAE 6% 0%
By gender &1 B &l o
Male XL s 0% 0%
Female It 17% 0%
By age group RERAR 85
Below or equal to 30 30p% A T 0% 0%
31-50 31-507% 8% 0%
Over 50 505% A 0% 0%
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Employment Ordinance, Employee’ Compensation Ordinance
and other applicable laws and regulations that have a significant
impact relating to employment, labour relations, employees’
remuneration, employees’ compensation insurance, mandatory

provident fund and welfare of employees on the Group in the Year.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported in the Year.

Health and Safety

As employees are the most important asset and resource of the
Group, the primary goal is to provide a safe and healthy working
environment for the employees under reasonable and practicable
conditions. The Group is committed to achieving this goal by
implementing the following key measures:

* Providing and maintaining in all workplaces under the
Group’s control a working environment which is safe and
poses no threat to health

» Carrying out inspection for any unsafe condition and fix it
immediately

* Smoking is prohibited in all enclosed areas within the
offices, without exception

The COVID-19 pandemic crisis has been putting pressure
on the Group and its employees during the Year. As part of the
COVID-19 countermeasures and to prevent the spread of the
virus, the Group has implemented stringent infection preventive
measures to protect its employees. The Group’s closely monitored
the health of its employees every day by checking their body
temperature, providing sufficient surgical masks and alcohol-based
hand rub in the offices. The Group also required its employees
to consider using other methods such as online video meeting
software for interviews or meetings. Employees are advised to
wear masks and avoid physical contact (such as shaking hands,
hugging) and crowded places when they are required to meet
people or work outside in their local community.
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Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

Although the operation of the Group is predominantly office-
based, it adheres to Occupational Safety and Health Ordinance
(Chapter 509 of the laws of Hong Kong) and other applicable
laws and regulations to provide a safe and healthy workplace in
order to protect its employees from occupational hazards. No non-
compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or sanctions
had been reported in the Year.

Occupational Health and Safety Data

BERERZ2HE

Number of work injury cases TERMGEH
Number of work-related fatalities AT AR
Lost days due to work injury EATHEELXEH

Development and Training

All directors, including the independent non-executive directors,
should keep abreast of their responsibilities as directors and the
Company’s business and activities. The Group provides briefings
and training to develop and refresh the directors’ knowledge and
skills and update all directors on the latest development regarding
the Listing Rules and other applicable statutory and regulatory
regime and the business environment to facilitate them to
discharge their responsibilities.

The Group also encourages its directors and employees to
attend relevant training courses and seminars that may require
keeping abreast with the latest changes in laws, regulations and
the business environment. The Group conducts performance
evaluation annually, and based on the assessment result to provide
the staff with appropriate training, and offer job development and
promotion opportunities for outstanding employees.

TR EROZM
BEAKRBENEBIBZERAEANET EHLBE
(BEL2REERD) (FBEDIF509%) R EM
BRMZERMER NERZ2REEZ THESH
REREAXBEUERE - RAFEYEEHBEER
A 15 T 152 BE LA BE K BT R 3 b B B R o

Fiscal Year Fiscal Year
2019/20 2018/19
—F2-n —E-N/
“EFHREE —hWEPREE
0
0
0
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Labour Standards

The Group’s employment policies in regard to prohibiting
child and forced labour are implemented to respond to the
local employment laws and regulations. Prior to confirmation of
employment, the Group’s human resources department will require
job applicants to provide a valid identity documents to verify that
the applicants are lawfully employable, and ensure full compliance
of relevant laws and regulations that prohibit child and forced
labour. The Group will regularly review the employees’ information
to ensure there is no violation of any regulations and policies.

The Group has no tolerance for the use of forced labour or
child labour in its business operations. The Group enters into
employment contract with each of its employees in accordance
with the relevant laws and regulations. If the use of forced
labour or child labour is discovered, the Group will terminate the
employment contract and investigate if further action is needed.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Employment Ordinance, Employment of Children Regulations
and other applicable laws and regulations relating to preventing
child or forced labour on the Group in the Year.

No non-compliance with law that resulted in significant fines or
sanctions had been reported in the Year.

Supply Chain Management

The Group’s suppliers mainly comprise of those providing
general office supplies, such as water, paper and stationery and
are all located in Hong Kong. It generally selects suppliers based
on their scale of business and reputation. Its suppliers should
comply with all relevant local and national laws and regulations
in relation to unethical behaviour, bribery, corruption and other
prohibited business practices. The Group expects the suppliers
to implement good employment measures by dealing with their
employees fairly and reasonably, respecting employees’ rights and
providing employees with an environment free of discrimination,
child labour and forced labour. The suppliers also need to adhere
to transparent business processes and high standards of conduct
which they have to avoid conflicts of interest and prohibit corruption
and bribery. Prior to making any procurement decisions, the Group
will conduct due diligence and assessments on suppliers to avoid
environmental and social risks.
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During the Year, the Group did not aware that any key
suppliers had any significant actual and potential negative impact
on business ethics, environmental protection, human rights and
labour practices, nor any of them had any non-compliance incident
in respect of human rights issues.

Product Responsibility

The Group is committed to protecting privacy and confidentiality
of personal data of its business partners and other identifiable
individuals. Employees are instructed to handle confidential
information with due care and to collect and use information in a
responsible and non-discriminatory manner by restricting the use
of the information for the purposes consistent with those identified
in the contracts.

Given the nature of its business, the Group did not sell or ship
any products and did not receive any products and service related
complaints during the Year.

The Group protects its intellectual property rights by registration
of domain names in Hong Kong. Such domain name is renewed
upon its expiration. The Group understands and complies with the
intellectual property (“IP”) rights regulations. During the Year, there
was no material infringement of the IP rights and the Group is
confident that all reasonable measures have been taken to prevent
any infringement of its own IP rights and the IP rights of third
parties.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Personal Data (Privacy) Ordinance and other applicable laws
and regulations that have a significant impact relating to privacy
matters in regard to products and services provided by the Group
in the Year.

No significant fines had been reported in the Year.

WA A R BT A L £ B A
B RR ARBRSTERERETEARERE
ERNEE FTAEAARSAENEAARSE
SRS E TN

EmEIE

AEBEBNONRELEBRHREMAE R E
ARRBUARBABHFRE -RBERESIZEREER
TER MASEEBRHIEMEFTARNT AN
#Alz%ERE EIlBBENARREREZ T K
SEREREFR -

EREEBNE ARENAFELEBHELNE
R EE &R - MU B A of M RTS8 B RO 4R 3R ©

AEBNEB MR B ARELMBERE -2 S
REWEREE - AEE TR ETHNHERE ([NBE
DR -RAFE AEEYTEZEEFANERNARE
ERRETR AEERRERN YA EREER L
HEHARGOMBAERLE=TOANBERESTFRL-

B FIHRE R ROZM
RAFE RAEEBSTANEEASEMRERERR
MENLEEEEFEALBRNEATENEAEEER
CEAEB R (FLERD GBI AR B A @ RA R RERD

RAFE  NREBEBEEMERTR-

Annual Report 2019/20 &3 43



ENVIRONMENTAL, SOCIAL AND GOVERNANCE REPORT

R - HEREGHRE

Anti-corruption

To maintain a fair, ethical and efficient business and working
environment, the Group strictly adheres to the laws and regulations
relating to anti-corruption and bribery irrespective of the area or
country where the Group is conducting business such as the Law
of the PRC on Anti-money Laundering and Hong Kong’s Prevention
of Bribery Ordinance. The Group adopts zero-tolerance approach
to bribery, extortion, fraud and money-laundering. All Directors,
management personnel and staff members must comply with all
related laws and regulations on preventing bribery, extortion, fraud
and money-laundering in their operation regions in their daily
works. All employees not only have responsibility to understand
and comply with above policies on preventing bribery, extortion,
fraud and money-laundering, but also have obligation to report
violation to the person responsible for Board. Any person, who
contravenes the regulations, will be subject to disciplinary sanction.
There were no significant risks relating to corruption have been
identified.

To achieve and maintain the highest standards of openness,
probity and accountability, the Group encourages whistleblowing
whereas an employee or a third party could report any suspected
cases of corruption, theft, fraudulent activities, and conflict
of interest to the Company anonymously. The identity of the
whistleblower making the allegation will not be divulged without
his/her consent. Incidents and allegations or suspicions of fraud
are assessed and investigated.

Compliance with relevant laws and regulations

The Group is not aware of any material non-compliance with
the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance and other applicable laws and
regulations that have a significant impact on the issuer relating to
bribery, extortion, fraud and money laundering in the Year. There
was no legal case concerning corruption brought against the Group
or its employees in the Year.
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Community Involvement

The Group is committed to being a responsible member
of the community and aims to make a positive impact on the
local community. The Group believes that maintaining harmonic
relationship with the community is beneficial to the business
development of the Group.

During the Year, the Group made donations of approximately
HK$0.8 million to several registered charitable organisations such
as Social Concordance Development Fund Limited and Yan Oi
Tong, which are providing full-service charity or education in Hong
Kong to support comprehensive caring services to those in need
in the community. In addition, the Group encourages employees
to participate in various voluntary events, creating a strong social
network and providing assistance and supports for the people in
need.
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The directors of the Company (“Directors”) are pleased to
present the annual report and the audited financial statements of
the Group for the year ended 30 September 2020 (the “Year”).

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of the Company is investment holding.
The activities of the subsidiaries are set out in note 27 to the
consolidated financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

The results of the Group for the Year and the state of affairs
of the Company and the Group at that date are set out in the
consolidated financial statements on pages 63, 145 to 146 and 64
to 65, respectively. The Directors do not recommend the payment
of a final dividend for the Period.

SHARE CAPITAL AND RESERVES

Details of movements in share capital and the reserves of the
Company during the Year are set out in notes 21 and 34 to the
consolidated financial statements respectively.

Details of movements in the reserves of the Group during the
Year are set out in the consolidated statement of changes in equity.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

Distributable reserves of the Company as at 30 September
2020, calculated in accordance with the laws of the Cayman
Islands, amounted to HK$445,173,045 (30 September 2019:
HK$454,357,756).

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there was no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Details of movements in plant and equipment of the Group
during the Year are set out in note 14 to the consolidated financial
statements.

BUSINESS REVIEW
Fair review of the Company’s business and likely future
development

Please refer to “Executive Directors’ Statement” on pages 4 to 6.
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Principal risks and uncertainties
Please refer to notes 4 and 30 to the consolidated financial

statements.

Environmental Protection
Please refer to the Environmental, Social and Governance
Report in this Annual Report.

Compliance with laws and regulations

In order to comply with the Prevention of Bribery Ordinance,
the Group emphasises the importance of adhering to anti-
corruption practices for all employees. The Group regards honesty,
integrity and fair play as its core values that must be upheld by
all employees of the Group at all times. As such, the Board has
instructed the Group’s employees are not allowed to solicit or
accept any advantage for themselves or others, from any person,
company or organisations having business dealings with the
Group.

Company'’s key relationships with its employees

The Group has provided employees with opportunities
to advance their career. The Group’s policy is to encourage
employees to take part in professional examinations, seminars
and training courses related to their roles and duties through
course fee subsidies and leave grants. Competitive remuneration
is also offered to employees and their performance is reviewed on
an annual basis reflecting each employee’s contributions to the
Group.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of
the Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the
audited financial statements and reclassified as appropriate to
conform with the Period’s presentation, is set out on page 148.

PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF
SECURITIES

Neither the Company, nor any of its subsidiaries purchased,
redeemed or sold any of the Company’s listed securities during the
Year.

FTERBREFAEERE
FELHEE M BwAMF4R30 -

RERE

FLHAARNFHRRR HEREBRRSE -

BIEERRA

BB LERBED) AEESEEREZRE
BETRESHFR AEERHE CEMRFAL
RERZOCER AEEMEAEREVA-BEMHE Rt
ExeFbET ARERETHERACHA/MAR
ERERNEEAEBREZAL RASBBEBERK
BEEMEAZ M-

EAREEEZEERE

AEEREERUBEERBE - AEEZHERAR
ERRBEREULBRPAEN ABEELHEEER
UEBEABANEREA BEIIRRE - AKE
NETEREABRFINGFH YEFRESEEHA
SEMBBFMRE-

MBHRE

AEBBEAAMBRFRECXEREERAFEL
BB (MBRAKECYBRRAKLENDBUFER
Mz 257 ) BNF1488 °

BE HEIEDES

ARRREEMMBEARRAFERERE BE
HHERRAFERM LT ES -

Annual Report 2019/20 &3 47



REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEE®RSE

SHARE OPTIONS

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the annual
general meeting held on 10 December 2013 (the “Option
Scheme”), unless otherwise cancelled or amended subject to
resolution passed at general meeting of the Company the Option
Scheme will remain in force for ten years from 10 December 2013.
As at 30 September 2020, the remaining life of the Option Scheme
was approximately 3 years and 3 months.

The purpose of the Option Scheme is to attract and retain
the best available personnel, to provide additional incentive
to employees (full-time and part-time), directors, consultants,
advisors, distributors, contractors, suppliers, agents, customers,
business partners or service providers of the Group and to promote
the success of the business of the Group.

Eligible participants (the “Participants”) of the Option Scheme
include any employee (full-time or part-time), director, consultant
or advisor of any member of the Group, or any substantial
shareholder of any member of the Group, or any distributor,
contractor, supplier, agent, customer, business partner or service
provider of any member of the Group, or any company wholly
owned by one or more persons belonging to any of the above
classes.

The basis of eligibility of any participant to the grant of any
option shall be determined by the Board (or as the case may be,
the independent non-executive Directors) from time to time on the
basis of the participant’s contribution or potential contribution to
the development and growth of the Group.

Without prior separate approval from the Company’s
shareholders, (i) the total number of shares which may be issued
upon exercise of all options to be granted under the Option
Scheme and any other share option scheme of the Company must
not exceed 10% of the shares of the Company as at the date of
the shareholders’ approval of the option limit; and (ii) the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued upon exercise of the
options granted to each Participant under the Option Scheme
(including both exercised and outstanding options) in any 12-month
period shall not (when aggregated with any shares of the Company
subject to options granted during such period under any other
share option scheme(s) of the Company) exceed 1% of the shares
of the Company in issue for any time being.
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Any grant of options to any directors, chief executive or
substantive shareholders (as such terms as defined in the Listing
Rules) of the Company, or any of their respective associates
under the Option Scheme or any other share option scheme of
the Company or any of its subsidiaries shall be subject to the
prior approval of the independent non-executive directors or
shareholders of the Company as the case may be. Without prior
separate approval from the Company’s shareholders, the maximum
number of shares issued and to be issued in respect of which
options granted and may be granted to a substantial shareholder
or an independent non-executive director of the Company in the
12-month period up to and including the date of such grant shall
not (i) exceed 0.1% of the shares of the Company in issue on the
date of such grant; and (ii) have an aggregate value, based on the
closing price of the shares of the Company as stated in the daily
quotations sheets issued by the Stock Exchange on the date of
grant, in excess of HK$5 million.

Under the Option Scheme, the options granted may be
accepted by the participants concerned for a period of twenty-
one days from the date of such offer. An option shall be regarded
as having been accepted when the Company receives from the
Participant the duplicate of the offer letter duly signed by the
Participant together with a remittance in favour of the Company
of HK$1 as consideration for the grant of option. Options may be
exercised in accordance with the terms of the Option Scheme at
any time not exceeding a period of ten years from the date on
which the share option is granted. The subscription price for the
shares on the exercise of an option under the Option Scheme shall
be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion but in any
event shall not less than the highest of: (i) the closing price of the
Company’s share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by
the Stock Exchange on the date of grant which must be a business
day; (ii) the average closing price of the Company’s share as
stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the Stock Exchange
for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant;
and (iii) the nominal value of the Company’s share.

On 13 February 2020 (after trading hours), the Company
offered to grant an aggregate of 22,000,000 share options
(the “Share Options”) to certain directors and employees of the
Company (the “Grantees”), subject to acceptance of the Grantees,
under the Scheme. The Share Options will enable the Grantees
to subscribe for an aggregate of 22,000,000 new shares,
representing approximately 8.0% of the issued share capital of the
Company as at the date of grant. The validity period of the Share
Options was two years from the date of grant and the exercise
price of the Share Options is HK$0.25* per share. The fair value
of the Share Options granted was approximately HK$2.1 million.
Since then, the Group has not granted any new options under the
Share Option Scheme up to the date of this report. The scheme
mandate limit was refreshed at the Company’s annual general
meeting held on 29 March 2020. No share option was granted
since 29 March 2020, and therefore, 27,548,824* share options
remained ungranted which represent approximately 10.0% of the
issued share capital of the Company up to the date of this report.
None of the share options of the Company was exercised for the
year ended 30 September 2020.
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Details of the options granted to the Grantees under the

REZTERTEARAZBEEFBERNAFE

Scheme and movements in such holdings during the Year were as NEBRBEEZHNT:
follows:
Number of Number of
Number of Number of Number of options options held
options held options options cancelled/ as at
asat  granted during exercised during lapsed during 30 September
Category Date of Grant Exercise Price*  Option Period 1 October 2019* the Year* the Year* the Year* 2020*
R-Z-h%E rEER R-Z-Z%§
+A-H AEEARH EEERTRE BT VES AA=+H
=¥l Riti A EE BREAE FEBREHE: <BREZE* BRERE* BREYE FEBREXE"
Directors
s
Mr. Kong Fanpeng 13 February 2019 HK$0.37 One year from
date of grant 2,750,000 - - 2,750,000 -
HLABEEE —E-nE 0.37%5 7T ERHBEBE—F
ZAt=H
13 February 2020  HK$0.25 Two years from
date of grant - 2,750,000 - - 2,750,000
—Z-TF 0.25% 7T BRI BHERE
ZA+=H
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee 13 February 2019 HK$0.37 One year from
date of grant 2,750,000 - - 2,750,000 -
RE&ELE ZT-NE 0378 AREAHE—F
ZAt+=H
13 February 2020  HK$0.25 Two years from
date of grant - 2,750,000 - - 2,750,000
—Z-%F 0.25% 7T BRI BHERE
ZA+=H
Employees 13 February 2019 HK$0.37 One year from
(in aggregate) date of grant 11,000,000 - - 11,000,000 -
& (&3 ZT-NE 0378 AREAHE—F
ZAt+=H
13 February 2020  HK$0.25 Two years from
date of grant - 16,500,000 - - 16,500,000
—Z-TF 0.25% 7T BRI BHERE
ZA+=H
Total
@t 16,500,000 22,000,000 - 16,500,000 22,000,000
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The fair value of the Share Options granted of HK$2,106,500,
which was calculated by Binomial Option Pricing Model with the
following assumptions:

Share price at the grant date: HK$0.25*
Nature of the Share Options: Call
Risk-free rate: 1.457%
Expected life of the options: 2 years
Expected dividend yield: 0%
Expected volatility: 77.125%

The expected volatility was based on the historical volatility of
the Company’s share prices. Expected dividends were based on
historical dividends. Change in subjective input assumptions could
materially affect the fair value estimate.

Save as mentioned above, no share option was granted by
the Company during the Year, and there was no share option
outstanding as at 1 October 2019 and 30 September 2020.

The number and exercise prices of the share options are adjusted
retrospectively to reflection the share consolidation effective on 14
July 2020. For details of the share consolidation, please refer to the

Company’s circular dated 23 June 2020.

DIRECTORS
The Directors who held office during the Year and up to the
date of this report were as follows:

Executive Directors
Mr. Kong Fanpeng
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee

Independent Non-executive Directors
Mr. Lee Ming Gin

Ms. Lai Fun Yin

Mr. Cheung Wai Kin

At the forthcoming annual general meeting, Mr. Lee Ming Gin
and Ms. Lai Fun Yin shall retire in accordance with Article 85(1).
Both of them being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election
thereat.

DIRECTORS’ SERVICE CONTRACTS

As at 30 September 2020, none of the Directors have entered
into any service agreement with any member of the Group which is
not determinable within one year without payment of compensation,
other than statutory compensation.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS,
ARRANGEMENT OR CONTRACTS

Neither transaction, arrangement nor contract of significance in
relation to the Group’s business to which the Company or any of
its subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, existed at the
end of the Year or at any time during the Year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESS

As at the date of this report, none of the Directors and their
respective associates had any interest in a business which causes
or may cause a significant competition with the business of the
Group and any other conflict of interests which any such person
has or may have with the Group.

INDEMNITY OF DIRECTORS

The Company has arranged for Directors’ Liability Insurance
Policy for indemnifying their liabilities arising from corporate
activities. The coverage and the amount insured under such policy
are reviewed annually by the Company.

REMUNERATION POLICY

The primary goal of our policy for remuneration packages is to
ensure that the Directors are fairly rewarded and that they receive
appropriate incentives to maintain high standards of performance.

Details of the Director’s emoluments and the five highest paid
individuals of the Group for the year ended 30 September 2020
are set out in note 13 to the consolidated financial statements.

DIRECTORS AND CHIEF EXECUTIVES’ INTERESTS
IN SECURITIES

Save as disclosed in “SHARE OPTIONS” on pages 48 to 50, as
at 30 September 2020, none of the Directors or the chief executive
of the Company had or were deemed to have any Discloseable
Interests or Short Position in the shares, underlying shares and
debentures of the Company or any of its associated corporations
(within the meaning of Part XV of the SFO) which were notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7
and 8 of Part XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)
(including interests or short positions which they are taken or
deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO), or which were
required, pursuant to Section 352 of the SFO, to be entered in the
register referred to therein, or which were required to be notified
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model
Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Companies
contained in the Listing Rules (collectively “Discloseable Interests
or Short Positions”).
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SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS

As at 30 September 2020, there was no person who had any
interest or short position in the shares or underlying shares of the
Company which would fall to be disclosed to the Company under
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which
were recorded in the register required to be kept by the Company
under Section 336 of the SFO, or as otherwise notified to the
Company and the Stock Exchange.

DIRECTORS’ RIGHT TO ACQUIRE SHARES OR
DEBENTURES

At no time during the Year were rights to acquire benefits
by means of the acquisition of shares in or debentures of the
Company granted to any Director, the chief executive or their
respective spouse or children under 18 years of age, or were any
such rights exercised by them; nor was the Company or any of its
subsidiaries a party to any arrangement to enable the Directors to
acquire such rights in any other body corporate.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration
of the whole or any substantial part of the business of the Group
were entered into or existed during the Year.

MATERIAL CONTRACTS

On 29 December 2017, the Company entered into an
investment management agreement to appoint China Everbright
Securities (HK) Limited (“CES”) as its investment manager for an
initial terms of three years commencing from 1 January 2018. The
Company has to pay CES monthly investment management fee of
HK$50,000.

Save as disclosed above, no other material contract (not being
contract entered into in the ordinary course of business) was
entered into by any member of the Group during the Year.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS AND
CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

Save as disclosed in note 24 to the consolidated financial
statements, the Group had no material transactions with its related
parties during the Year.

The Directors conducted review of the related party
transactions of the Group during the Year and were not aware
any transaction requiring disclosure of connected transactions in

accordance with the requirements of the Listing Rules.
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REPORT OF THE DIRECTORS
EEE®RSE

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There is no provision for pre-emptive rights under the
Company’s articles of association and there was no restriction
against such rights under the laws of the Cayman Islands.

SUFFICIENCY OF PUBLIC FLOAT

Based on the information that is publicly available to the
Company and within the knowledge of the Directors, the Directors
confirmed that at least 25% of the Company’s total issued share

capital was held by the public as at the date of this report.

AUDITOR

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
Period have been audited by D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED.
D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED retires and, being eligible, offers
itself for reappointment. A resolution for reappointment of D &
PARTNERS CPA LIMITED as auditor of the Company is to be
proposed at the forthcoming AGM.

On behalf of the Board

Chan Cheong Yee
Executive Director

Hong Kong, 29 December 2020
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

B ZBEMRE

D & PARTNERS

CERTIFIED PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS

TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CAPITAL VC LIMITED
(Incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability and
carrying on business in Hong Kong as CNI VC Limited)

Opinion

We have audited the consolidated financial statements
of Capital VC Limited (the “Company”) and its subsidiaries
(“the Group”) set out on pages 63 to 147, which comprise the
consolidated statement of financial position as at 30 September
2020, and the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other
comprehensive income, consolidated statement of changes in
equity and consolidated statement of cash flows for the year
then ended, and notes to the consolidated financial statements,
including a summary of significant accounting policies.

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give
a true and fair view of the consolidated financial position of
the Group as at 30 September 2020, and of its consolidated
financial performance and its consolidated cash flows for the year
then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting
Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly
prepared in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the
Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

Basis for Opinion

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong
Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the HKICPA. Our
responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the Auditor’'s Responsibilities for the Audit of the Consolidated
Financial Statements section of our report. We are independent
of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA's Code of Ethics for
Professional Accountants (“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our
other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code. We
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and
appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB

Key Audit Matters

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional

AREZER
AREZFEEREBERMANEXHE  RASHAH

judgment, were of most significance in our audit of the consolidated GEMBRENERSRAREENEH - ELFHEHER

financial statements of the current period. These matters were
addressed in the context of our audit of the consolidated financial

BMEXZERGAUBHRARMUHAS R ETRE
BH - RM T eHELFTREHREBNER -

statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we

do not provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key Audit Matter
HREREE

How the matter was addressed in our audit

EMHNERNTEERESEE

(i) Valuation of unlisted investments in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss (Refer to Notes 16 and 30(b) in

the consolidated financial statements)

(i) BAREFABRBEZ I LTHBFEEEREZIGE (RHFEHHHRENZ165K30(b))

The Group had unlisted investments in financial assets at
fair value through profit or loss of HK$6,026,320 (2019:
HK$14,768,320) which were measured at fair value as at
30 September 2020. The fair values were assessed by the
management with reference to valuations performed by an
independent valuer (the “Valuer”) engaged by the Group and
other information of the investment.
RZZEZZEFRA=TH EBEEEERAABEFAERR
RIBZIF LT B EEREE,026,3208T (=T — A&
14,768,320/ ) ' AR AR BEHAE-FEHAREHERE
w2z BEEEZRE B EM ([HEM])ET2EEN
NZ®E 2 H A BB -

The valuations of the unlisted investments in financial
assets at fair value through profit or loss involved significant
judgement and estimates, including the determination of
valuation methodology and the selection of different inputs
to the valuation models.
RARBEFABRERBZE I T BEEREZHESIRE
RAE R &G BEETEHERERIETRBABIREEGE
B3 o
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Our procedures in relation to management’'s valuation of
unlisted investments in financial assets at fair value through
profit or loss included:
BMEREREUHRAABAABRSERZELITUBKEE
REETHECEFEE:

. Assessing the competence, capabilities, independence
and objectivity of the Valuer;

C FHE M ER T BE T B RFBIL:

. Assessing the valuation methodology used and the
appropriateness of the key bases and assumptions
used, and discussing these bases and assumptions
with the management and the Valuer;

. TEEAZHEREZARKAZFEEERRERR
HE WHERERMGEMNAZSEERRR:

O Questioning the reasonableness of the key
assumptions based on our knowledge;
. BEHMNTH BRIERER AL

. Obtaining supportive evidence for the significant
judgements and estimates of the valuations and the
key inputs used in the valuations;

. MAEZERAE KA RGEERRAZ EERAH
BEVS X H5 B8
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B ZBEMRE

Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRERER

We identified the valuation of unlisted investments in
financial assets at fair value through profit or loss as a
key audit matter as it required management to exercise
significant judgement and estimation, and was assessed by
us to be a significant risk of material misstatement.
BMEBINRAAEFABREREZFEITUBEEREZ
HERMREREE REARHAEBEEEREAHE KA
BREBMAGEREEFEERERBR M 2 EXRER-

BAREXZER (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMWERNTEEEREE

. Checking the mathematical accuracy of the valuation;
and

. mEMEZFTHEEEN: &

. Assessing the reasonableness of the other

information of the investment.

g AR EZEMER 2 AT

(i) Expected credit losses assessment and impairment of other receivables and investments in financial assets at
amortised cost (Refer to Notes 15, 17 and 30(a) in the consolidated financial statements)

(i)  EMERTERABER AT ECHHEEEREZ B EEEBFEREE (2GS BEREZNZ16 - 17%30(a))

The Group have amounts receivable on disposal of
investments with an amount of HK$91,595,088 (2019:
HK$132,214,176) and investments in financial assets
at amortised cost with an amount of HK$119,886,778
(2019: HK$167,674,481) as at 30 September 2020. The
unsettled balance is considered significant in amount and
the recoverability of the outstanding balance is subject to
impairment assessment by the Expected Credit Losses
(“ECL”) Model under HKFRS 9.

EEER T _TEFNA=ZTHALERERKFRER
91%5%&%n<_ — NLF 132,214,176 70 ) K& LA B 84
AT E 2 MBAERER119,886,778F L (Z T — NLF:
167,674,481 7L) - RIFEAHBBERSEERARBEL
fh AT EIMERFREBEEEMBREERNFSRIETHIERAE
BEE ([AREEEE]) E2UETTHRER G E -

The fair value was assessed by the management with
reference to valuations performed by an independent
valuer engaged by the Group and other information of the
investment.

EAARENHERELE2E E5EEREE
T2 B R ZIRE 2 B A &R RT{E o

ST fik (B B

Our procedures in relation to management’s impairment

assessment included:

BMEBEEREEARENGEMETNIEFaE

. Obtaining an understanding of the key controls and
processes that management has in place to assess
the expected recovery of these receivables and
investments in financial assets at amortised cost;

. TREEBRTEZSERKFERABHEKATE 2
MBEERENTBIMWEAAERERM E 2T RIEF

. Assessing the Group’s policies and procedures for
measuring expected credit losses;

g AHfh BEREFEBRREERBROBRERER:

. Inquiring the management for the status of these
receivable and corroborated explanations from
management with supporting evidence, such as
understanding the credit profile of the debtor, checked
historical and subsequent settlement records;

. M) & 32 fE A % 55 MR TE B9 AR - I DA 2 5 1 AR IR
BEEEEBNRE O TRHEBANGRANRRL %E
B N H B E RS

. Evaluating the independence, objectivity, competence
and capabilities of the valuer;

c ATEEEMNE I FBERBEE N

S Questioning the valuer for the basis and major
assumptions for the estimation of expected credit
losses of these receivables and investments in
financial assets at amortised cost;

. ER AR ZEREFERAEHENATAEZ
MBEERENTAHEEFENAERERRRK:
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Key Audit Matters (Continued)

Key Audit Matter
HRERER

Estimation of expected credit losses involves significant
judgement as it must reflect information about past events,
current conditions and forecasts of future conditions. Given
the significance of the other receivables and significant
judgement and estimations involved in the impairment
assessment, we identified the estimation of loss allowance
for other receivables and investments in financial assets at
amortised cost as a key audit matter.
HREHREEBELARBEBBE SN SRR RARKMN
RIBBOER BEAAREEBESRERFIE - ERNEM
JRE R I8 8 B8 K DA BORUE AT Al 8 S ) R Ak Bt AP E A kAT
Hip BUCRIAR A BHER A B2 B EERENEFREHE
BRlAAREREE-
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BAREXZER (&)

How the matter was addressed in our audit

BEMWERNTEEEREE

. Assessing the provision on impairment loss of these
receivables based on Expected Credit Loss Model
under HKFRS 9 which requires ongoing measurement
of credit risk associated with financial assets;

. BREEBUBRELENESFETHEHAEEBHEERN
AEZERKRIENREBEREG AELHEFE
EHMBEENEERR:

. Obtaining, if any, agreed repayment schedules and
checking if the purchasers had made their settlement
according to the agreed schedules; and

. BEE(MB)BEEFFBRIZEETTRERE
TE R R AR SR FRIE &
. Performing background checking for the purchasers

including its financial position and assets proof for its
ability for repayments.

g HETETESHE BREAVBERRRAIERELE
RENNEERER -

We have also assessed the adequacy of the relevant notes
disclosure. The related disclosures on the expected credit
losses for these receivables are included in Note 30(a) to
the consolidated financial statements.

HAITRE A EEEMNTREE R BBl Z S EURIETE R
= BB R AE B BB BN R S B IS R M RE30(a) ©
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B ZBEMRE

OTHER MATTER

The consolidated financial statements of the Group for the
year ended 30 September 2019 were audited by another auditor
who expressed an unmodified opinion on those statements on 20
December 2019.

Information Other than the Consolidated Financial
Statements and Auditor’s Report Thereon

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other
information. The other information comprises the information
included in the annual report but does not include the consolidated
financial statements and our auditor’s report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not
cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial
statements, our responsibility is to read the other information and,
in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially
inconsistent with the consolidated financial statements or our
knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be
materially misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that
there is a material misstatement of this other information, we
are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this
regard.

Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements

The directors of the Company are responsible for the
preparation of the consolidated financial statements that give a true
and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA
and the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies
Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine
is necessary to enable the preparation of consolidated financial
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due
to fraud or error.
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Responsibilities of Directors and the Audit Committee
for the Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors
are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless
the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease
operations, or have no realistic alternative but to do so.

The directors are assisted by the Audit Committee in
discharging their responsibilities for overseeing the Group’s
financial reporting process.

Auditor’ s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about
whether the consolidated financial statements as a whole are
free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error,
and to issue an auditor’s report that includes our opinion. This
report is made solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose.
We do not assume responsibility towards or accept liability to
any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable
assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that
an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise
from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or
in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence
the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these
consolidated financial statements.

60 ©H#AIBRAMRAT  CAPITAL VC LIMITED
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Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the
Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise
professional judgment and maintain professional skepticism
throughout the audit. We also:

. Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of
the consolidated financial statements, whether due to fraud
or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive
to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is sufficient
and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The
risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting
from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as
fraud may involve collusion, forgery, intentional omissions,
misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

. Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to
the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of
expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the Group’s
internal control.

. Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used
and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by the directors.

. Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the
going concern basis of accounting and, based on the audit
evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists
related to events or conditions that may cast significant
doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern.
If we conclude that a material uncertainty exists, we are
required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the
related disclosures in the consolidated financial statements
or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our
opinion. Our conclusions are based on the audit evidence
obtained up to the date of our auditor’'s report. However,
future events or conditions may cause the Group to cease
to continue as a going concern.

. Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content
of the consolidated financial statements, including the
disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial
statements represent the underlying transactions and
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.
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RIBF BB EAETEZE  RIAER TR -
PTREEFZBETRFEREERERE KM

29 T 57 (4 2 B T TR 5 e 2 B SR B8R T 28
By EAERRLAR BEZSARRHR
WTBEERF EEXRREEEREESAR
T E RIROLREE ok KR SR A M
3 HORER SR M BN SR TR R
Hk*%%ﬁﬁ%L&Ziﬁﬁ&@uﬂmF
KRB BN ER AR EARERE
-

THREEZABIAMES URFREZE
“ZRF-BYIFEESH axllﬁ*ﬁ% wza
MIEEHERER -

FEATAST RS RE URESMES
AEET R ERG AR

REEERAUBBELERER 2 AR
iﬁiéﬁ'iﬁ*ﬂ%ﬁaﬁéﬂlzgﬁﬁfé%@%%Eﬁﬁ
i EEERBELEZRNTRBRERRM
ZEHHBEREERTHEFE - MHEFIBALE
RRFEEATHERR RAARKMOZ
BMBEFRFIBESMBRERA 2B E
BoSMZERETR MEXRFEREER
ﬁﬁB’]%aﬁuﬁiﬁﬁﬁﬁ’ﬂiﬁkﬁﬂh&%EI,HEFM%
Z%%Z'MJ%% AT REMHHIFTR
e BERETBAERAELEZ8

Jrﬁ RAEMBRR(BEEERKE) 2EET
RERAR UREAMBHERRIEAE
fﬁ”&?ﬁ'JiﬁZiﬁﬁ%ﬁ'MﬁEﬁ?&%&%lﬁ°

Annual Report 2019/20 £ 61



INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

BB

Auditor’s Responsibilities for the Audit of the

Consolidated Financial Statements (Continued)

. Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the
financial information of the entities or business activities
within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated
financial statements. We are responsible for the direction,
supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain
solely responsible for our audit opinion.

We communicate with the Audit Committee regarding, among
other matters, the planned scope and timing of the audit and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in
internal control that we identify during our audit.

We also provide the Audit Committee with a statement that
we have complied with relevant ethical requirements regarding
independence, and to communicate with them all relationships
and other matters that may reasonably be thought to bear on our
independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with the Audit Committee,
we determine those matters that were of most significance in
the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current
period and are therefore the key audit matters. We describe
these matters in our auditor’'s report unless law or regulation
precludes public disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely
rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not be
communicated in our report because the adverse consequences
of doing so would reasonably be expected to outweigh the public
interest benefits of such communication.

D & PARTNERS CPA LIMITED
Certified Public Accountants

Yeung Chun Yue, David

Practising Certificate Number: P05595

Hong Kong, 29 December 2020
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

GeERkAEMEEEER

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
Notes HK$ HK$
M &t BT BT
Turnover TS 5,6 (52,399,474)  (142,787,678)
Other income, net H At U AF B8 7 8,626,352 995,567
Administrative expenses THE A (16,868,968) (30,964,019)
Expected credit loss on financial REBHKARSN RV BEE
assets at amortised cost, TEHEEEE MR EE
net of reversal 17 (20,150,585) (7,200,000)
Expected credit loss on deposits e kEMERRIBRBAEESE-
and other receivables, MR A E
net of reversal 15 (20,513,913) (425,677)
Share-based payment expenses IBRHBEEZ N 22 (2,106,500) (1,875,500)
Operating loss EEBE (103,413,088)  (182,257,307)
Finance costs BB R AN 8 (2,069,867) (1,302,252)
Loss before tax BrRBEATES 18 9 (105,482,955) (183,559,559)
Income tax expenses FrisfiA X 10 = -
Loss for the year REERFE (105,482,955)  (183,559,559)
Loss and total comprehensive EATRERE AEMWL
expense for the year attributable AFEEFERZEMRZIER
to equity holders of the Company (105,482,955) (183,559,559)
Dividend % 2 11 - -
(Restated)
(&E5)
Basic and diluted loss per share BREARREEEE 12 (0.38) (0.67)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e PR R

At 30 September 2020 A= =TF N A=+H

2020 2019
—E-RF —E-NF
Notes HK$ HK$
oka BT BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Plant and equipment %= M & 14 - 26,100
Financial assets at fair value EARnBETABEEEZ
through profit or loss A E 16 6,026,320 14,768,320
Investments in financial assets R EATIER 2
at amortised cost MBEEERE 17 93,661,595 84,446,250
99,687,915 99,240,670
Current assets REEE
Prepayments, deposits and ERNFE -Zek
other receivables H A fE g 5118 15 164,559,584 140,464,753
Financial assets at fair value BARBEFABREE Y
through profit or loss MG EE 16 182,467,741 227,028,786
Investments in financial assets R HR AR 2
at amortised cost MHEEERE 17 26,225,183 83,228,231
Cash and cash equivalents ReRBEEEY 18 16,843,374 26,045,002
390,095,882 476,766,772
Current liabilities REBEE
Other payables and accruals EMENRERETER 19 28,209,089 28,881,086
Net current assets REBEEZEE 361,886,793 447,885,686
Total assets less current liabilities ZEEZEBRARBEE 461,574,708 547,126,356
Non-current liabilities ERBEE
Convertible bonds A 8 j% 1 5 20 12,782,343 =
Deferred tax liability EEHEEE 121,646 =
12,903,989 -
Net assets EEFE 448,670,719 547,126,356
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION

e BRI R

At 30 September 2020 A=ZT=_FF LA ="+H

2020 2019
—E-RF —E-NF
Notes HK$ HK$
KraF BT BT
Capital and reserves EXRHE

Share capital & 75 21 68,872,062 68,872,062
Reserves i 379,798,657 478,254,294

Total equity attributable to EARRERE AEWL
equity holders of the Company EREE 448,670,719 547,126,356
Net asset value per share FREEFE 23 1.63 0.1986

The consolidated financial statements on pages 63 to 147 were

approved and authorised for issue by the board of directors on

29 December 2020 and are signed on its behalf by:

Chan Cheong Yee
RE%
Director

BE

HRFEBEEFUTE AV BREREN T
FH_A-thBEEFeARRETIELHUT

BEERRESZ:

Kong Fanpeng
A, FL s
Director

BF
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

REEREEBR

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

Convertible Capital Share
Share Share  bonds equity reduction options  Accumulated
capital premium reserve reserve reserve losses  Total equity
THRRES
BRA R EE BinfAE REAHARE BRERE Eg | BHAH
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT BT BT BT BT
At 1 October 2018 (Restated) R=-Z-N\%¥+A-H
(RE5l) 68,872,062 1,315,163,854 S 22,826,010 - (678,051,511) 728,810,415
Loss and total comprehensive loss ~ AFEFERZEFBAE
for the year - - - - ~ (183,559,559) (183,559,559)
Recognition of equity-settied TR BRI E IR D AR
share-based payments (Note 22) B (Hrit22) - - - - 1,875,500 - 1,875,500
At 30 September 2019 RZZE-AFNA=1H 68,872,062 1,315,163,854 - 22,826,010 1,875,500  (861,611,070) 547,126,356
Loss and total comprehensive loss  AFEFBERZEFELE
for the year - - - - - (105,482,955) (105,482,955)
Lapsed of share options ERERN - - - = (1,875,500) 1,875,500 =
Recognition of equity component of HRTRREFNERTS
convertible bonds, net of deferred tax MBREER B - - 4,920,818 - - - 4,920,818
Recognition of equity-settied HRUREREE AR HER
share-based payments (Note 22) R (Hrit22) - - - - 2,106,500 - 2,106,500
At 30 September 2020 R-Z-ZFnA=+H 68,872,062 1,315,163,854 4,920,818 22,826,010 2,106,500  (965,218,525) 448,670,719
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

MERENER

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

OPERATING ACTIVITIES
Loss before tax
Adjustments for:
Depreciation of plant and equipment
Dividend income from investments
in listed securities
Gain on disposal of investments in
financial assets of amortised cost

Gain on disposal of plant and equipment

Interest income

Bond interest expenses

Interest paid on margin payable

Net realised loss on financial assets
at fair value through profit or loss

Net unrealised loss on financial assets

at fair value through profit or loss

Expected credit loss on financial assets

at amortised cost, net of reversal
Expected credit loss on deposits and

other receivables, net of reversal
Share-based payment expenses

Increase in fair value of derivative asset

REED

B T AT & 18
RIEL AT R
BE R RETE
KEREEWMEFLZ
B B
HERIZE R ARSI R 2
MBEEMNKREZ WS
HERE k& EH WS
BN
EFHH B
ENFRFIEZHE
BAREFAESEEE 2
BEEZCERRABRFR
BAREFABREEZHM
BEEZAEHRBIRFE
B A R W IBEE
BHEEER  MEREE
Be REMEEFRTE SR
FEBR MK
B REREZ N RFEX
ITEBEEN AR EEN

FLOWS

2020
—2-%F
HK$
BT

(105,482,955)
26,100
(180,107)
(123,129)
(3,000,000)
(22,185,773)
30,843
2,039,024
23,594,852
46,341,135
20,150,585
20,513,913

2,106,500
(93,354)

2019
—E-NEF
HK$

BT

(183,559,559)

8,718,290

(385,415)

(39,924)
(21,286,984)

1,302,252
55,262,869
108,297,208

7,200,000

425,677
1,875,500

Operating cash flows before movements in

working capital

Increase in financial assets at fair value
through profit or loss, net

Increase in prepayments,
deposits and other receivables

(Decrease)/increase in other payables and

accruals

BEESHDANKERS
nE
BAREARERE 2%
BEBIFE
BENFR - RE R AR
FRIRE AN
Hi N RE R EFEA
CRA) /HEm

(16,262,366)

(12,234,374)

135,737

(652,404)

(22,190,086)
(32,316,991)
13,353,964

12,937,871

Cash used in operations

Received dividend income from investments

REXBHRARE
BHRRE EMREFZBRERA

(29,013,407)

(28,215,242)

in listed securities 180,107 385,415
Bond interest expenses BEHNERX (30,843) -
Interest paid on margin payable BT RFIEF S (2,039,024) (1,302,252)
Interest received B WA A 8,901,524 11,225,149

NET CASH USED IN OPERATING ACTIVITIES & EZBffABE S FE (22,001,643) (17,906,930)
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CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF CASH

MERERER

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

INVESTING ACTIVITIES
Repayment from an investee company, net
Purchases of bonds
Proceeds from disposal of plant and equipment
Proceeds from disposal of financial assets
at fair value through profit and loss
Proceeds from disposal of investments in

FLOWS
2020
—EF
Notes HK$
k=3 BT
BREEH

—FERERREFFE -
EEES (37,000,000)
HERE RRE S RIEA -

EERARBEFABREEZ
IS EEZFT3IA -

HERIZEIEK AT R

2019
—h&F
HK$
BT

21,000,000
(55,000,000)
260,000

20,829,595

financial assets of amortised cost PIEEEMRE ZFEIA 15,600,000 =
Repayment of amounts receivable EBEHEKREZEWRFHIEA
on disposal of investment 20,700,015 —
NET CASH USED IN INVESTING RETHFIAREFHE
ACTIVITIES (699,985) (12,910,405)
CASH FROM AN FINANCING ACTIVITY BRETBHEREESFE
Proceeds on issue of convertible bonds BT MRES 2 FR1SKIA 13,500,000 =
NET DECREASE IN CASH AND HEeRREEEYRD FE
CASH EQUIVALENTS (9,201,628) (30,817,335)
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FUReRBELEED
BEGINNING OF YEAR 26,045,002 56,862,337
CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS AT FRESRESEEY
END OF YEAR
— represented by, bank balances and cash —ANRITEHRRIRS ZE T 18 16,843,374 26,045,002
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

GENERAL INFORMATION

Capital VC Limited (the “Company”) is incorporated in the
Cayman Islands as an exempted company with limited
liability and its shares are listed on The Stock Exchange of
Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock Exchange”). The address of
its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman Islands. The
address of its principal place of business is Room 2302, 23rd
Floor, New World Tower I, 18 Queen’s Road Central, Hong
Kong.

The consolidated financial statements are presented in Hong
Kong dollars (“HK$"), which is the same as the functional
currency of the Company and its subsidiaries (collectively
referred to as the “Group”).

The principal activities of the Group are engaged in investing
in listed and unlisted companies mainly in Hong Kong and the
People’s Republic of China (“the PRC”).

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and the new
interpretation that are mandatorily effective for the
current year

The Group has applied the following new and amendments to
HKFRSs and the new interpretation issued by the Hong Kong
Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) for the
first time in the current year:

HKFRS 16 Leases
HK(IFRIC) — Int 23

Uncertainty over Income
Tax Treatments

Amendments to HKFRS 9 Prepayment Features with
Negative Compensation

Amendments to HKAS 19  Plan Amendment, Curtailment
or Settlement

Amendments to HKAS 28 Long-term Interests in
Associates and Joint Ventures

Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to
HKFRSs 2015 — 2017 Cycle

—REHR
BHEAKERLAR ([ARF)RAESHSET
MK REREER A A ,H\Hﬂ REAHE
REHGMERAR (B Em-EFfMrE
B& #b il & Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O.
Box 2681, Grand Cayman KY1-1111, Cayman
Islands - E X Z& ¥ M R BB 2/ NEP185
it RKE —Hi23182302= -

mA ﬁ%#&i\%u%x (Bx)) 25 BARQR K
HftEAw (G [ AKE]) 2 a8 AER -

AEBZIZXBRRETIBZUNRBERPEA
RAMB ([HE]) 2 LT RIELTAF -

ERAFIREETEEMBREER
(BERMBREER])

RAFEBFERZHITREBITERY
BRELRHET2E

RAFEE AEEBERERAETEGHM S ([
AR AE]) B T REEFTR A
BREER MR E:

RN BREER neE

F1657

55 (ABRUERS FIEHRENTRE
REZEE) -

REZ23%

BN BREER BBBRE RAMREY
Ll

ERGHERRI19% HEBE WRSUBE
1B

B G ERE28% NEEDRIRAELEN
23T R

BN BREER ERMBREEN-_T—HF
23T EITtFERNEENRE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs and the new
interpretation that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)

Except as described below, the application of the new and
amendments to HKFRSs and the new interpretation in the
current year has had no material impact on the Group’s
financial positions and performance for the current and prior
year and/or on the disclosures set out in these financial
statements.

HKFRS 16 Leases

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 for the first time in the
current year. HKFRS 16 superseded HKAS 17 Leases and the
related interpretations.

Definition of a lease

The Group has elected the practical expedient to apply
HKFRS 16 to contracts that were previously identified as
leases applying HKAS 17 and HK(IFRIC) — Int 4 Determining
whether an Arrangement contains a Lease and not apply this
standard to contracts that were not previously identified as
containing a lease. Therefore, the Group has not reassessed
contracts which already existed prior to the date of initial
application.

For contracts entered into or modified on or after 1 October
2019, the Group applies the definition of a lease in
accordance with the requirements set out in HKFRS 16 in
assessing whether a contract contains a lease.

As a lessee

The Group has applied HKFRS 16 retrospectively with the
cumulative effect recognised at the date of initial application,
1 October 2019. Based on the practical expedients
under HKFRS 16, the Group has elected not to apply the
requirements of HKFRS 16 in respect of recognition of
lease liability and right-of-use asset to lease for which the
lease term ends within twelve months of the date of initial
application.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
New and amendments to HKFRSs and the new
interpretation that are mandatorily effective for the
current year (Continued)
HKFRS 16 Leases (Continued)
As a lessee (Continued)
Before the adoption of HKFRS 16, lease contracts were
classified as operating lease in accordance with the Group’s
accounting policies applicable prior to the date of application.

Upon adoption of HKFRS 16, the Group accounted for the
leases in accordance with the transitional provisions of
HKFRS 16 and the Group’s accounting policies applicable
from the date of application.

Transition and summary of effects arising from initial
application of HKFRS 16

2. ERAMTREBITERUBREER

(BEEMB/REEN]) (@0

RAFEBFERZHAIREBITERY
BHRELED R T RE (8)

BB BHREERFEI6HEHEE (&)
ERAA (&)
ERAEBHBRE LB 28 REAE
EEERABAHZAMERANSHEE HEAOD
BRAKREHE-

RERAERBHBREERF16HRK  AEERE

EEMBRESERNF16RABEBEI L AEEF
FERBEMEERNEBIREZEHEA K

B KIEH BB B & BRI E 1658 £ 77798 8
RELNZEHE

At 1 October

2019
R-ZZB-NF
+A—H
HK$
T
Operating lease commitments disclosed as at RZE-—NFNLNA=THEEN
30 September 2019 RRE AR 133,100
Less: Recognition exemption B R R
— short-term — %5 B (133,100)
Lease liabilities relating to operating leases recognised RIERB BN G RELERNE1651E &
upon application of HKFRS 16 and as at 1 October 2019 RZTE-NFT+A—BRERELERE
BEMBEEEE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

2. APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS 2. ERAFFAIRKEBITEBNBHREER
TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING (IEB8MHHREERN]) (8
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not ERMEERERZHTREETEBY
yet effective B EER

The Group has not early applied the following new and AEBIWERAERATEBMHEMKRERZH
amendments to HKFRSs that have been issued but are not AIREIERT R A BHREEL

yet effective:

HKFRS 17 Insurance Contracts’ BRUB RS ER REA L
ST
Amendment to HKFRS 16  Covid-19-Related Rent BRI BHREER Covid-1918 B # 1 & & &
Concessions?® E165% 2 15 5]
Amendments to HKFRS 3  Definition of a Business? BERUBREER EBHER?
B3R BE]
Amendments to HKFRS 3  Reference to the Conceptual BB RE2ER HBESIER 2 1Rl
Framework® B3N 2 EE]

Amendments to Sale or Contribution of Assets BERMBREER BREEEABEAAIK
HKFRS 10 and between an Investor and ER & BELEZHRNEE
HKAS 28 its Associate or Joint Venture® R 285 2 EF] HESKFE?

Amendments to HKAS 1 Classification of Liabilities ERGHENFIR BEIEARIAEREY

as Current or Non-current’ A ]
Amendments to HKAS 1 Definition of Material* BEASENSEIR BERANEE!
and HKAS 8 REE G EL
B8 BT
Amendments to HKAS 16  Property, Plant and ERGIERF6S DE BERRE-RTE
Equipment — Proceeds pd ) &A1 2 s sRIas
before Intended Use®
Amendments to HKAS 37  Onerous Contracts — BERGIERFITR BEUSH-BIEHNZKES
Cost of Fulfilling a Contract? A H|
Amendments to HKAS 9,  Interest Rate Benchmark BRI ENFR - FIRELEKE
HKAS 39 and HKFRS 7 Reform? B £ FEINR
REBHBERE
RBNFTH 2B
Amendments to HKFRSs  Annual Improvements to BERUBREER BRI BREER
HKFRSs 2018-20203 ZIER] —E-N\FE_ZT_ZF
BE S FE S
' Effective for annual periods beginning on or after T O RZEREZ—F-HA—HIZEHRBOFE
1 January 2021. S Ry
2 Effective for business combination and asset acquisitions 2 BWEBHHA-ZT-ZTF-—A—Hzk &
for which the acquisition date is on or after the beginning Mz eBFEHERB B ZERE
of the first annual period beginning on or after 1 January BREEWEER -

2020.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING

STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)

New and amendments to HKFRSs in issue but not

yet effective (Continued)

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after a date
to be determined.

& Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2020.

2 Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2022.

e Effective for annual periods beginning on or after 1 June
2020.

Y Effective for annual periods beginning on or after
1 January 2023.

The directors anticipate that the application of above new and
amendments to HKFRSs will have no material impact on the
consolidated financial statements in the foreseeable future.

In addition to the above new and amendments to HKFRSs,
a revised Conceptual Framework for Financial Reporting
was issued in 2018. Its consequential amendments, “the
Amendments to References to the Conceptual Framework
in HKFRS Standards”, will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2020.

Except for the amendments to HKFRSs mentioned below,
the directors of the Company anticipate that the application
of all the new and amendments to HKFRSs will have no
material impact on the consolidated financial statements in
the foreseeable future.

ERAFIREETEEMBREER
(IBERUHHREEN]) (80

EEMERE RERZHFT REBT BB
i’%iﬁ‘*ﬁﬁu (%)
P MNFEEZRRIZERENFERRER-

¢ RIECEF-A BRI CEHABNFE
HIR A2

S ORCTE - CF A -HEZERFBENFE
HiRR A ke

:§¢ A—BgZzBRABNFE

TR IEC=ZF-A-HAZEHABNFE
B ER -

EFAHY RAURMRER LT REETE
B BRELENE I EHGEAMBHRREKEXN

22 48
=

B L 5] RRERT FA MRS ERI K
AU BREMSERER _E-N\FHEM-H
HEER B EMBEREERNPHHSER
ZRANER ] SR _FE-_EF-A-HXXZ
‘R FEBMAERR-

BT XAt &AM | EERZERIN AAF]
E=EY RURKERERMENIREEE
BMBRELENH T EHRAPBRRERERKR

By 488
=

Annual Report 2019/20 3 73



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

2,

APPLICATION OF NEW AND AMENDMENTS

TO HONG KONG FINANCIAL REPORTING
STANDARDS (“HKFRSs”) (Continued)
Amendments to HKAS 1 and HKAS 8 “Definition of
Material”

The amendments provide refinements to the definition of
material by including additional guidance and explanations in
making materiality judgments. In particular, the amendments:

. include the concept of “obscuring” material information
in which the effect is similar to omitting or misstating the
information;

. replace threshold for materiality influencing users from
“could influence” to “could reasonably be expected to
influence”; and

. include the use of the phrase “primary users” rather than
simply referring to “users” which was considered too
broad when deciding what information to disclose in the
financial statements.

The amendments also align the definition across all HKFRSs
and will be mandatorily effective for the Group’s annual
period beginning on 1 October 2020. The application of the
amendments is not expected to have significant impact on
the financial position and performance of the Group but may
affect the presentation and disclosures in the consolidated
financial statements.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with all applicable Hong Kong Financial
Reporting Standards, Hong Kong Accounting Standards
(“HKASSs”) and Interpretations (hereinafter collectively referred
to as the “HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of
Certified Public Accountants and the disclosure requirements
of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance. In addition, the
consolidated financial statements include the applicable
disclosures required by the Rules Governing the Listing of
Securities on the Stock Exchange (the “Listing Rules”).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
under historical cost convention, except for certain financial
instruments, which are measured at fair values at the end of
each reporting period, as explained in the accounting policies
set out below.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the
consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an
asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction
between market participants at the measurement date,
regardless of whether that price is directly observable or
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating
the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Group takes into
account the characteristics of the asset or liability if market
participants would take those characteristics into account
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date.
Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes in
these consolidated financial statements is determined on
such a basis, except for share-based payment transactions
that are within the scope of HKFRS 2 Share-based Payment,
leasing transactions that are accounted for in accordance
with HKFRS 16 (since 1 October 2019) or HKAS 17 Leases
(before application of HKFRS 16), and measurements that
have some similarities to fair value but are not fair value, such
as net realisable value in HKAS 2 Inventories or value in use
in HKAS 36 Impairment of Assets.

A fair value measurement of a non-financial asset takes into
account a market participant’s ability to generate economic
benefits by using the asset in its highest and best use or by
selling it to another market participant that would use the
asset in its highest and best use.

3. EEEFEEX#

mEEE (@)
REMBRRERBEELANERE HETE
MIARSREMAREAAETE WTXET
VEET BT -

BERA—RBEZBLEYRRBE T 2REZ

NREEE -

AREREMS2EENAEANBENAFR
SH - HE-—REEMERIIXEEE —RAE
BN ER THZEREEUEREER
REHEMEERMES ERHFAEEXRENR
RER HHE2EERGFEANHEEXRAR
ETEERSERZEERRENTE XK
BeERREERRENRR -EXTRAUH
BRARFER AREAENAAERRILE
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

76

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of preparation (Continued)

In addition, for financial reporting purposes, fair value
measurements are categorised into Level 1, 2 or 3 based on
the degree to which the inputs to the fair value measurements
are observable and the significance of the inputs to the fair
value measurement in its entirety, which are described as
follows:

. Level 1 inputs are quoted prices (unadjusted) in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities that the entity
can access at the measurement date;

. Level 2 inputs are inputs, other than quoted prices
included within Level 1, that are observable for the asset
or liability, either directly or indirectly; and

. Level 3 inputs are unobservable inputs for the asset or
liability.

The principal accounting policies are set out below.

Basis of consolidation

The consolidated financial statements incorporate the financial
statements of the Company and entities controlled by the
Company and its subsidiaries. Control is achieved when the
Company:

. has power over the investee;

. is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its

involvement with the investee; and
. has the ability to use its power to affect its returns.
The Group reassesses whether or not it controls an investee

if facts and circumstances indicate that there are changes to
one or more of the three elements of control listed above.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Basis of consolidation (Continued)

Consolidation of a subsidiary begins when the Group obtains
control over the subsidiary and ceases when the Group loses
control of the subsidiary. Specifically, income and expenses
of a subsidiary acquired or disposed of during the period are
included in the consolidated statement of profit or loss and
other comprehensive income from the date the Group gains
control until the date when the Group ceases to control the
subsidiary.

Profit or loss and each item of other comprehensive income
are attributed to the owners of the Company and to the
non-controlling interests. Total comprehensive income of
subsidiaries is attributed to the owners of the Company and
to the non-controlling interests even if this results in the
non-controlling interests having a deficit balance.

When necessary, adjustments are made to the financial
statements of subsidiaries to bring their accounting policies in
line with the Group’s accounting policies.

All intragroup assets and liabilities, equity, income, expenses
and cash flows relating to transactions between members of
the Group are eliminated in full on consolidation.

Plant and equipment
Plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated
depreciation and any impairment losses.

Depreciation is provided to write off the cost of items of plant
and equipment over their estimated useful lives and after
taking into account of their estimated residual value, using the
straight-line method. The estimated useful lives and/or annual
rates of depreciation adopted, if any, are as follows:

Furniture and fixtures 25%
Office equipment 25%
Computers 25%
Motor vehicles 25%
Vessel 25% — 50%
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

78

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Plant and equipment (Continued)

An item of plant and equipment is derecognised upon disposal
or when no future economic benefits are expected to arise
from the continued use of the asset. Any gain or loss arising
on derecognition of the asset (calculated as the difference
between the net disposal proceeds and the carrying amount
of the item) is included in profit or loss in the year in which
the item is derecognised.

Leases

Definition of a lease (upon application of HKFRS 16
in accordance with transitions in note 2)

A contract is, or contains, a lease if the contract conveys the
right to control the use of an identified asset for a period of
time in exchange for consideration.

For contracts entered into or modified or arising from business
combinations on or after the date of initial application, the
Group assesses whether a contract is or contains a lease
based on the definition under HKFRS 16 at inception,
modification date or acquisition date, as appropriate. Such
contract will not be reassessed unless the terms and
conditions of the contract are subsequently changed.

The Group as a lessee

Short-term leases

The Group applies the short-term lease recognition exemption
to leases of office that have a lease term of 12 months or less
from the commencement date and do not contain a purchase
option. Lease payments on short-term leases is recognised as
expense on a straight line basis or another systematic basis
over the lease term.

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 October 2019)
Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms
of the lease transfer substantially all the risks and rewards

of ownership to lessee. All other leases are classified as
operating leases.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Leases (Continued)

The Group as a lessee (prior to 1 October 2019)
(Continued)

Operating lease payments are recognised as an expense
on a straight-line basis over the lease term, except where
another systematic basis is more representative of the time
pattern in which economic benefits from the leased assets are
consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases
are recognised as an expense in the period in which they are
incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter
into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as a
liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as
a reduction of rental expenses on straight-line basis, except
where another systematic basis is more representative of
the time pattern in which economic benefits from the leased
assets are consumed.

Financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised when
a group entity becomes a party to the contractual provisions
of the instrument. All regular way purchases or sales of
financial assets are recognised and derecognised on a trade
date basis. Regular way purchases or sales are purchases or
sales of financial assets that require delivery of assets within
the time frame established by regulation or convention in the
market place.

Financial assets and financial liabilities are initially measured
at fair value. Transaction costs that are directly attributable
to the acquisition or issue of financial assets and financial
liabilities (other than financial assets or financial liabilities
at fair value through profit or loss) are added to or deducted
from the fair value of the financial assets or financial liabilities,
as appropriate, on initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Transaction costs directly attributable to the acquisition of
financial assets or financial liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss are recognised immediately in profit or loss.

The effective interest method is a method of calculating
the amortised cost of a financial asset or financial liability
and of allocating interest income and interest expense over
the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate
that exactly discounts estimated future cash receipts and
payments (including all fees and points paid or received that
form an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction
costs and other premiums or discounts) through the expected
life of the financial asset or financial liability, or, where
appropriate, a shorter period, to the net carrying amount on
initial recognition.

Income or expense is recognised on an effective interest

basis for debt instruments.

Financial assets

Classification and subsequent measurement of financial
assets

Financial assets that meet the following conditions are
subsequently measured at amortised cost:

. the financial asset is held within a business model whose
objective is to collect contractual cash flows; and

. the contractual terms give rise on specified dates to cash
flows that are solely payments of principal and interest
on the principal amount outstanding.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

All other financial assets are subsequently measured at fair
value through profit or loss ("FVTPL”), except that at the
date of initial application of HKFRS 9/initial recognition of a
financial asset the Group may irrevocably elect to present
subsequent changes in fair value of an equity investment
in other comprehensive income if that equity investment
is neither held for trading nor contingent consideration
recognised by an acquirer in a business combination to which
HKFRS 3 Business Combinations applies.

A financial asset is classified as held for trading if:

. it has been acquired principally for the purpose of selling
in the near term; or

o on initial recognition it is a part of a portfolio of
identified financial instruments that the Group manages
together and has a recent actual pattern of short-term
profit-taking; or

. it is a derivative that is not designated and effective as a
hedging instrument.

In addition, the Group may irrevocably designate a financial
asset that are required to be measured at the amortised cost
or fair value through other comprehensive income (“FVTOCI”)
as measured at FVTPL if doing so eliminates or significantly
reduces an accounting mismatch.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &
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3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(ii)

82 EHARERAH

Amortised cost and interest income

Interest income is recognised using the effective interest
method for debt instruments measured subsequently at
amortised cost. Interest income is calculated by applying
the effective interest rate to the gross carrying amount
of a financial asset, except for financial assets that have
subsequently become credit-impaired. For financial
assets that have subsequently become credit-impaired,
interest income is recognised by applying the effective
interest rate to the amortised cost of the financial asset
from the next reporting period. If the credit risk on the
credit-impaired financial instrument improves so that
the financial asset is no longer credit-impaired, interest
income is recognised by applying the effective interest
rate to the gross carrying amount of the financial asset
from the beginning of the reporting period following the

determination that the asset is no longer credit impaired.

Financial assets at FVTPL

Financial assets that do not meet the criteria for being
measured at amortised cost or FVTOCI or designated as
FVTOCI are measured at FVTPL.

Financial assets at FVTPL are measured at fair value
at the end of each reporting period, with any fair value
gains or losses recognised in profit or loss. The net gain
or loss recognised in profit or loss excludes any dividend
or interest earned on the financial asset and is included
in the “Turnover” line item.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets

The Group recognises a loss allowances for ECL on financial
assets which are subject to impairment under HKFRS 9
(including other receivables, investments in financial assets at
amortised cost and cash and cash equivalents). The amount
of ECL is updated at each reporting date to reflect changes in
credit risk since initial recognition.

Lifetime ECL represents the ECL that will result from all
possible default events over the expected life of the relevant
instrument. In contrast, 12-month ECL represents the portion
of lifetime ECL that is expected to result from default events
that are possible within 12 months after the reporting date.
Assessment are done based on the Group’s historical credit
loss experience, adjusted for factors that are specific to the
debtors, general economic conditions and an assessment of
both the current conditions at the reporting date as well as the
forecast of future conditions.

The Group measures the loss allowance equal to 12-month
ECL, unless when there has been a significant increase in
credit risk since initial recognition, the Group recognises
lifetime ECL. The assessment of whether lifetime ECL
should be recognised is based on significant increases in the
likelihood or risk of a default occurring since initial recognition.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i) Significant increase in credit risk
In assessing whether the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition, the Group compares
the risk of a default occurring on the financial instrument
as at the reporting date with the risk of a default
occurring on the financial instrument as at the date of
initial recognition. In making this assessment, the Group
considers both quantitative and qualitative information
that is reasonable and supportable, including historical
experience and forward-looking information that is
available without undue cost or effort.

In particular, the following information is taken into
account when assessing whether credit risk has
increased significantly:

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in
the financial instrument’s external (if available) or
internal credit rating;

0 significant deterioration in external market indicators
of credit risk, e.g. a significant increase in the credit
spread, the credit default swap prices for the debtor;

C existing or forecast adverse changes in business,
financial or economic conditions that are expected
to cause a significant decrease in the debtor’s
ability to meet its debt obligations;

. an actual or expected significant deterioration in the
operating results of the debtor;

2 an actual or expected significant adverse change
in the regulatory, economic, or technological
environment of the debtor that results in a
significant decrease in the debtor’s ability to meet
its debt obligations.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

Significant increase in credit risk (Continued)

Irrespective of the outcome of the above assessment,
the Group presumes that the credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition when contractual
payments are more than 30 days past due, unless the
Group has reasonable and supportable information that
demonstrates otherwise.

Despite the aforegoing, the Group assumes that the
credit risk on a debt instrument has not increased
significantly since initial recognition if the debt instrument
is determined to have low credit risk at the reporting
date. A debt instrument is determined to have low credit
risk if i) it has a low risk of default, ii) the borrower
has a strong capacity to meet its contractual cash flow
obligations in the near term and iii) adverse changes in
economic and business conditions in the longer term
may, but will not necessarily, reduce the ability of the
borrower to fulfil its contractual cash flow obligations.
The Group considers a debt instrument to have low credit
risk when it has an internal or external credit rating of
‘investment grade’ as per globally understood definitions.

The Group regularly monitors the effectiveness of
the criteria used to identify whether there has been a
significant increase in credit risk and revises them as
appropriate to ensure that the criteria are capable of
identifying significant increase in credit risk before the
amount becomes past due.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

86 HHARERAH

Credit-impaired financial assets

A financial asset is credit-impaired when one or more
events of default that have a detrimental impact on
the estimated future cash flows of that financial asset
have occurred. Evidence that a financial asset is
credit-impaired includes observable data about the
following events:

(a) significant financial difficulty of the issuer or the

borrower;

(b) a breach of contract, such as a default or past due
event;

(c) the lender(s) of the borrower, for economic or
contractual reasons relating to the borrower’s
financial difficulty, having granted to the borrower a
concession(s) that the lender(s) would not otherwise

consider;

(d) it is becoming probable that the borrower will enter
bankruptcy or other financial reorganisation; or

(e) the disappearance of an active market for that
financial asset because of financial difficulties.

Definition of default

For internal credit risk management, the Group considers
an event of default occurs when information developed
internally or obtained from external sources indicates that
the debtor is unlikely to pay its creditors, including the
Group, in full (without taking into account any collateral
held by the Group).
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3. SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)
Financial instruments (Continued)
Financial assets (Continued)
Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(iv) Write-off policy

The Group writes off a financial asset when there is
information indicating that the counterparty is in severe
financial difficulty and there is no realistic prospect of
recovery, for example, when the counterparty has been
placed under liquidation or has entered into bankruptcy
proceedings, whichever occurs sooner. Financial assets
written off may still be subject to enforcement activities
under the Group’s recovery procedures, taking into
account legal advice where appropriate. A write-off
constitutes a derecognition event. Any subsequent
recoveries are recognised in profit or loss.

Measurement and recognition of ECL

The measurement of ECL is a function of the probability
of default, loss given default (i.e. the magnitude of the
loss if there is a default) and the exposure at default.
The assessment of the probability of default and loss
given default is based on historical data adjusted by
forward-looking information. Estimation of ECL reflects
an unbiased and probability-weighted amount that is
determined with the respective risks of default occurring
as the weights.

Generally, the ECL is the difference between all
contractual cash flows that are due to the Group in
accordance with the contract and the cash flows that the
Group expects to receive, discounted at the effective
interest rate determined at initial recognition.

Where ECL is measured on a collective basis or cater for
cases where evidence at the individual instrument level
may not yet be available, the financial instruments are
grouped by aging basis.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Financial assets (Continued)

Impairment of financial assets (Continued)

(v) Measurement and recognition of ECL (Continued)
The grouping is regularly reviewed by management to
ensure the constituents of each group continue to share
similar credit risk characteristics.

Interest income is calculated based on the gross carrying
amount of the financial asset unless the financial asset
is credit impaired, in which case interest income is
calculated based on amortised cost of the financial asset.

Financial liabilities and equity

Classification as debt or equity

Debt and equity instruments are classified as either financial
liabilities or as equity in accordance with the substance of the
contractual arrangements and the definitions of a financial
liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments

An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual
interest in the assets of an entity after deducting all of its
liabilities. Equity instruments issued by the Company are
recognised at the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Financial liabilities
All financial liabilities are subsequently measured at amortised
cost using the effective interest method or at FVTPL.

Financial liabilities at amortised cost

Financial liabilities at amortised cost including other payables
is subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the
effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Convertible bonds

The component parts of the convertible bonds are classified
separately as financial liability, equity and derivative
in accordance with the substance of the contractual
arrangements and the definitions of a financial liability an
equity instrument and a derivative. A conversion option that
will be settled by the exchange of a fixed amount of cash or
another financial asset for a fixed number of the Company’s
own equity instruments is an equity instrument.

At the date of issue, both the debt component and derivative
components are recognised at fair value. In subsequent
periods, the debt component of the convertible bonds are
carried at amortised cost using the effective interest method.
The derivative component is measured at fair value with
changes in fair value recognised in profit or loss.

A conversion option classified as equity is determined by
deducting the amount of the liability component from the
fair value of the compound instrument as a whole. This
is recognised and included in equity, net of income tax
effects, and is not subsequently remeasured. In addition, the
conversion option classified as equity will remain in equity
until the conversion option is exercised, in which case, the
balance recognised in equity will be remained in equity.
Where the conversion option remains unexercised at the
maturity date of the convertible bonds, the balance recognised
in equity will be transferred to accumulated losses. No gain
or loss is recognised in profit or loss upon conversion or
expiration of the conversion option.

Transaction costs that relate to the issue of the convertible
bonds are allocated to the liability, equity and derivative
components in proportion to the allocation of the gross
proceeds. Transaction costs relating to the equity component
are charged directly to equity. Transaction costs relating to
the liability component are included in the carrying amount
of the liability portion and amortised over the period of the
convertible bonds using the effective interest method.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Financial instruments (Continued)

Equity instruments

Equity instruments issued by the Company are recorded at
the proceeds received, net of direct issue costs.

Derecognition

Financial assets are derecognised when the rights to receive
cash flows from the assets expire or, the financial assets are
transferred and the Group has transferred substantially all
the risks and rewards of ownership of the financial assets.
On derecognition of a financial asset measured at amortised
cost, the difference between the asset’s carrying amount
and the sum of the consideration received and receivable is
recognised in profit or loss.

Financial liabilities are derecognised when the obligation
specified in the relevant contract is discharged, cancelled or
expires. The difference between the carrying amount of the
financial liability derecognised and the consideration paid and
payable is recognised in profit or loss.

Impairment losses of tangible assets

At the end of the reporting period, the Group reviews the
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is
any indication that those assets have suffered an impairment
loss. If the recoverable amount of an asset is estimated to
be less than its carrying amounts, the carrying amount of the
asset is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment
loss is recognised as an expense immediately.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying
amount of the asset is increased to the revised estimate of
its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying
amount does not exceed the carrying amount that would have
been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for
the asset in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is
recognised as income immediately.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Foreign currency

In preparing the financial statements of each individual group
entity, transactions in currencies other than the functional
currency of that entity (foreign currencies) are recorded in the
respective functional currency (i.e. the currency of the primary
economic environment in which the entity operates) at the
rates of exchanges prevailing at the dates of the transactions.
At end of each reporting period, monetary items denominated
in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rates prevailing at
the end of the reporting period. Non-monetary items carried
at fair value that are denominated in foreign currencies are
retranslated at the rates prevailing on the date when the
fair value was determined. Non-monetary items that are
measured in terms of historical cost in a foreign currency are
not retranslated.

Exchange differences arising on the settlement of monetary
items, and on the translation of monetary items, are
recognised in profit or loss in the period in which they arise,
except for exchange differences arising on a monetary
item that forms part of the Company’s net investment in a
foreign operation, in which case, such exchange differences
are recognised in other comprehensive income. Exchange
differences arising on the retranslation of non-monetary
items carried at fair value are included in profit or loss for
the period except for differences arising on the retranslation
of non-monetary items in respect of which gains and losses
are recognised in other comprehensive income, in which
cases, the exchange differences are also recognised in other
comprehensive income.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash at bank and
on hand, demand deposits with banks and other financial
institutions, and short-term, highly liquid investments that are
readily convertible into known amounts of cash and which are
subject to an insignificant risk of changes in value, having
been within three months of maturity at acquisition.

Revenue recognition

Dividend income from investments in listed securities
including financial assets at FVTPL is recognised when
the shareholders’ rights to receive payment have been
established.

Interest income from financial assets is accrued on a time
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and at the
effective interest rate applicable, which is the rate that exactly
discounts the estimated future cash receipts through the
expected life of the financial asset to that asset’s net carrying

amount.

Other income is recognised whenever it is received or

receivable.

Taxation
Income tax expense represents the sum of the tax currently
payable and deferred tax.

The tax currently payable is based on taxable profit for the
period. Taxable profit differs from loss before tax because
of income or expense that are taxable or deductible in other
years and items that are never taxable or deductible. The
Group’s liability for current tax is calculated using tax rates
that have been enacted or substantively enacted by the end
of the reporting period.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is recognised on temporary differences
between the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities in the
consolidated financial statements and the corresponding tax
bases used in the computation of taxable profit. Deferred tax
liabilities are generally recognised for all taxable temporary
differences. Deferred tax assets are generally recognised for
all deductible temporary differences to the extent that it is
probable that taxable profits will be available against which
those deductible temporary differences can be utilised. Such
deferred tax assets and liabilities are not recognised if the
temporary difference arises from the initial recognition (other
than in a business combination) of assets and liabilities in
a transaction that affects neither the taxable profit nor the
accounting profit.

Deferred tax liabilities are recognised for taxable temporary
differences associated with investments in subsidiaries
except where the Group is able to control the reversal of the
temporary difference and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future. Deferred
tax assets arising from deductible temporary differences
associated with such investments and interests are only
recognised to the extent that it is probable that there will be
sufficient taxable profits against which to utilise the benefits of
the temporary differences and they are expected to reverse in
the foreseeable future.

The carrying amount of deferred tax assets is reviewed at the
end of each reporting period and reduced to the extent that
it is no longer probable that sufficient taxable profits will be
available to allow all or part of the asset to be recovered.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Taxation (Continued)

Deferred tax is calculated at the tax rates that are expected
to apply in the period when the liability is settled or the
asset realised. Deferred tax is charged or credited to profit
or loss, except when it relates to items recognised in other
comprehensive income or directly in equity, in which case the
deferred tax is also dealt with in other comprehensive income
or directly in equity respectively.

Retirement benefit costs

Payments to the Mandatory Provident Fund Scheme (the
“MPF Scheme”) are charged as an expense when employees
have rendered service entitling them to the contributions.

Borrowing costs

All borrowing costs are recognised as and included in finance
costs in the consolidated financial statements in the period in
which they are incurred.

Other provisions and contingent liabilities

Provisions are recognised for other liabilities of uncertain
timing or amount when the Group or the Company has a legal
or constructive obligation arising as a result of a past event,
it is probable that an outflow of economic benefits will be
required to settle the obligation and a reliable estimate can be
made. Where the time value of money is material, provisions
are stated at the present value of the expenditure to settle the
obligation.

Where it is not probable that an outflow of economic benefits
will be required, or the amount cannot be estimated reliably,
the obligation is disclosed as a contingent liability, unless
the probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
Possible obligations, whose existence will only be confirmed
by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more future
events are also disclosed as contingent liabilities unless the
probability of outflow of economic benefits is remote.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

3.

SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES
(Continued)

Equity-settled share-based payment transactions
Share options granted to employees

Equity-settled share-based payments to employees and others
providing similar services are measured at the fair value of
the equity instruments at the grant date.

The fair value of the equity-settled share-based payments
determined at the grant date without taking into consideration
all non-market vesting conditions is expensed on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period, based on the
Group’s estimate of equity instruments that will eventually
vest, with a corresponding increase in equity (share options
reserve). At the end of each reporting period, the Group
revises its estimate of the number of equity instruments
expected to vest based on assessment of all relevant
non-market vesting conditions. The impact of the revision
of the original estimates, if any, is recognised in profit or
loss such that the cumulative expense reflects the revised
estimate, with a corresponding adjustment to the share
options reserve.

When share options are exercised, the amount previously
recognised in share options reserve will be transferred to
share capital and share premium. When the share options
are forfeited after the vesting date or are still not exercised
at the expiry date, the amount previously recognised in share
options reserve will be transferred to accumulated losses.

Short-term employee benefits

Short-term employee benefits are recognised at the
undiscounted amount of the benefits expected to be paid as
and when employees rendered the services. All short-term
employee benefits are recognised as an expense unless
another HKFRS requires or permits the inclusion of the
benefit in the cost of an asset.

A liability is recognised for benefits accruing to employees
(such as wages, salaries, annual leaves and sick leaves) after
deducting any amount already paid.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

4,

96

KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION
UNCERTAINTY

In the application of the Group’s accounting policies, which
are described in Note 2, the directors of the Group are
required to make judgements, estimates and assumptions
about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are
not readily apparent from other sources. The estimates and
associated assumptions are based on historical experience
and other factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual
results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on
an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if
the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current
and future periods.

The followings are the key assumptions concerning the future,
and other key sources of estimation uncertainty at the end
of the reporting period, that have a significant risk of causing
a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and
liabilities within the next financial year.

(i) Useful lives and residual values of items of

plant and equipment

In determining the useful lives and residual values
of items of plant and equipment, the Group has to
consider various factors, such as expected usage of the
asset, expected physical wear and tear, the care and
maintenance of the asset, and legal or similar limits on
the use of the asset. The estimation of the useful life of
the asset is based on the experience of the Group with
similar assets that are used in a similar way. Additional
depreciation is made if the estimated useful lives and/or
the residual values of items of plant and equipment
are different from previous estimation. Useful lives and
residual values are reviewed, at each financial year end
date based on changes in circumstances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY 4. HEHTHABPEREZETERIR (&)
(Continued)

(ii) Estimation of impairment loss recognised in (i) HEEMERKERZRBHERAIERZ

respect of other receivables and investments in
financial assets at amortised cost

The Group individually assesses the ECL for other
receivables and investments in financial assets at
amortised cost. The assessment is based on the credit
profile of the debtors, and the historical repayment record
of the debtors taking into consideration forward-looking
information that is reasonable and supportable available
without undue costs or effort. At every reporting date,
the credit profile and the historical repayment record
of the debtors are reassessed and changes as the
forward-looking information are considered.

The provision of ECL is sensitive to changes in
estimates. The information about the ECL and the
Group’s other receivable and investments in financial
assets at amortised cost are disclosed in Notes 15, 17
and 30(a).

(iii) Valuation of unlisted investments

In the absence of current prices in active market for
similar unlisted equity securities, the Group determines
the fair values by using discounted cash flow valuation
technique with input not based on observable market
data and other available information.

The carrying amounts of the unlisted investments
as at 30 September 2020 was HK$6,026,320 (2019:
HK$14,768,320), further details of which are set out in Note
16.

(iii)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

4. KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

(Continued)

(iv) Income tax
The Group is subject to income tax. Significant
judgement is required in determining the provision
for income tax. There are many transactions and
calculations for which the ultimate tax determination is
uncertain during the ordinary course of the business.

The Group recognises liabilities for anticipated tax audit
issues based on estimates of whether additional taxes
will be due. Where the final tax outcome of these matters
is different from the amounts that were initially recorded,
such differences will impact the income tax and deferred
tax provisions in the period in which such determination
is made.

5. TURNOVER
The amount of each significant category of turnover and
timing of revenue recognitions are as follows:

A THBE R 2 E2RR (#)

(iv) FRE%H
AEEABMAEH -BETMEHEETE
HEAHE -AEXBBEPZERH KT
B ARHEERAHIA

AEBERBREEHIHBEINIAZ B
HREMREEXEEERAB - WNEKEEE
MRERIEHERBIIGARESETR BH
ERRTEFLETC2EBMBANMEN
B SE T IR

3
BEHBAEEFEANNSHERBER WK EN
T

2020 2019
—g-8% —T-AF
HK$ HK$
7 B

Net realised loss on financial assets BAREAER (4 B

at fair value through profit or loss AER]RBECMBEE L

(“FVTPL") BEIEEEFR (23,594,852) (55,262,869)
Net unrealised loss on financial assets BEARBEd A BRREZUBREEZ

at FVTPL REREEFE (46,341,135)  (108,297,208)
Dividend income from investments in RELEMES ZBREWBA

listed securities 180,107 385,415
Interest income on other receivables H e W R IE 2 F S A - 4,756,352
Bank and bond interest income RITREZMBEA 17,233,277 15,630,632
Gain on disposal of investments HERBHEK AR M EEE

in financial assets at amortised cost & 2 W= 123,129 =

(52,399,474)  (142,787,678)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

6.

SEGMENT INFORMATION

The Group identifies operating segments and prepares
segment information based on the regular reports reviewed
by the chief operating decision maker for decisions about
resources allocated to the Group’s business components and
for the review of the performance of those components.

The principal activities of the Group are investments in
listed and unlisted companies. The Group has identified the
operating and reportable segments in the current year as
follows:

(i) Investments in listed securities and unlisted bonds
(i) Investment in unlisted securities

For the profit and loss, except for revenue, other income and
finance costs, others are not allocated to segment.

Plant and equipment, tax recoverable, certain amount of
accruals and certain amount of prepayments, deposits and
other receivables and cash and cash equivalents, were not
allocated to segment.
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e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DIEHR (@)
Segment revenue and results DEHNE R EE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 BE-_Z_ZFAA=1THLEE

100 EHARERAF

Investment in

Investment in

listed securities unlisted
and unlisted bonds securities Unallocated Total
IHEER
FLEmEFRE FLHEFRE RAE @t
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HKS$
Segment revenue ok 16 (43,657,691) (8,742,000) 217 (52,399,474)
Expected credit losses on financial ~ HE B AR HBEE
assets at amortised cost, BHEEEE NERE
net of reversal (20,150,585) - - (20,150,585)
Expected credit losses on Be REMEYGIE B
deposits and other receivables, FEBE NKEE
net of reversal (1,302,003) (19,028,703) (183,207) (20,513,913)
Administrative expenses THER - - (16,868,968) (16,868,968)
Segment result FPLE (65,110,279) (27,770,703) (17,051,958) (109,932,940)
Other income Hip A - 4,952,496 3,673,856 8,626,352
Share-based payment expenses AR REEZNRRAX - - (2,106,500) (2,106,500)
Finance costs BERK (2,039,024) - (30,843) (2,069,867)
Loss before tax B AIEE (67,149,303) (22,818,207) (15,515,445) (105,482,955)
Income tax expenses FEREX = - - -
Loss for the year AEEEE (67,149,303) (22,818,207) (15,515,445) (105,482,955)
Segment assets DEHBE 371,140,544 97,621,408 21,021,845 489,783,797
Segment liabilities DHEE 23,710,871 - 17,402,207 41,113,078
Other segment information HEttpHEs
Net realised loss on financial BORBHABERE UK
assets at FVTPL BEZDERFEFE (23,594,852) - - (23,594,852)
Net unrealised loss on financial BAnBH ABREE HE
assets at FVTPL LEIAERERTE (46,341,135) - - (46,341,135)
Interest income FlEMA 17,233,277 - 4,952,496 22,185,773
Depreciation of plant and equipment ~ BE k& EITE - - 26,100 26,100
Gain on disposal of plant and HEREREZE WE
equipment - - 3,000,000 3,000,000
Expected credit losses on HEREMEWHIEL
deposits and other receivables, HEBEERE:
net of reversal B EE (1,302,003) (19,028,703) (183,207) (20,513,913)
Expected credit losses RE SR AR 2 B 7
on investments in financial BEREZBHEEESR
assets at amortised costs, k&=
net of reversal (20,150,585) - - (20,150,585)

CAPITAL VC LIMITED



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued) 6. DEER (@)
Segment revenue and results (Continued) PHBRERFEE (E)

For the year ended 30 September 2019

Investment in

BE_ZT-NAFNAA=THLEE

Investment in

listed securities unlisted
and unlisted bonds securities Unallocated Total
EMEHFR
FLMBEHFRE FEMEFRE RAE @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B BT B B
Segment revenue G e (134,579,370) (8,208,488) 180 (142,787,678)
Expected credit losses on financial &% SR AR 5I8 2 8 7
assets at amortised cost BERBEERR (7,200,000) = = (7,200,000)
Expected credit losses on deposits &% % E B U FUA B
and other receivables FEER - (425,677) - (425,677)
Administrative expenses TRER - - (30,964,019) (30,964,019)
Segment result L (141,779,370) (8,634,165) (30,963,839) (181,377,374)
Other income NN - 900,000 95,567 995,567
Share-based payment expenses WRDBREREZAFHAX - - (1,875,500) (1,875,500)
Finance costs REKAK (1,302,252) = = (1,302,252)
Loss before tax BERIER (143,081,622) (7,734,165) (32,743,772) (183,559,559)
Income tax expenses FEHAY - - = =
Loss for the year AEEEE (143,081,622) (7,734,165) (32,743.772) (183,559,559)
Segment assets NHEE 407,960,150 146,982,496 21,064,796 576,007,442
Segment liabilities NEEE 22,095,019 - 6,786,067 28,881,086
Other segment information HttpHEs
Net realised loss on financial BAnBIABREEE L
assets at FVTPL BYAEZCEREEEE (55,262,869) - - (55,262,869)
Net unrealised loss on financial BOAEFABRREZ
assets at FVTPL BMEE XEBEBTE (95,332,368) (12,964,840) - (108,297,208)
Interest income FIEWA 15,630,452 5,656,352 = 21,286,804
Depreciation of plant and equipment ~ FiE KR ETE - - (8,718,290) (8,718,290)
Gain on disposal of plant and HEREREZE W
equipment - - 39,924 39,924
Expected credit losses on deposits & & KE R FIE 2
and other receivables BHEERSE - (425,677) - (425,677)
Expected credit losses on BB 2 B 75
investments in financial assets BERECBHGEESE
at amortised costs (7,200,000) - - (7,200,000)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &#Z=—

TEFENRA=THIEE

6. SEGMENT INFORMATION (Continued)
Segment revenue and results (Continued)
The Group’s operations and specified non-current assets are

located in Hong Kong.

Given that the nature of the Group’s operation is investment

in listed and unlisted companies, there was no information

regarding major customers as determined by the Group.

2 EBRE R ()
2SR EE ()

AEB2ERBEFRRBEEMNREE -

ERAEENEELELARE LT RIFLTORA
Ayt EEAAEERRARIZEPNER-

7. OTHER INCOME, NET Hit e A F88
2020 2019
—E-EF —E—NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Other interest income HAh F) B A 4,952,496 900,000
Gain on disposal of plant and equipment &K E k& E 2 Wi 3,000,000 39,924
Sundry income I A 580,502 38,237
Fair value gain on derivative asset PMETIREEZ AR BN 93,354 -
Exchange gain, net PE 5 U &5 0F 5B - 17,406
8,626,352 995,567
8. FINANCE COSTS b & R A

2020 2019
ZEDEF —E-NEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Interest expenses on borrowings: EBEEZFNERY:
— margin accounts —fFREF 2,039,024 1,302,252
— convertible bonds — A RRES 30,843 -~
2,069,867 1,302,252
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

9. LOSS BEFORE TAX 9. BRBATEE

The Group’s loss before tax has been arrived at after AEEZBRBAIEES MR :

charging:
2020 2019

—E-EF —ZT-NF

HK$ HK$
BT T

Directors’ emoluments EE Yk 1,910,500 1,881,500

Staff costs BT AA

— Salaries, allowances and other benefits — %% 84 & E {th 138 7| 2,884,817 2,669,636

- MPF Scheme contributions —SRIEE A EIHR 74,300 58,900

— Share-based payment expenses — AR BEEZNFFEZ 1,584,000 1,254,000
Total staff costs (including RETIRA(BEEEMS)

Directors’ emoluments) 6,453,617 5,864,036
Auditor’'s remuneration % SR B 5 450,000 580,000
Depreciation for plant and equipment B E R ETE 26,100 8,718,290
Operating lease rentals KERHz2HEE 145,200 145,200
Donation B 819,800 1,438,479
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

10.

INCOME TAX EXPENSES
No provision for Hong Kong Profits Tax has been made as the
Group has no assessable profits for the year (2019: Nil).

Hong Kong Profits Tax is arrived at 16.5% on the estimated
assessable profits for the year 2020 and 2019.

The income tax for the year ended 30 September 2020
and 2019 can be reconciled to the loss before tax per
the consolidated statement of profit or loss and other

10. FiIB BB

MR AR S B R RS SN AR FEEAE
BENEGHEB (ZF-—NF &) -

BEANBRNE _E_EFR_T—
JE R Bl om M) 1%16.5% 51 & -

NFZfEE

BHE_ZT-_ZFER_FT—-—NFNAZTHLFE
2R EgAEEREMEmKER 2B
BIEEBEERNT

comprehensive income as follows:

Loss before tax

BRI AT E 1R

2020
—B-%F
HK$

B

(105,482,955)

2019
—NF
HK$
BT

(183,559,559)

Nominal tax at domestic income tax rate
of 16.5% (2019: 16.5%)

Tax effect of income not taxable for
tax purpose

Tax effect of expenses not deductible
for tax purpose

Tax effect of temporary differences
not recognised

Tax effect of tax losses not recognised

WA BT R16.5% T E 2 R EFE
(ZE—NF:16.5%)
BERRMBA ZRG T E

PR H R E

AEREREZERIUBTE

AERZMEBRZMBTE

(17,404,687)

(1,516,774)

9,430,584

(129,560)
9,620,437

(30,287,327)

(785,801)

14,154,558

1,251,606
15,666,964

Income tax expense

FTiS T X

104 EHARERAF

At the end of the reporting period, the Group had unused tax
losses of HK$926,908,093 (2019: HK$868,602,407) available
for offset against future profits. No deferred tax asset has
been recognised in respect of the unused tax losses due to
the unpredictability of future profits stream.

CAPITAL VC LIMITED

REEMR AKREZADAREEBEERER
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

1.

12.

DIVIDEND

The Board does not recommend the payment of a dividend for
the year ended 30 September 2020 (2019: Nil).

BASIC AND DILUTED LOSS PER SHARE

On 14 July 2020, the Company implemented a share
consolidation on the basis that every ten (10) issued and
unissued existing shares were consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share. The calculation of basic and diluted loss
per share for all period presented was adjusted retrospectively
to reflect the effect of this share consolidation.

The calculation of the basic and diluted loss per share is
based on the Group’s loss for the year ended 30 September
2020 attributable to the equity holders of the Company of
HK$105,482,955 (2019: HK$183,559,559).

The above basic loss per share based on the weighted
average number of 275,488,249 (2019: 275,488,249
(restated)) ordinary shares in issue during the year.

The Company had no potentially dilutive ordinary shares in
issue both years ended 30 September 2020 and 2019. The
share options and convertible bonds outstanding during the
year ended 30 September 2020 were anti-dilutive.

1.

12,

g
EFgU I EBRNEBE T TFAA=1H
LFEEZRB(ZE—NEF \E) -

BREXRBEER
R-ZF-TELA+WA ARTARE TR
BEETRABETREBRNEHA—(1)RAEHE
Bz EEBERGA G- A2 BHERER
REEEENGECTERREURBRZBRNHE
GESEA-E

EREARBEBEDRERAAGRERSE AR
HAEBRBE_ZT_ZTFANA=ZTAHLEEZE
18105,482,955/% 7T ( —Z — L4 : 183,559,559
BT E .

LA EREABENEREAFEDHTLEEBR
2 INKEF 1 #275,488,249% ( = F — N F -
275,488,2491% (£ &%) )5t 5 °

BE_ T ZER_Z-NAFAA=THILWE
FE ARAYECETEEHILTAR -RE
EZEFNA=ZTHLEFE BTENZE
Pei R A R (B 5 R A RESERE -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e MR ERR MR

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE
13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S

EMOLUMENTS
(a) Directors’ remuneration

13. EEREREEEMS

(a) ESM=

The emoluments paid or payable to each of the directors

were as follows:

ENHENTEESZHEMT

Other emoluments

At e
Salaries,
allowances, MPF Share
and other  Performance Scheme options
Fees benefits bonus contributions expenses Total
e 28 BEE
e  REMERN EWIA SEMR BRERX @t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Year ended HE-BC-BR
30 September 2020 AMAZTHLEE
Executive directors: HITEE:
Chan Cheong Yee BREX 440,000 160,000 - 8,000 261,250 869,250
Kong Fanpeng LA 360,000 - - - 261,250 621,250
Independent non-executive BYFHTES:
directors:
Cheung Wai Kin RER 180,000 - - - - 180,000
Lai Fun Yin REE 120,000 - - - - 120,000
Lee Ming Gin FHE 120,000 - - - - 120,000
1,220,000 160,000 - 8,000 522,500 1,910,500
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)

13. EERESREEEMS (&)

(a) EEM= (&)

Other emoluments

Hitt# e
Salaries,
allowances, MPF Share
and other  Performance Scheme options
Fees benefits bonus contributions expenses Total
o2 BEe
e  REMGEN EWIA SEMR BRERX st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B B B B B
Year ended BE-Z-hE
30 September 2019 NA=ZTHLEE
Executive directors: HITES:
Chan Cheong Yee RE%E 600,000 - - - 310,750 910,750
Kong Fanpeng HLAEE 240,000 - - - 310,750 550,750
Independent non-executive B FHTES:
directors:
Cheung Wai Kin RER 180,000 - - - - 180,000
Lai Fun Yin REE 120,000 - - - - 120,000
Lee Ming Gin ZHIE 120,000 - - - - 120,000
1,260,000 - - - 621,500 1,881,500

The directors’ fees shown above represented
emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s
services as a director, whether of the Company or its
subsidiary undertakings.

No director waived or agreed to waive any emoluments
during the year ended 30 September 2020 and
30 September 2019. No incentive payment for joining
the Group or compensation for loss for office was
paid or payable to any director during the year ended
30 September 2020 and 30 September 2019.

ERFIEFVEE - RATIHRETES (ER
REARFSAEMBRAAEBZER) ZRFCE
NRENZBE -

REE-_Z_ZFNA=Z+HERZZ—NAFENA
ZtTREFE BTESEEHENKRFDHEEAH
T RBEE_ZFT-_TFAA=FTER_ZT-—NF
NAZTALFE BERETMNESE N HEN
ERME (FREMAREE 2 RE) AR

e
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

13. DIRECTORS’ AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT’S
EMOLUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Directors’ remuneration (Continued)
The remuneration of directors including the performance
bonus is determined by the remuneration committee
having regard to the performance of individual and
market trends.

(b) Senior management’s emoluments
Of the five individuals with the highest emoluments in
the Group during the year ended 30 September 2020,
two (2019: two) were directors of the Company whose
emoluments were set out above. The emoluments of the
remaining three (2019: three) highest paid individuals
were as follows:

13. EERESREEEMS (&)

(a) EEM= (&)
EEFM(BREREAL) DEFMEE S
REEALZERREMSBEMETE

(b) EREEEMS
AREBPRBE-_Z-_ZEFAA=1THILE
EzREBERTATREME (Z2—hE:
ME)ARBEE BEMS &N L3 HiR
R (ZE—NF: ZR)EaFgATzie
N

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-NEF
HK$ HK$
BT BT

Salaries, allowances e R MEMEF
and other benefits 1,677,363 2,025,636
MPF scheme contributions RAE BT B 32,400 36,000
Share options expenses B 264,000 313,500
1,973,763 2,375,136

The emoluments of the three (2019: three) highest paid
individuals fall in the following band:

SH(ZT-NF ZR)BREFALZHEBN
TR

2020 2019
—E-EF —E-hE

Emoluments band BN & 78 7
Nil — HK$1,000,000 Z£%1,000,0007% 7T, 2 3
HK$1,000,001 to HK$1,500,000 1,000,001 7Tt 1,500,000 7T 1 —

No incentive payment for joining the Group or
compensation for loss for office was paid or payable
to any highest paid individuals (including directors and
other employees) during the year ended 30 September
2020 and 2019.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

14. PLANT AND EQUIPMENT 14. BEREH
Furniture and Office Motor
fixtures equipment ~ Computers vehicles Vessel Total
GRREE  HAZRB Bl "E Mg st
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
COST KA

At 1 October 2018 RZZE-\&+A—A 318,736 215,432 169,300 8,326,306 32,216,386 41,246,160
Disposals HE - - - (2,547,057) - (2,547,057)

At 30 September 2019 and RZB-LEAA=TA
1 October 2019 kR-ZE-hAE+A-H 318,736 215,432 169,300 5,779,249 32,216,386 38,699,103
Disposals HE - - - - (29,128,735)  (29,128,735)
At 30 September 2020 R-ZB-ZEAA=1H 318,736 215,432 169,300 5,779,249 3,087,651 9,570,368

ACCUMULATED DEPRECIATION &3 E

At 1 October 2018 R=Z-N\F+A—H 318,736 215,432 169,300 6,482,197 25,096,029 32,281,694
Charge for the year AEEYH = = = 1,597,933 7,120,357 8,718,290
Eliminated on disposals HERH - - - (2,326,981) - (2,326,981
At 30 September 2019 and R-ZE-AFAA=TH

1 October 2019 R=ZE-NFE+HA-AH 318,736 215,432 169,300 5,753,149 32,216,386 38,673,003
Charge for the year KEEXH - - - 26,100 - 26,100
Eliminated on disposals HER - - - - (29,128,735)  (29,128,735)
At 30 September 2020 R-ZE-ZEFAA=T1H 318,736 215,432 169,300 5,779,249 3,087,651 9,570,368
CARRYING AMOUNT REE
At 30 September 2020 R=ZB-ZEAA=1H - - - - - -
At 30 September 2019 R-ZEB-LEAA=1A - - - 26,100 - 26,100
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

15. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 15. A RIE REREMEKRFE
RECEIVABLES
2020 2019
—E-EF —ZT-hF
Notes HK$ HK$
M aF BT BT
Prepayments, deposits and TERTFRIB - =& I H i JE IWRIE
other receivables 8,996,328 218,370
Margin receivables B W FF R 508 (a) 6,935,304 8,032,207
Prepayment on subscription RIEBFEF 2B FIE
of new bonds (b) 57,032,864 -
Amounts receivable on disposal HERE 2 ERGRIA
of investments (c) 91,595,088 132,214,176
164,559,584 140,464,753

The carrying amounts of prepayments, deposits and other
receivables at the end of the reporting period approximated
their fair values.

Notes:

(@) Margin receivables are generated from investment in financial
assets at FVTPL, with interest rates ranged from 0.001% to
0.05% (2019: 0.001% to 0.125%) per annum for the year.

(b) Upon the maturity of bonds issued by Gold Medal Hong Kong
Limited (“Gold Medal”’) on 11 September 2020, the Company
entered into a memorandum of understanding (“MOU”) to
consider the subscription (the “New Subscription”) of new bonds
of Gold Medal. As agreed by both parties, the outstanding
principal and interests amount from the aforesaid matured bonds
were treated as prepayment for the New Subscription. This
prepayment was refundable, unsecured, interest-bearing at 8%
per annum and repayable, fully or partially, at the issuance of
the new bonds of Gold Metal within two months from the date of
the MOU. The amount of prepayment was subsequently settled
within the agreed terms of the MOU.

110 E#EAIKRERAT  CAPITAL VC LIMITED

RBEMR - FANKE R REMBRRIEAZ
FREESEEARERS-

B

REAFE BAARBAABSREZMBEEER
ERTEEZ BT EREBETIEFFENT0.001E
Z0.05E (—Z— N5 :0.001EZX0.125FE )5t B -

F2BEBEARAR (2B BITNESFR-Z
“EFART-BIBER ARRBEE-—MHRR
B ([RRETE] AZESBHESNRE
FHE([FRBEER]) -LEFRE LB H
BEFOREEASRMERBARE R RBEER
MBENRA-FRBENRELSAERD EEF &
FHEGEFHE WA AR H TSR HEREA
NETEBIEFH BRI EE - FENRE
SRR SRR B T 8 10 1 S BRIR O AS0E



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

15. PREPAYMENTS, DEPOSITS AND OTHER 15. A RE REREMERRE (&)
RECEIVABLES (Continued)
Notes: (Continued) Bist: (&)
(c) The balance is represented by receivables from the purchasers (c) HHRREWATERFZHKELY:
of:
2020 2019
ZEZEF —T-hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Starfame Investments Limited EBKEBRRAA 7,367,012 8,502,084
Uni-Venture International Uni-Venture International
Investment Limited Investment Limited 16,212,292 29,978,449
34% equity interest of Kendervon Kendervon Profits Inc. 2 34% # #x
Profits Inc. 1,496,978 5,160,225
66% of Kendervon Profits Inc. (note d) Kendervon Profits Inc. 266% £z (FisEd) 62,463,198 79,039,275
Others HAb 4,055,608 9,534,143
91,595,088 132,214,176
(d) During the year ended 30 September 2019, the Company (d REBEEZZ-—NQAFAAZTHLEEE AQF
disposed of 66% equity interest in Kendervon Profits Inc., which it} & 7 Kendervon Profits Inc. 266% # 5 M
holds 30% equity interest in CNI Bullion Limited. The amount Kendervon Profits Inc. iFBF Bt F S EEFR
advanced by the Group to CNI Bullion Limited was assigned to NAIZI% R -AKERMAPEILFERERR
the purchaser upon disposal. ARAXNHBREREERERETZEF -
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

PROFIT OR LOSS

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH

16. B A

REFARSEE MBEE

Financial assets at FVTPL as at 30 September comprise: RAA=ZTHEEREARBEFABRER MK EE
BIE
2020 2019
—=EF —E-NF
Notes HK$ HK$
Braz BT BT
Fair value: NiRE
Convertible bonds derivative AMBRESITETA 4,398,568 =
Unlisted securities 3E TR 5 6,026,320 14,768,320
Listed securities held for trading BIEEE LTMHS
— listed in Hong Kong other —BEAELM (EEEERZERIIN (a)
than suspended stocks 178,069,173 227,028,786
— suspended stocks listed in Hong Kong —&B LMz EHZEERE (b) - =
188,494,061 241,797,106
Analysed as: DA
Current assets MBEE 182,467,741 227,028,786
Non-current assets ERBEE 6,026,320 14,768,320
188,494,061 241,797,106
Notes: Bt -
(@)  Included in the listed securities held for trading, which are (@) REBHBE(EBR)BREEBERAA(KOHA

listed in Hong Kong, is investment in 27,312,000 shares of
Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (stock code:
1082) at market value of HK$32,228,160 as at 30 September
2020.

(b) The amount of suspended stocks represented the shares are
uncertain to resume trading in foreseeable future.

The fair values of the Group’s unlisted bonds issued in Hong
Kong were measured using valuation techniques in which
some significant inputs are not based on observable market
data. The unlisted bonds were reclassified to the financial
assets at amortised cost upon initial application of HKFRS 9
at 1 October 2018.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE THROUGH
PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Particulars of the listed securities, which are included in the

ten largest investments of the Group held as at 30 September

2020, are as follows:

Name

%8

Hong Kong Education (Int)
Investments Limited

EAYE (AR REER
ARAT

- as at 30 September 2020

-RZB-EFAAZTH

- as at 30 September 2019

-RZB-NFAAZTH

China e-Wallet Payment
Group Limited
PEEAXNEEARAT
- as at 30 September 2020
-RZB-EFAAZTH
- as at 30 September 2019
-RIB-NFAAZTH

WLS Holdings Limited
ERERERAR

- as at 30 September 2020
-RZZZZEAAZTH
- as at 30 September 2019
-RZE-AEAAZTR

AMCO United Holding Limited
EFERBRAT

- as at 30 September 2020
-RZB-EFAAZTH
- as at 30 September 2019
-RZE-AFAAZTH

*

Notes:

Note

His#

(i)

(i)

(iv)

Place of
incorporation

ERR L5

Cayman Islands*

HEHE"

Bermuda

BRE

Cayman Islands*

HEHE"

Bermuda
BRE

Particulars of
equity interest
held

FERE
EHFE

Ordinary shares

EER

Ordinary shares

8

Ordinary shares

Ordinary shares
Bk

Continued in Bermuda with limited liability

Acquisition

cost

YR A
HK$
BT

24,685,503

10,197,984

60,903,989

60,903,989

50,169,822

50,169,822

49,740,625

49,394,019

(i)

Hong Kong Education (Int'l) Investments Limited (stock code:
1082) and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in provision
of private educational services, investment in securities and
money lending business. Net loss attributable to equity holders
of approximately HK$107 million (2019: HK$77 million) was
recognised for the year ended 30 June 2020. According to the
latest published consolidated financial statements of Hong Kong
Education (Int'l) Investments Limited as at 30 June 2020, its
net asset value attributable to equity holders was approximately
HK$108 million (2019: HK$218 million).

16. BEAREFABSEEECUBEE (#)

LHES (BER-T-SFEAASTARAEL
ARETRRER) ZHEMT :

Dividend
received Percentage
during the of equity
Unrealised years ended interest Net assets
gain/(loss) 30 September attributable to attributable to
Market value recognised 2020 and 2019 the Group the Group
BE_B-%F
R=Z-1%
ABE=tH
BERRER LEEZ  AREEARK REEES
[ Wi/ (E8) BHRE BHEEIN EERE
HKS HKS HKS
B B BT
32,228,160 7,542,657 - 4.70% 5,069,608
7,979,000 (2,218,984) - 1.84% 4,012,286
17,802,450 (43,101,539) - 4.81% 21,491,369
15,956,270 (44,947,719) - 4.81% 24,593,626
23,088,720 (27,081,102) - 4.73% 23,217,300
12,223,440 (37,946,382) - 4.73% 30,059,623
9,332,250 (40,408,375) - 3.96% 4,649,832
7,039,800 (42,354,219) - 1.47% 1,828,239

© REREGFEZABRAF
Bt :

(iy BEHE (BR)EREEEBERAA (BRHRR:
1082) R EMB AR EENR ERELAHKER
% BHEREREEEB - RBEE-_ZS_ZTFAX
A=THLFERABRESBAREEBTEA
#47107,000,0003% 7T ( —Z — fL 4 : 77,000,000
T REBEESHE (BR)RESEAERAAER
FHREZGAMBERER RZE=-ZEF~A=1+
A ERERFE ARG EEFEARK108,000,000
BT (ZZ— 1.4 : 218,000,000 7T ) °
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16. FINANCIAL ASSETS AT FAIR VALUE
THROUGH PROFIT OR LOSS (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(i)

(iii)

China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited (stock code:0802)
and its subsidiaries are principally engaged in the business of
internet and mobile’s application and related accessories and
trading of security and biometric products. Net loss attributable
to equity holders of approximately HK$75 million (2018: HK$47
million) was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019. According to the latest published consolidated financial
statements of China e-Wallet Payment Group Limited as at 30
June 2020, its net asset value attributable to equity holders was
approximately HK$447 million (2019: HK$511 million).

WLS Holdings Limited (stock code: 8021) and its subsidiaries
are principally engaged in the provision of scaffolding, fitting out
services and other services for construction and buildings work,
provision of gondolas, parapet railings and access equipment
installation, maintenance services, money lending business,
securities brokerage, margin financing, securities investment
business and assets management business. Net loss attributable
to equity holders of approximately HK$109 million (2019:
HK$52 million) was recognised for the year ended 30 April
2020. According to the latest published consolidated financial
statements of WLS Holdings Limited, as at 31 October 2020, its
net asset value attributable to equity holders was approximately
HK$491 million (2019: HK$636 million)

AMCO United Holding Limited (stock code: 630) and its
subsidiaries are principally engaged in (i) provision of
manufacture and sale of medical devices products; (ii)
manufacture and sale of plastic moulding products; (iii) provision
of construction services in building construction, building
maintenance and improvement works, project management,
renovation and decoration works; (iv) provision of money
lending; and (v) investment in securities. Net loss attributable
to equity holders of approximately HK$35 million (2018: HK$27
million) was recognised for the year ended 31 December
2019. According to the latest published consolidated financial
statements of AMCO United Holding Limited as at 30 June
2020, its net asset value attributable to equity holders was
approximately HK$117 million (2019: HK$124 million).

The Group has pledged the financial assets at FVTPL of
HK$101,821,570 (2019: HK$208,629,447) to secure the
margin payables granted to the Group.
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16. BEAREFABSEEECUBEE (#)

Kzt (%)

(i) PEELINEEAERAF (RMHANK: 0802)
REMBAREIEXASEHARTFHRERER
HEARGEBSUARTH REMEINERE S R
BE_ZT-AF+_A=1+—BLFEWRBEE
B AL E B 5 A 475,000,0008 T (=%
— V4 : 47,000,000 70) - BIEF EE X H &
BERAAGFHEZGEAMBRE RZ2F=
TEANA=TH HERESAEAERGEEIEA
#1447,000,0007% 7t ( — = — /1.4 : 511,000,000/%
JT) e

(i) EEERERAD (RMHARGK:8021) REK B
ARAIFENRFRUEEREETIEMREEER
BEERBREMBRZREREFIERS BHD
MIER HERREBREEEM 2 RERERE
fRis - EEXR FHLL FERE FHE
BEBREEEREK - RNBEE_T_ZFWA
STRLFERERREZAEABGEBREIER
#7109,000,000/% 7T ( =& — 7.4 : 52,000,000/
To) RIRERIERERARAENTIEZEENE
HBE R-_T-_TF+A=+—HB EBREBEHA
FEE & EFE HB#491,000,00087C (ZE—AF:
636,000,000 7T ) °

(ivy ERERERAE (RHNRK:630) REWER
RAIEERF()RUYEREEBEIBER (i)
BEhEEEBRRAER: () REEFEE.
BFH#ERREIR BEEEE KEREHT
RAMBERS: (VEEBRE: R(V)BHE
B-RBE-_T-—NF+_A=+—RHLFER
RIRERE A EILE 185 & £35,000,0007% T
(=2 — )\#:27,000,000/87T) - RIEEFER
ERRARSEH B ZGAUBHRR R
FRAZ+H HERBEFEABRGEEEFAEARN
117,000,000 7T ( —Z — S 4 : 124,000,000
TT) e

AEBED5101,821,5708 T (ZFE— L&
208,629,447 L) R A o BT ABZEEIE 2 B 15
BEBF EANECEEERNENITERENE
fRo
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For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

17. INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AT 17. BBERAEI R U BEERE
AMORTISED COST

2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-NE
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Investments in financial assets REHEAAINER LM BEERSE
at amortised cost 119,886,778 167,674,481

Less: Non-current assets W IEmEEE (93,661,595) (84,446,250)

Included in current assets AR BN A E 26,225,183 83,228,231

Particulars of the bonds held as at 30 September 2020, are RZEZTFNA=ZTHEHBFEZEFFHBRT:

as follows:

Acquisition Imputed Expected Carrying Coupon

Name Place of incorporation cost interest credit loss amount Fairvalue  Terms rate p.a.

%R Rk [ 3528 REANE EHEEFR REE MME HR FEER

HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
A B B B B

Hao Wen Holdings Limited Cayman Islands 30,000,000 2,332,000 (6,106,817) 26,225,183 31,200,000  From 12 January 2018 to 1%
11 January 2021

EXERERLA ReHs —2-N\§-ATZRZE
“E--%-A+-H

Gold Medal Hong Kong Limited Hong Kong 20,000,000 1,558,333 (6,458,333) 15,100,000 15,100,000  From 28 October 2019 to 8.5%
27 October 2022

SUBERBRAF ) ZZ-AF+HAZTN\RE
CEZCETACTER

Sincere Smart International Limited  British Virgin Islands 18,000,000 1,573,548 (3,697,021) 15,876,527 15,900,000  From 9 January 2020 to 12%
8 January 2023

Sincere Smart International Limited ZEEXEE ZEZZE-ANRZE
ZRZ=5-ANH

AMCO United Holding Limited Bermuda 30,000,000 2,905,479 (6,215,135) 26,690,344 28,900,000  From 12 October 2018 to 10%
11 October 2021

ERERERLA BRE “E-\FtATZHE
ZEZ-E1A+-H

VIP Credit Limited Hong Kong 25,000,000 1,500,003 (5,005,279) 21,494,724 23,800,000  From 3 January 2019 to 8%
2 January 2022

EARBERAT ) ZE-hnE-A=ZHZE
—Z--F-RA=H

Luxxu Group Limited Cayman Islands 17,000,000 1,020,000 (3,520,000) 14,500,000 14,500,000  From 31 January 2020 to 9%
30 January 2023

BEEEARAT HEHE “E-FF-fA=1-HZ
ZZZ=5-f=1H

Notes: Bt iz -

(i) Hao Wen is a company incorporated in Cayman Islands with (i) WMXE—BRHAESHSIMAIZBERAR X
limited liability and principally engaged in money lending and EREHNERETFTEHHNIREZ -EREE
processing and trading of electronic parts. It is listed on the Bt X FTGEM ki (AR 19 X 5% - 8019) o 1 & I 4%
GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code: 8019). FERABEEZBGX - REE_ZS_TFNA
There is no provision of terms in the agreement regarding early =T HIEFE - B SELF 23,300,000 7T ©

redemption rights. HK$3,300,000 interest was received from Hao
Wen for the year ended 30 September 2020.

Annual Report 2019/20 3§ 115



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

17. INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AT

AMORTISED COST (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

(ih)

(iii)

(iv)

116 EHARBIRAH

Gold Medal is a company incorporated in Hong Kong with limited
liability and principally engaged in money lending business. It
is a wholly owned subsidiary of WLS Holdings Limited which
is listed on the GEM of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock
code: 8021). According to the terms of the agreement and
subject to certain conditions, both the Group and Gold Medal
have the early redemption rights as follows:

The Group can request early redemption of the bond at 100%
of the outstanding principal amount and 50% of the outstanding
coupon.

Gold Medal can early redeem the bond at 100% of the total
amount of such bond together with any payment of interests
accrued up to the date of such early redemption. An additional
1% will be given to the Group, together with the outstanding
principal and coupon. HK$5,434,333 interest was received from
Gold Medal for the year ended 30 September 2020.

Sincere Smart is a company incorporated in BVI with limited
liability and engaged in investment holding. It's subsidiary is
principally engaged in the application software industry in Hong
Kong and the PRC specialising in information management
solutions offered as SaaS through ERP cloud platform
addressing business requirements of the retail and services
industries. There is no provision of terms in the agreement
regarding early redemption rights. HK$2,477,419 interest was
received from Sincere Smart for the year ended 30 September
2020.

AMCO is a company incorporated in Bermuda with limited liability
and principally engaged in manufacturing and selling of medical
devices and plastic moulding products, providing construction
services, money lending and securities investment. It is listed on
the Main board of the Hong Kong Stock Exchange (stock code:
630). There is no provision of terms in the agreement regarding
early redemption rights. HK$3,000,000 interest was received for
the year ended 30 September 2020.

CAPITAL VC LIMITED

17. BBERFFRZMBEERE (8)

Kzt (%)

(ih)

(iii)

(iv)

A BREBEMALZERAG TEH
EREEB -EAERERBERAA (REBH
RATGEM £ (B R5%:8021) )22 EHBA
Al BBHZEZIERRRE THREBRRT  ANEE
REBH BN TIRATERE:

REE A ERZ100% 2 REEAR S ENE50% 2
RAEERSRABEES -

SRR EHEESF ZEEN100%ERE ZEA
BB @ B AR S AS A R AT B & 55 - Y
MBERREERERZEEETAREER - NE
E-TEFNA=THLEEFE B2 BEEA
£.5,434,333F 7T °

Sincere Smart & —FEIR & B E X BT K
ZHEBRAR REREER - HWBRAREERSE
BRPBREEARRXEMFTE BRLEER
FEIEMT A BENBHEARY REENE
BRATR BATERRBEENEB T K%
HVTEFERABELEI B -REE_Z =%
FNA=FTHIEFE " BSincere Smart EF S
2,477,419/ 7T °

EXA—BMREREFMAIZERAR £
NERERHEBERIBREBREAER R
BIERE MERBHFRE -HREBHIAMER
E (B R5R - 630) o 1k I £ A B4 Al & 2 4
ZEREX-RBEE-_T-_TFAA=THLEFE K
EX# £.3,000,0007% 7T ©
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17. INVESTMENTS IN FINANCIAL ASSETS AT

AMORTISED COST (Continued)
Notes: (Continued)

v)

(vi)

VIP is a private company limited by shares and principally
engaged in money lending business. According to the terms of
agreement and subject to certain conditions, VIP have the early
redemption rights as follows:

VIP can early redeem the bond, with the principal and the
accrued interests as at redemption date, before maturity date
with a 5 business days notice. HK$2,000,001 was received from
VIP for the year ended 30 September 2020.

Luxxu Group Limited is a company incorporated in Cayman
Islands with limited liability and principally engaged in (i) design
and sales of prestige and high-end watches and accessories;
(ii) design, production and assembly of watches for OEM
customers; and (iii) manufacture and sales of own brands
watches. It is listed on the Main Board of the Hong Kong Stock
Exchange (stock code: 1327). There is no provision of terms in
the agreement regarding early redemption rights. HK$1,020,000
interest was received for the year ended 30 September 2020.

18. CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

Cash and cash equivalents in the consolidated statement of
cash flows as at 30 September 2020 were HK$16,843,374
(2019:HK$26,045,002), carrying interest at prevailing market
rates.

19.

17.

18.

BRBEBAIRZMBEERE (&)
Kzt (%)

(V) BAR—BARABRDARABALREIEZNEREE
B RBHRGEHERETIRHERRT BAEN
TIRFEE A

FAFAREH AR EHSEE XA BAMIRRBEE
#(CERRNER AR ZAS REAMNE) - REBE
—ECZFEAA=TRLEFE BRAKRDAE
2,000,001 7T °

(vi) BBNEEARARA—MRARASHESEMA I
BERABIREERB()RTRBEERERHF&
KB (i) ROEME PRt £ERAEF&:
i WiEREEEERE HREBHIER
Em (B ARSE:1327) T BEBIRATER
BB -RBE_ZE-_TFEAA=TAHILEFE"
U B %1 £.1,020,0007%8 7T °

ReRESEEY
RZE_ZEFNAZTHZEABESRERAN
HeRRESEEYH16,843,374B L (=T — 1
% 126,045,002 7T) F FRBITHISFI RS -

OTHER PAYABLES AND ACCRUALS 19. HENRERESEH
2020 2019
—E_EF —E—NF
HK$ HK$
7T T
Margin payables FE 1 77 R 208 23,710,871 21,480,019
Accruals EETER 4,498,218 7,401,067
28,209,089 28,881,086

Margin payables bear interest rates ranged from 8% to 10%

(2019: 8% to 10%) per annum for the year. The margin

payables are secured by financial assets at FVTPL, repayable

on demand and are guaranteed by the Company on behalf of

a subsidiary.

RAFE - B FRRIBIES R XN F8EZE10
B(ZZE—NEF:8EE10E):t B - ENTFREXK
BIHEEAARBABRER WK EEFIER
REREREEETHAANQRREKNBRQAED
E{R o
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20. CONVERTIBLE BONDS 20. TRRARES

The Company issued 100% of the principal amount of the
Convertible bonds at HK$13,500,000 on 1 September 2020
(after trading hours). The convertible bonds are denominated
in Hong Kong dollars. The bonds entitle the holders to
convert them into ordinary shares of the Company at any time
between the date of issue of the bonds and their settlement
date on the third anniversary of the date of issue of the
Convertible bonds at a conversion price of HK$0.25 per
conversion share.

The Convertible Bonds are freely transferable by the
convertible bonds holder(s) in whole amounts or multiples of
units of principal amount of the Minimum Denomination to any
person, provided that no transfer of the Convertible Bonds to
any connected person.

The Company shall be entitled to redeem the Convertible
bonds at 102% of the face value of the Convertible bonds
prior to the Maturity Date and at 100% of the face value of the
Convertible bonds on the Maturity Date.

In the event that the Company gives notice of redemption
and receives a notice of conversion under the Convertible
bonds on the same date (regardless of the time), the notice of
redemption shall take priority against the notice of conversion.

The holders of the Convertible Bonds may not early redeem
the Convertible Bonds in any event.

Interest of 1.0% will be paid annually up until the maturity or
redemption date.
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ARAM_FT_FTFAA-R(XZHRIE)E
17100% 7 #2 B {5 % » X & ¥8 413,500,000/ 7T
AMEESRETHE - BFRTESE AR
REFZETHEGER (IRBREHBTRB=
BFZB)BRIZBRE SRR, 0.25% T -
HRBRARAR LB

AREEFIREREEERNSR 25 NEHH
TMBRESFHBEABBRERTENAL  ETT
FEMBEEALTERTRERES -

AABEAERE B AR RRE 5 EEN
102% K 70 2 B B 32 7] #2 (& 25 E{E #9100% &
Bl AT AR (B 55

fMARRRREAB (TmREE) 3L ED BN RIK
FAMRERIR T 2GR BIAE EE ML
P4 8 A e ©

ARBEFFEAREABATAGREEERD A

B E S
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20. CONVERTIBLE BONDS (Continued)
At initial recognition, the convertible bonds contain
components, equity component,

derivative component.

three

debt component and
The equity component of the

convertible bonds was separated from the liability and

derivative component. The equity element is presented in

equity heading “convertible bonds equity reserve”. The debt
component and derivative (the early redemption options)
component initially measured at fair value. The effective
interest rate of the debt component is 2.9%. The derivative
component is measured at fair value with changes in fair

value recognised in profit or loss.

The movement of the debt and derivative components
convertible bonds for the year is set out as below:

of the

20.

EHE“HQF%(%E)

%B &1J$I,\u|3 :1 =
= E o A ERITET AL,
RiEZEANE25 A [ RRESHE
vl ﬁilﬂ(kiﬁm@ LR VIBIER
RAER DZ&’%'J%F_’;ZQ%D@TE
AR ERBNIERER

DY

REENBRRESFHNEBRITETAES D 2 &8
AT

Derivative Debt

component component

TTEIAERSD BRI

HK$ HK$

BT BT

As at 1 September 2020 RZZE-_ZEFHA—H 4,305,214 12,762,750
Interest charge MEBA - 19,593
Gain arising on changes of fair value AREZPHELEHKR 93,354 =
As at 30 September 2020 RZE_ETFNA=1+H 4,398,568 12,782,343
Binomial valuation model is used for valuation of the METEFS 2 HEFAZBEXNGERN - ZIE

derivative component. The key inputs used in the model are

disclosed in note 30(b).

N FTF R E 28 A BUEH EE R KT EE30(b) ©
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21.

22.

SHARE CAPITAL

21. BR&

Number of

ordinary shares Number of

of HKD0.025  ordinary shares
each of HKD0.25 each Share capital
SREE SREE
0.0258 T2 0.25/ 1t
EERYE EERYE B
HK$
BT
Authorised: EE
At 1 October 2018, 30 September 2019, RZE-N\F+A—RH —E-NF
1 October 2019 and 30 September 2020 NR=+B ZZ2-AE+A-BR
—T-ZFENA=FA 8,000,000,000 200,000,000,000
Issued and fully paid: BETRAR:
At 1 October 2018 and 30 September 2019 RZE-NE+A-BK
—E-NEAAZTH 2,754,882,496 68,872,062
Share consolidation (Note) W&o (fri) (2,754,882,496) 275,488,249 =
At 30 September 2020 RZEZZTENA=TH - 275,488,249 68,872,062

Note: The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
the Capital VC Limited (the “Company”) implemented the
Share Consolidation on the basis that every ten(10) issued
and unissued Existing Shares of HK$0.025 each will be
consolidated into one consolidated share of HK$0.25 each
were approved, with effect from 14 July 2020.

SHARE OPTION SCHEME

The existing share option scheme of the Company was
approved and adopted by shareholders’ resolution at the
annual general meeting held on 10 December 2013 (the
“Option Scheme”), unless otherwise cancelled or amended
subject to resolution passed at general meeting of the
Company the Option Scheme will remain in force for ten
years from 10 December 2013. As at 30 September 2020,
the remaining life of the Option Scheme was approximately
3 years and 3 months. Detail of the Option Scheme are
disclosed in the Report of the Directors.
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B BEBARAERAR([ARARDEE([E#F])E
(TEEg ) ERzBRNAH REEKE+(10)
RERMEEC.025B T 2B HITRABTRAR
HattRs—REREME2ETZAMHKNE
EHE B2 _TFLATHBAER

22. B ESTE

ARABZBRERBEEFEENR_F—=F1+-A
THEEITZERBFAE LERRRBRMLER
Ry ([BREEL)  BRIERTREAARBRERK
TLBBREARTHIER T RBREES
BE-E-—=Ft-_AtHBHTFRA—EBR-
RIBZZEFNA=1TH BREFEOFRSE
HOR=F=EA FHEBREFINFHER
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

22. BRERE (@)

Share options granted during the year ended 30
September 2019

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Capital VC Limited (the “Company”) announces that on
13 February 2019 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted
a total of 165,000,000 share options (the “Share Options”)
to certain Directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Grantees”), in accordance
with the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
of the Company adopted on 10 December 2013, subject to
acceptance by the Grantees. The Share Options entitle the
Grantees to subscribe for a total of 165,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.025 each in the capital of the Company (the
“Share(s)”). Details of the Share Options are set out below:

The fair value of the share options granted on 13 February
2019, the Date of Grant, determined using the Binomial
Pricing Model, was HK$1,875,500. The key inputs into the

BE-Z-NFhAA=ZTHLEFEZRHBERE

BHERERAR([A2RNESE([EE])E
([EEg)ah RZEBE—AE-A+=8 (&
LR AARRBRARARARZZE—=F+=
AT BRMABRETE ([BRES]) A
RAIREMBRARAIZETESEREES (R
®ALD)FEE A $£165,000,00017 5 B (35 A%
) WARERAEZEN -BRERTERAR
REA QAR AF TR EE.025/% T2 ¥ L |
A% (TR ))& $£165,000,0000% = # F| - §# & 42
FEIBESIAN T

BFEEMERER-_Z—NALE_A+=8 (&
HEBMIZ2AAEER_EATEERET A
1,875,500 L - —IHAN EEEX B E B AHIE

Binomial Pricing Model are as follows

Date of Grant :
- quip=p -t

Exercise price of Share Options granted :

BREBRENTTEE:

Number of Share Options granted :

BhBREOSE -

Close price of the Shares
on the Date of Grant :

AR H R RO K IE :

Validity period of the Share Options
granted :

BB A

mE

13 February 2019
—E-hhFEZA+=HR

HK$0.037 per Share (which is the highest of: (i) the closing price of
HK$0.037 per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the Date of Grant; (ii) the average closing price of
HK$0.034 per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share i.e. HK$0.025)

BRI 150.037B T (A T I&REE : () RONK L BHRBRZAELOT R R
BRAIIOKTEFR0.037B T (i) ROM BHEK L B HAT R EE %2R
RATEENE A RERMAIN T YT EFAR0.03478 7T+ K (i) iR E1E - B
0.025% 7T)

165,000,000 Share Options (each Share Option will entitle the holder of the
Share Option to subscribe for one new Share)

165,000,0001) BE AR #E (G — BRI TERERE ARE — RO &
M)

HK$0.037 per Share

B 0.0377E T

From 13 February 2019 to 12 February 2020, both days inclusive

B-ZEZ-NAE-_A+=RE-E-TFE_A+ A (BEEERX)

Annual Report 2019/20 E3§ 121



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)
Share options granted during the year ended 30

22. BRERE (@)
BEZZFE-NAFRA=ZTHLFEZRE

September 2019 (Continued) B E)

Exercise period of the Share Options From 13 May 2019 to 12 February 2020, both days inclusive
granted :

BB R TR A BN FRA+ZHE-Z-_ZF_A+-H (BEEERX)

Consideration for the grant : HK$1.00 to paid by each Grantee upon acceptance of the Share Options

RHERE: 1 E 2 T IR A PO B A B AR By 2 51,0078 T

Expected volatility : 81.637%

T8 HA R i@ 81.637%

Expected dividend yield : 0%

TREARR Bl = 0%

Risk-free rate : 1.379%

R B A 1.379%

Vesting condition : None

5 B M5 A n

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 1
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,
based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of
non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral
considerations.

As at 30 September 2020, all share options granted during
the year ended 30 September 2019 were lapsed.

122 E#EIRAERAT  CAPITAL VC LIMITED

EHREDRABEFRARB 2 RNDEBRZBE
RIEMEE - RAPARABARFHE AT ATEE
TERHRITREBZZEREEEREMTA

o

RZBZZEFAA=TH BE_Z-AFNA
StHtRLEFERBZABBREDD AR
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued)

22. BRERE (@)

Share options granted during the year ended 30
September 2020

The board (the “Board”) of directors (the “Director(s)”) of
Capital VC Limited (the “Company”) announces that on 13
February 2020 (the “Date of Grant”), the Company granted
a total of 220,000,000 share options (the “Share Options”)
to certain Directors and employees of the Company and its
subsidiaries (collectively, the “Grantees”), in accordance
with the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”)
of the Company adopted on 10 December 2013, subject to
acceptance by the Grantees. The Share Options entitle the
Grantees to subscribe for a total of 220,000,000 new ordinary
shares of HK$0.025 each in the capital of the Company (the
“Share(s)”). Details of the Share Options are set out below:

The fair value of the share options granted on 13 February
2020, the Date of Grant, determined using the Binomial
Pricing Model, was HK$2,106,500. The key inputs into the

BE-_Z_ZEFhA=THLEFEZRY
i iz A
BHMAKRARAR (AR ESE([EF])g
([B=e)s5h R-Z-_F=-A+=8 (%
LA ARRRBRAATNRZZT—=F+=
A+tARMERESS ([EREASE A
REIMEWNBARIZETESRKREE (KT8 &
®ADEE A $£220,000,00017 88 J& i ([ 8RR
) HBERERAZEA-BRERTERAT
REARABRAREREE0.025F T2 M ER
i (B 15 1) & £220,000,0000% = # F| - B &% 42
FEHNOT

EHMERER-_Z-_ZTE_A+=80 (%
LRI 2 AABEFER_EATEERNET A
2,106,500/ 7L - —IEA EEE N E E & A BIK

Binomial Pricing Model are as follows:

Date of Grant:

REHH:

Exercise price of Share Options granted:

REBREITEE

Number of Share Options granted:

REBRENEE

LN

13 February 2020
—E-EF-_A+=H

HK$0.025 per Share (which is the highest of: (i) the closing price of
HK$0.025 per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange on the Date of Grant; (ii) the average closing price of
HK$0.025 per Share as stated in the daily quotation sheets issued by the
Stock Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the Date of
Grant; and (iii) the nominal value of the Share i.e. HK$0.025)

BRR70.0258 T (AT &ESE: (VRPAREHBERBERAELNETBER
BRATYHWTESRR0.0258 T (i) RHNEERE AR5 EE 2B RBR
Freg /& BME R F KT ESRR0.0257%8 7T K& (iii) R D E{E - B10.025
HBIT)

220,000,000 Share Options (each Share Option will entitle the holder of the
Share Option to subscribe for one new Share)

220,000,000 B (B — DB ERE THRERFE ARE — BRI KM
)
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 22 B RESTE (&)
Share options granted during the year ended 30 BE-_ZTE-_ZTHFNA=1THLFEZEH
September 2020 (Continued) B E)

Close price of the Shares on
the Date of Grant:

R AR R KT IE :

Validity period of the Share

HK$0.025 per Share*

TR A% 170.0257% 7T *

From 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022, both days inclusive

Options granted:

B HBRER A S B -ZF _A+=ZHE_T-__F-_A+-H(BEEHEEMX)

Exercise period of the Share Options From 13 February 2020 to 12 February 2022, both days inclusive
granted:

REBRENTES: BE-Z-_TF_A+=ZHE-ZT-__F-_A+-H (BEEEMX)

Consideration for the grant: HK$1.00 to be paid by each Grantee upon acceptance of the Share Options

RHERE: 1% BB IE R A PR VBB A IS (91,008 7T
Expected volatility: 77.125%

TEHRIR NG - 77.125%

Expected dividend yield: 0%

TERARR B X 0%

Risk-free rate: 1.457%

R E: 1.457%

Vesting condition: None

55 B 51T s

BHEBIORBEFRARB ZBOERZBE
RIEMEE - RAPARBEAFHE AT TEE
TERHRITREBZZEREEE&EMETA

based on management’s best estimate, for the effects of o

Expected volatility was determined by using the historical
volatility of the Company’s share price over the previous 1
year. The expected life used in the model has been adjusted,

non-transferability, exercise restrictions and behavioral
considerations.
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22. SHARE OPTION SCHEME (Continued) 22 B RESTE (&)
Details of the share options granted and summary of BRIFERETEIENREBE_TE_EFNLALFER
movements of the outstanding share options for the year HBrEREFBERARTEBERECZHHESH
ended September 2020 under the Share Option Scheme are FaAT
as follow:
Number of Number of
Number of Number of Number of options options held
options held options options cancelled/ Impact arisen as at
Exercise asat  granted during exercised during lapsed during from share 30 September
Category Date of Grant Price Option Period 1 October 2019 the Period the Period the Period  consolidation* 2020
RZB-nE RZB-%f
tH-H APBARL REBRTE  AHERESE/ BB& % hA=tH
£ RHBH fEE BREAR FsRREYR ZBREZE ZBREHE XYZEBREHA EENEE  FEBREYR
Director
f
Mr. Kong Fanpeng 13 February 2019 HK$0.037 One year from
date of grant 27,500,000 - - (27,500,000) - -
LABEE —Z-nE 0.037#T  ERLBHE-F
ZA+=AR
13 February 2020 HK$0.25* Two years from date
of grant - 27,500,000 - - (24,750,000) 2,750,000
—32%% 0.258 7" ERLBHERE
ZA+=AR
Mr. Chan Cheong Yee 13 February 2019 HK$0.037 One year from
date of grant 27,500,000 - - (27,500,000) - -
RERLE —E-nF 00378  BERLBHE-F
—R+=AR
13 February 2020 HK$0.25* Two years from date
of grant - 27,500,000 - - (24,750,000) 2,750,000
Z3-%% 0.25%* BRI BBERE
—R+=AR
Employee 13 February 2019 HK$0.037 One year from
date of grant 110,000,000 - - (110,000,000) - -
B2 —Z-NF 0.037%  EREAHE-F
—A+=H
13 February 2020 HK$0.25* Two years from date
of grant - 165,000,000 - - (148,500,000) 16,500,000
23 0.2587* BRI A RERE
—A+=H
Total
@it 165,000,000 220,000,000 - (165,000,000) (198,000,000) 22,000,000
*  All share options granted on 13 February 2020 were adjusted, * ROFZFFCAFZHRHZHEERE R
based on the share consolidation for every ten (10) issued and BRZFE-ZFFLA+IALAIZEFF(10) R
unissued then existing shares were consolidated into one (1) ENERHTRABITEAERGEHA—(1)REVF
consolidated shares in effect on 14 July 2020, and the exercise BRHZRGEHAETHE RiDE GFENFEBR
price of the share options upon share consolidation in effect BITEERE 5025 -

changed to HK$0.25.
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23.

eV IRRMEE

TEFENRA=THIEE

NET ASSET VALUE PER SHARE

On 14 July 2020, the Company implemented a share
consolidation on the basis that every ten (10) issued and
unissued then existing shares were consolidated into one (1)
consolidated share.

The calculation of net asset value per share is based on the
net asset value of the Group as at 30 September 2020 of
HK$448,670,719 (2019:HK$547,126,356) and on the number
of 275,488,249 ordinary shares of HK$0.25 each in issue as
at 30 September 2020 (2019: 2,754,882,496 ordinary shares
of HK$0.025 each).

In the course of preparation of this report, the decrease in
value of the Group’s unlisted investments by HK$8,742,000,
which was included in net unrealised loss on financial assets
at FVTPL, and net expected credit loss on financial assets
at amortised cost and deposits and other receivables of
HK$40,664,498, were made with reference to independent
valuation reports. The valuation reports were obtained
by the Company after 15 October 2020, the date of the
Company’s announcement titled “Net Asset Value” (the
“NAV Announcement”). Accordingly, the aforesaid losses
substantially led to the decrease in the net asset value
per share of the Company as at 30 September 2020 from
HK$1.8249 as stated in the NAV Announcement to HK$1.63
as stated in this report.

23.

BREEFE

R-Z-_ZE+A+WE ARAERE+(10)R
EHERTRABITRAEBRBAMA—(1)EA
PR AR 2 AT MR 4 O -

BREEFEDNBRBEASER_Z_TF 1A
=+ B 2B EFE448,670,7198 L (T — A
547,126,356 B L) KR ZZE_ZTF A=+
H 2275,488,249/% & iR E H0.25/%8 7T 2 B 17T
L@ (—F — L4 :2,754,882,496 8 B I B
0.0258 Tz MR )& -

REBEARRER  AEEIFLTREEERD
8,742,000 T (R BT ARAA B ABZE
BBV EERSREEBRIFE) A RIZE#HEK
RYEZ B EERIES RE b EUGRIE 2 T8 H
ZEEE 1B /F 540,664,498 B L &2 E B HE
FEEE RATAR_E-_ZTFE+A+HA (K
RAIBEFEIRAS([EEFERE])AH)
EEMERS AL EABEEEEHAR
AR E-_ZTFNA=ZTAZBRBRHEERE
HEEFEQXAEM27181.82498 TR > E AR
HhRrit 2 1.638 7T °

24. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES 2. BEATRBERS
TRANSACTIONS
(a) Related parties transactions (a) BFAEALRS
In addition to those disclosed in other sections of the BRiEGmeVBRREAMESESERESEIN
consolidated financial statements, the Group entered into REAREBEHBAEATETZIRSMT:
the following transaction with connected party during the
year:
2020 2019
—EB-EF —ZE-NF
Note HK$ HK$
b &t BT & TT
China Everbright Securities (HK) Limited FEX AES (F8)BRAF]
(“CES”) (THExXR])
— Investment management fee paid - BN REEESE (i) 600,000 600,000
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24. RELATED AND CONNECTED PARTIES
TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Related parties transactions (Continued)
Notes:

(i) CES is an investment manager of the Company and
considered as a connected person under 14A.08 of
Chapter 21 of the Listing Rules. Pursuant to an investment
agreement (“CES Agreement”) dated 29 December 2017
entered into between the Company and CES, CES agreed
to provide the Company with investment management
services (excluding general administrative services)
commencing from 1 January 2018. Pursuant to its terms,
CES Agreement is renewable automatically for successive
periods of three years each upon expiry unless terminated
by either party serving not less than three months’ prior
notice in writing to the other party. Currently the monthly
investment advisory fee is HK$50,000. There will be
no performance fee payable to CES under the CES
Agreement.

(b) Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of directors, who are also members of
key management, during the year ended 30 September
2020 and 2019 was as follows:

24, HEATRBEXRS (#)

(a)

(b)

BMEALRS (#)
HaE:

(i) FEXRABERRABZEEERA URIEL
MHRAFE21ZEF14A.086 R B — AR E
AT BEARFEFRBEANXKITZIAHAZ
E—tHF+ A+ NBZEREGH([H
A AHpE]) FEEARKRAEHE=2Z—N\F
—A—ARMAQRREHEEEERY (—
MATERTSBRIN) o B AR EARE - PRI K1
FERERSEBEN=F HEN—FA
MBE—FELETPR=ZEAZERE@AN
FUKIE-REG AIREFERME A50,000%8
ToRBRBEXKRBE SR EXK
X RBEE -

FTEEBEABZME
REBEZT_EFR=ZZF-NFNLA=TF
HEFE REEFRETEEEEREZA
BZMEmT:

2020 2019

—E-ZF —T-hF

HK$ HK$

7T & TT

Short-term benefits G HRAE A 1,388,000 1,260,000
Share-based payment VAR A7 B B2 2 4 5k 522,500 621,500
1,910,500 1,881,500

The remuneration of directors and key executives is
determined by the remuneration committee having regard
to the performance of individuals and market trends.

In the opinion of the independent non-executive directors,
the above related party transactions were entered into in
the ordinary and usual course of the Group’s business on
normal commercial terms and were in accordance with
the terms of the arrangements governing the transactions
that were fair and reasonable and in the interests of the
shareholders of the Company as a whole.

EERTIBETBABRZME D AFMER
E2REMALZRARTSBEEE -

BUFRTEFRE CABEALIRS
PRAEBEHAEREX BB RS
—BEBERTIRESTEEABR S
Y 2GR MAEBEREATARE 8
HERDRRRE BRI
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25.

26.

128 EHARBRAF

B REERAR A

E-F-TFAASTHLEE

PLEDGED OF ASSETS 25. EEEH
As at the year end, the Group had pledged the following RER REBDEFPTINEEIERENFRK
assets to secure the margin payables: 827 R
2020 2019
—E-EF —T-hF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets at FVTPL RARB N EaRE WBEE 101,821,570 208,629,447
RETIREMENT BENEFIT SCHEME 26. R IKEFI 5 &

The Group operates a defined contribution MPF Scheme
under the Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for
those employees who are eligible to participate in the MPF
Scheme. Contributions are made based on a percentage of
the employee’s basic salaries and are charged to profit or
loss as they become payable in accordance with the rules
of the MPF Scheme. The assets of the MPF Scheme are
held separately from those of the Group in an independently
administered fund. The Group’s employer contributions vest
fully with the employees when contributed into the MPF
Scheme.

The total cost charged to the consolidated statement of
profit or loss of HK$74,300 (2019: HK$58,900) represents
contributions payable to the schemes by the Group in respect
of the current financial year.

CAPITAL VC LIMITED

AEERBERFMEAESFAEGISAERSHE
BEDFHEZEERY —ATEENRERE -
HRDREREZEXRFE 2B DL E LR
BRBESFE RN BN AEREAME-
LRI EER —EREUERESRHE
HBAEEZEENRBRE AEBZRBRIHFIR
mREL BRI B ERERMA -

RiEEBRERNBZEKA74,3008 T (==
—NF 58,9008 L) B AKBE R AMBKFEE R
ZEREEMNZHR
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27. PRINCIPAL SUBSIDIARIES 27. TENMB A A
Details of the principal subsidiaries held by the Company as RZEZZEFRZZTE-NAFHALA=TRH K27
at 30 September 2020 and 2019 are as follows: e ETEMBRARZHBOT:
Place of
incorporation/ Issued share Percentage of
Class of registration and and fully paid equity attributable to
Name shares held  operations share capital the Company Principal activities
MR BT BERTRG ADRELRL
£ FEROERN REXBE RBERAE REBEDL TEEY
Directly Indirectly
E# i #%
Concolor Holdings Limited Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% — Investment holding
Concolor Holdings Limited EER BEELEE /B ES 100% - RERER
Ethnocentric Investment Limited Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% — Investment holding
Ethnocentric Investment Limited 3 i fi% KBELES /BB 1% 100% - REER
Like Capital Limited Ordinary Hong Kong HK$3 - 100% Investments of listed
securities, unlisted
securities and unlisted
bonds in Hong Kong
BEEXRBARAT R BB 3BT - 100% RERBEBZ FMHES-
FEEMESRFELD
&%
Huge Energy Holdings Limited  Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% — Investment holding
REERARAT Bk HERTEE /T (EV 100% - RERERK
Smart Able Holdings Limited Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% — Investment holding
BRERARAT Bk RERTEE /B (Ev 100% - RERERK
Extra One Investments Limited  Ordinary BVI/Hong Kong US$1 100% - Investment holding
Extra One Investments Limited %3 RBRAES/BH (E 100% - BEER
The above table lists the subsidiaries of the Group which, ERINEARFEZEERRBEIEVELNEBERSK
in the opinion of the directors of the Company, principally BEZALEBENBAR - BEZRAHHEMEB
affected the results or assets of the Group. To give details of ANEFE BLERERBES LK

other subsidiaries would, in the opinion of the directors, result
in particulars of excessive length.
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28. OPERATING LEASE COMMITMENTS

The Group as lessee

The Group leases its offices under operating lease

arrangements.

At 30 September 2019, the Group had commitments for future
minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating

leases which fall due as follows:

28.

REBENERE
FEEERARA
REEERORE AEEREETHAE-

RZZBE-—NAFNA=Z+TRH ANEERUATHRBE
TR G E O ER R 2 HRRE R AEN
T

2019
—NF
HK$
BT
Within one year —F R 133,100
29. CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT 29. EXRE e EE

The Group manages its capital to ensure that entities in
the Group will be able to continue as a going concern while
maximising the return to stakeholders through the optimisation
of the debt and equity balance. The Group’s overall strategy

remains unchanged from prior period.

The capital structure of the Group consists of debts, which
included margin payables as disclosed in Note 19, convertible
bonds as disclosed in Note 20 and equity attributable to
equity holder of the Company, comprising issued share capital

and reserves.
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29.

30.

CAPITAL RISK MANAGEMENT (Continued) 29.

The directors of the Company review the capital structure
on an annual basis. As part of this review, the directors
consider the cost of capital and risks associated with each
class of capital. Based on recommendations of the directors,
the Group will balance its overall capital structure through
payment of dividends, issue of debentures, new share issue
and share buy-back.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 30.

(a) Financial instruments
(i) Categories of financial instruments

EXEARERE (&)

ARREEFEFRVNEARARB -HETRAR
EXZSEREAKRARBERNERZHERAR -
REEEZEFH AEESEBRNKRE BT
Br BITHREBORONTEEEREARAR

B

$@MIA
(a) @I A

() &MIAZHEE

2020 2019
—E-EHE —E-NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Financial assets BKEE
Financial assets at FVTPL RAAREBEFAEZREBECHBEEE 188,494,061 241,797,106
Financial assets at amortised cost REHEREIEZHKEE
Investment in financial assets 1R 5 R AN 51 BR
at amortised cost ZHBEERE 119,886,778 167,674,481
Other receivables H b e W FKIE 163,270,977 140,246,383
Cash and cash equivalents HeRIREeEEY 16,843,374 26,045,002
300,001,129 333,965,866
488,495,190 575,762,972
Financial liability 8= R
Financial liability REHERAKIER
at amortised cost ZHBAaRE
Other payables H b &~ 7008 28,209,089 28,881,086
Convertible bonds A] A% (& 55 12,783,343 =
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

(i) Financial risk management objectives and policies

The Group’s major financial instruments include
financial assets at FVTPL, investments in financial
assets at amortised cost, other receivables,
cash and cash equivalents, other payables and
convertible bonds. Details of these financial
instruments are disclosed in the respective
notes. The risks associated with these financial
instruments include market risk (currency risk, other
price risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and
liquidity risk.

The policies on how to mitigate these risks are set
out below. The management manages and monitors
these exposures to ensure appropriate measures
are implemented on a timely and effective manner.

Currency risk

The Group’s financial assets and financial liabilities
are substantially denominated in Hong Kong dollar.
Accordingly, the management considers the foreign
exchange risk to the Group is not significant.

Other price risk

The Group’s financial assets at FVTPL (2019: financial
assets at FVTPL) are measured at fair value at end of
the reporting period. Therefore, the Group is exposed to
security price risk. Management manages this exposure
by maintaining a portfolio of investments with different
risk profiles.

The sensitivity analyses below have been determined
based on the exposure to equity price risks at the
reporting date.
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30. £ WMIT A (@)
(a) £MIE (@)
(i) MEEBREEEERKS

AEBZFESHIABRERANE
FAABREE WK EE RHHERE
SR B ERE b EUWOR
RehkBReEEY HMERNFEBERA
BREF - ZFETRIAZFRERSE
BZHERE 2SR TARBZRA
REEmEER(E¥ER- HWER
R kMEXERE) EERBRNMREDE
TR -

TXEINMAREZERBRZBEE
BEEENEEZSRRIAEREE
ME BB RBUEE B

ExmEmRE
AEBZMBEEERMBABBBRE D N
BLtE-Ait EEERRAEE AL
ZONER BRI NEK o

Rt B 1% /7 B
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30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)
Other price risk (Continued)
In respect of financial assets at FVTPL (2019: financial
assets at FVTPL), the following table demonstrates the
impact on loss after tax, other comprehensive income
and equity if the price had been 5% (2019: 5%) higher/

30 @M T A (&)
(a) =M T A (4)

Bt B 1% /7 B% ()

BRERARBEFABZRBE HMEEENS (=
E-NF ROAEFABRREZVBE
E) TRERMER LA TE% (ZF
— N 5%) HHEBEEE Kb EmkaE

lower. Rz ZE-
Carrying Decrease/
amount of increase Increase/
equity/debt in loss decrease in
investments after tax equity
BA& & &5 180/ 2> IR 2
REZREE e v 2m, mL
HK$ HK$ HK$
Vi Vi Vi
2020 —EZEHF
Financial assets at FVTPL BARBEFAEREEREZ
TS EE
— unlisted securities —JELTES 6,026,320 251,599 251,599
— listed securities — Fm#ES 178,069,173 7,434,388 7,434,388
Carrying Decrease/
amount of increase Increase/
equity/debt in loss decrease in
investments after tax equity
% 1%
WA, &7 5 18Rk > AR A
KREZEHEE e v B,
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
2019 —E-NF
Financial assets at FVTPL BEAnBE ABRREZ
M EE
— unlisted securities —FLETHES 14,768,320 616,577 616,577
— listed securities — &S 227,028,786 9,478,452 9,478,452
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30 @M T A (&)
(a) =M T A (4)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

Other price risk (Continued)

The sensitivity analysis indicates the instantaneous
change in the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated
losses) and other components of consolidated equity that
would arise assuming that the changes in the market
price or other relevant risk variables had occurred at
the end of the reporting period and had been applied to
remeasure those financial instruments held by the Group
which expose the Group to price risk at the end of the
reporting period.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk relates to the risk that the fair value or
cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate because
of changes in market interest rates.

The Group is exposed to fair value interest rate risk for
changes in market interest rates through its investments
in debt securities. The Group is also exposed to cash
flow interest rate risk in relation to variable rate bank
balances, margin receivables and payables. The Group
aims at keeping borrowings at variable rates. The Group
manages its interest rate exposures by assessing
the potential impact arising from any interest rate
movements based on interest rate level and outlook. The
management will review the interest rates and ensure
they are within reasonable range.
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Bt B 1% /7 B% ()
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

The following table indicates the instantaneous change
in the Group’s loss after tax (and accumulated losses)
that would arise if to which the Group has significant
exposure at the end of the reporting period had changed
at that date, assuming all other risk variables remained
constant.

Sensitivity analysis

30 @M T A (&)
(a) =M T A (4)

FEm b (&)

TR RAREEORE & EE (R ER)
A kB R RS RAEEARR D
BHERZALREBMELHDELD (B
RFARGEAREHTE) -

&
EUI
X
RSN
=

2020 2019

—g-%F “2-hE
Increase/(decrease) Loss after tax  Increase/(decrease) Loss after tax
in market  and accumulated in market and accumulated
interest rate losses interest rate losses
[ELilES BRE&ER i 5 | BH%ER
R/ (FH) REER A/ (T#) REGER
HK$ HK$
B B
Margin receivables JEY R 78 0.5% 28,955 0.5% 33,534
-0.5% (28,955) -0.5% (33,534)
Margin payables ENHFRIE 0.5% 98,993 0.5% 89,679
-0.5% (98,993) 0.5% (89.679)
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

30 @M T A (&)
(a) =M T A (4)

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

Interest rate risk (Continued)

Sensitivity analysis (Continued)

Results of the analysis as presented in the above table
represent an aggregation of the instantaneous effects
on each of the Group entities’ loss after tax and equity
measured by respective financial instruments on interest
rate at the end of the reporting period for presentation
purposes.

The sensitivity analysis assumes that the change in
interest rates had been applied to re-measure those
financial instruments held by the Group which expose
the Group to interest rate risk at the end of the reporting
period. The analysis is performed on the same basis for
2019.

As 30 September 2020 and 2019, some interest-bearing
other receivables are bore at fixed interest rate.
Management considers the exposure to the changes in
market interest rate should not be materially enough to
cause adverse financial effect on the Group’s position.

Credit risk

The Group’s maximum exposure to credit risk in the
event of the counterparties failure to perform their
obligations as at 30 September 2020 and 2019 in
relation to each class of financial assets is the carrying
amount of those assets as stated in the consolidated
statement of financial position. In order to minimise the
credit risk, the Group regularly reviews the recoverable
amount of each individual financial assets at the end of
the reporting period to ensure that adequate impairment
losses are made for irrecoverable amounts. In this
regard, the directors of the Company consider that the
Group’s credit risk is significantly reduced.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

30. R T A (&)

(a) =M T A (4)

Credit risk (Continued)

The Group has concentration risk as 38% (2019: 56%)
and 89% (2019: 91%) of the total other receivables was
due from the largest counterparty and the 5 (2019: 4)
largest counterparties respectively as at the end of the
reporting period.

The credit risk on cash at banks is limited because the
counterparties are banks with high credit ratings.

The Group invested in bonds issued by listed and
unlisted companies in Hong Kong which exposed
to credit risk. The credit risk of debt investments is
managed through an internal process. The credit quality
of each counterparty is investigated before an advance is
made. The Group also actively monitors the outstanding
amounts owed by the issuer and uses past due
information to assess whether credit risk has increased
significantly since initial recognition.

The following table shows the movement in 12m-ECL
that has been recognised for investments in financial
assets at amortised cost:

EEEE (&)
HRBREHRARBEREARZEF REE (=
TE-NFAA)BARSGHF 2 REMHLHE
fth FEU R IB AR EE 5 5l B38% (=T — L&+
56% ) %89% (ZZT—NF:91%) A%
BEEERRER -

HRRZEFREEENRVRT  HRT
ReFERRAR-

AEBEREZHEGREERRNEAE LD
KRIFLTRBIET2ES AEEEBAR
RFEREBREZERERR RIELERN
REAMAEERGHF 2 EEER -AKH
NEBREEBRTARRKEENSRLRE
BBMERFEEERRB V6 ERAKE
NP

TRIINE R AR WK ATE 2 3B
BEREZ12AAEHEEBES

12m-ECL

128 A

BEHEEEE

HK$

BT

As at 1 October 2018 R—ZE—N\F+A—H 3,652,000

Expected credit loss recognised ERRAZEHREEEE 7,200,000
As at 30 September 2019 and 1 October 2019 RZZBE-NAFhLhA=1+HK

—E-h&+HB—H 10,852,000

Expected credit losses recognised BEERZEBHEEEIE 23,711,354

Expected credit losses reversed EREEHREEEE (3,560,769)

As at 30 September 2020 R-ZBE_ZEFNLA=1H 31,002,585
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

Credit risk (Continued)

The credit risk on other receivables are considered
to have high credit risk. In order to minimise the risk,
management has a credit policy in place and the
exposures to these credit risks are highly monitored on
an ongoing basis. Credit evaluations of debtors’ financial
position and condition are performed on all debtors
periodically. Debtors with overdue balances, which will
be reviewed on a case-by-case basis, are required to
settle all outstanding balances before any further credit
is granted.

The following table shows the movement in ECL that has
been recognised for deposits and other receivables:

30 @M T A (&)
(a) =M T A (4)

=B R (%)
HihEWRENEERBRERAEERR
BRE-AEERERKR TEECEREE
BERWHES EQ%%EA4T1EE§FID=oﬁﬁ¥iL\
BAZES AR BRI RAF TS BT
EEE-BEBAZBE %%mﬂ%kﬂ
EH MR REERBIMEER - BEBM
ERERBHEH

TRITCHAREE REMEYRFRIEZ
BHEEERZD:

Lifetime ECL
(credit-
12m-ECL impaired) Total
2 HES
128 A FEH FEEBR
FEEFR (FERHE) et
HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT
As at 1 October 2018 R-ZZE—-N\E+H—H 1,912,623 - 1,912,623
Transfer to credit-impaired BREECERE (1,912,623) 1,912,623 =
Expected credit losses recognised B Rz BHIEEEE = 425,677 425,677
Expected credit losses reversed T @ v BEEEEIE - (38,098) (38,098)
As at 30 September 2019 R-ZE-NAFHhA=+H - 2,300,202 2,300,202
Changes due to deposits and RZE—-—NE+A—H
other receivables recognised EERzZE REAM
at 1 October 2019: W R TR B B
Expected credit losses recognised B Rz BHIEEEE 1,485,209 19,040,674 20,525,883
Expected credit losses reversed D@ 2 BEEEEIE - (11,970) (11,970)
As at 30 September 2020 R-ZE_ZEZFHLA=1+H 1,485,209 21,328,906 22,814,115

The above amount was past due as at 30 September
2020. Based on past experience, management believes
that expected credit loss of HK$20,513,913 was provided
in respect of these balances.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30 @M T A (&)

(a) Financial instruments (Continued)

(a) =M T A (4)

Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk relates to the risk that the Group will not be
able to meet its obligations associated with its financial
liabilities that are settled by delivering cash or another
financial asset. The Group is exposed to liquidity risk
in respect of settlement of other payables, convertible
bonds and also in respect of its cash flow management.
The Group’s objective is to maintain an appropriate level
of liquid assets and committed lines of funding to meet
its liquidity requirements in the short and longer term.

In the management of the liquidity risk, the Directors
monitor and maintain a level of cash and cash
equivalents deemed adequate to finance the Group’s
operations and mitigate the effects of fluctuations in cash
flows.

The following tables show the remaining contractual
maturities at the end of the reporting period of the
Group’s financial liabilities, based on undiscounted
cash flows (including interest payments computed using
contractual rates) and the earliest date the Group can be
required to pay:

mBEERRBAREES TEETARMN
Ao AW BEEENMBRAGENEE
21 7 B8 o 7 5% [ T R A B L ftb A9 RO0R
THRREFEEMTAEHRERERERTE
MRBECRBR NEEZARRERES
KEMRBEEREA#FNEEESIURE
NEMERERNRBESTE R

REBERBESRARE EEHRERAS
SEMETER YRFERRSTEZKX
FORARBLZERHESRRERERE
KEE R E -

TRIIFAEEMBERER RS AR F
HRANIBMER  DRERAUBARERE (£
RRAAHDNEFENNENT) RAEE
ARERERINOHZREAYMIR:

On Total
Weighted demand/ One year contractual
average within to Over undiscounted Carrying
interest rate one year two years two years cash flows amount
ik RER/ RRAKR
THRE —£R -EERME BBRE REREAE RAEE
HK$ HKS$ HK$ HK$ HK$
B B BT B B
At 30 September 2020 BRZB-ZEAA=1H
Other payables EfENTE - 28,209,089 - - 28,209,089 28,209,089
Convertible bonds HRES 2.9% - - 13,500,000 13,500,000 12,782,343
On Total
demand/ One year contractual
within to Over undiscounted Carrying
one year two years two years cash flows amount
REX/ BRRER
—FR —FERF BARFE RENBLE REE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT B BT
At 30 September 2019 RZB-AERA=TH
Other payables Hit RN FR 28,881,086 - - 28,881,086 28,881,086
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued) 30 @M T A (&)

(b) Fair value

The fair value of financial assets and financial liabilities
are determined as follows:

. the fair value of financial assets and financial
liabilities with standard terms and conditions and
traded on active liquid markets are determined
with reference to quoted market bid prices and ask
prices respectively;

. the fair value of financial assets suspended from
trading are determined in accordance with generally
accepted pricing models based on comparable
companies method or net asset value method based
on reliable estimates of forecasted performance of
the assets with reference to market similar product;
and

. the fair value of other financial assets and
financial liabilities are determined in accordance
with generally accepted pricing models based on
discounted cash flow analysis based on reliable
estimates of future cash flows and discount rate
estimated with reference to market similar products
and other relevant market information.

The carrying amounts of financial assets and financial
liabilities at amortised cost reported in the consolidated
statement of financial position of the Group approximate
their fair values due to their immediate or short-term
maturities.

The following table presents the carrying value of
financial instruments measured at fair value at end of the
reporting period across the three levels of the fair value
hierarchy defined in HKFRS 13, Fair Value Measurement,
with the fair value of each financial instrument
categorised in its entirety based on the lowest level of
input that is significant to that fair value measurement.
The levels are defined as follows:

. Level 1: fair values measured using only Level
1 inputs, i.e. unadjusted quoted prices in active
markets for identical assets or liabilities at the
measurement date;
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)

(b) Fair value (Continued)

30. R T A (&)

(b) 2 {E (M)

. Level 2: fair values measured using Level 2 inputs,

i.e. observable inputs which fail to meet Level 1,

and not using significant unobservable inputs.

Unobservable inputs are inputs for which market

data are not available; and

B UAE R AT (ARER
BE-MRAEZIBERBAME)GE
ARE ARNMEREXRT SRS A
- TR B R A BB TR RGN
SEE2BARE: &

«  Level 3: fair values measured using significant F=H - FRERTAERG ASBRE
unobservable inputs. ER/RNE
2020
—ECEF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
E—& EZ® E= HE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
Financial assets at FVTPL BAAREGABEER
ZHBEE
— unlisted securities —FETESF - - 6,026,320 6,026,320
— listed securities — &S 178,069,173 - - 178,069,173
— derivative financial assets - TEIENBEE - - 4,398,568 4,398,568
178,069,173 - 10,424,888 188,494,061
2019
—E-NF
Level 1 Level 2 Level 3 Total
FE—R B E=M B
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT
Financial assets at FVTPL BAAREGABEER
ZHBEE
— unlisted securities —FETES - - 14,768,320 14,768,320
— listed securities — FHEA 227,028,786 - - 227,028,786
227,028,786 - 14,768,320 241,797,106
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For the year ended 30 September 2020 &#Z=—

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Fair value (Continued)

TEFENRA=THIEE

Some of the Group’s financial assets are measured

at fair value at the end of each reporting period. The

following table gives information about how the fair

values of these financial assets are determined (in

particular, the valuation technique(s) and inputs used).

Financial assets

HBEE

Financial assets at FVTPL

BRAABHABRRERZ
HBEE

Listed securities other than
suspended stocks

LTS (ZEEERERN)

Unlisted securities

FEMES

142 EHARERAF

2020

—g-gr
HKS
BT

178,069,173

(2019: 227,028,786)
178,069,173
(ZB-h%:
227,028,786)
6,026,320

(2019: 14,768,320)

6,026,320
(ZB-nF:
14,768,320)

CAPITAL VC LIMITED

Fair value
hierarchy

MAERR

Level 1

8

Level 3

E=R

Valuation
technique(s)

fhE R

Quoted bid price

ELIN

Discounted cash flow

BRETRE

30. R T A (&)

(b)

nRME (8
AEBETHMHBEEDAERERARZA
REFE-TRREHEEZEMBEEAR
BzEHM(REBMS MAEANMGEERTE
WABUR) o

Significant
unobservable
inputs
EXTUEER
BAEE

Free cash flow

BmALRE

Weighted average
cost of capital

IEFHERRA

Discount for lack of
marketability

R EHNESR

Range

#E

TEm

16% to 19%
(2019: 15% to 20%)

16% £19%
(ZE—NF:15%
£20%)

N/A
(2019: 30%)

TiEA
(ZZ-NF:30%)

Relationships of
unobservable
inputs

to fair value
FTUBEEGAHEH
MEZBE

TiER

The higher the free
cash flow, the higher
the fair value
BEEREREMA AnE
PN

The higher the weighted
average cost of capital,
the lower the fair value

IEFERKAEA
DB

The higher the discount
for lack of marketability
of capital, the lower
the fair value

RTEREHMEREA
R EE)



NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Fair value (Continued)

Valuation
Fair value technique(s)
Financial assets 2020  hierarchy and key input(s)
HERHR
HBEE ZRIRE MEER IERAUE
Derivative component in Asset HK$4,398,568  Level 3 Binomial option
relation to the convertible pricing model
bonds issued by the Group
FERAREEINTARES  EE43985688T E=H “EABRETEEN
Wit RS

During the year ended 30 September 2020, suspended
stocks of listed securities with carrying value of
HK$392,800 (2019: HK$2,053,855) were fully impaired.

There were no other transfers between Level 1 and
Level 2 and no transfers into or out of Level 3 fair value
measurements for the year ended 30 September 2020
and 2019. The Group’s policy is to recognise transfers
between levels of fair value hierarchy as at the end of
the reporting period in which they occur.

30. R T A (&)

(b) 2 7fE (#)

Relationships of

Significant unobservable
unobservable inputs

input(s) Range to fair value
EXTTEE TTERBANEE
BARE g RAEZHE

Expected volatility 8.36% (2019: N/A) The higher the expected

BERE

Risk-free rate

ERRNE

Stock price:

volatility, the higher the

fair value.
8.36% BERESS DAERR.
(ZF-h%:
TEf)

0.156% (2019: N/A)  The higher the risk-free rate,
the lower the fair value.

0.156% ERBRANEER DAE
(ZF-0F: ftiy
TER)

HK$0.405 (2019: N/A) - The higher the stock price,
the lower the fair value.
0.405% 7T REERER RAEHE.
(=F-1% )
HE-ZZT-ZTFNA=1+BILFE FHE
392,800/ 7T (=& — N4 : 2,053,855/ 7T.)
ZEMBLFEEEENRECTEURE -

BE-_T-_ZTFR-_T-NFALA=TEH
LFE - F—REF_RARBEHEZHIL
BHMEBE TEEMNE=-FR2AEFEZ
BASEH - AKEZBRRANERBEL
BEMRERARIABERZMEOHEE-
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE

30. FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS (Continued)
(b) Fair value (Continued)
The reconciliation of Level 3 financial assets is as

30. £ WMIT A (@)
(b) 2 RME (8
E-RMBEESHENT

follows:
2020 2019
g 322 —NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
At beginning of the year R E A 14,768,320 150,087,015
Reclassification of bond investments A E B B 15 RS ERIE5 1% - 15EFH
to investments in financial assets REBFOBERBHEKARIIEZ
at amortised costs upon adoption of B EERE
HKFRS 9 - (120,300,000)
Additions NE 4,398,568 -
Loss on fair value change NABEZEEEIE (8,742,000) (15,018,695)
At end of the year R 10,424,888 14,768,320
31. RECONCILIATION OF LIABILITIES ARISING M. MEETHELANBB YR
FROM FINANCING ACTIVITIES
The table below details changes in the Group’s liabilities TRFLMRBE_ZZEFNRA=THLEEE"
from financing activities, including both cash and non-cash Z'»"*lrﬂéxﬁiﬂ?iﬁ’]%%@@]”\iﬁfﬁj&&#
changes, during the year ended 30 September 2020. The Re@yY BHE_T-NFLA=THILFE"

Group did not incur any liability arising from financing AEEVTEAREEDEAETMNAGE -BEFD
activities during the year ended 30 September 2019. EXNBEARERERXHAERBERERHRAE
Liabilities arising from financing activities for which cash flows SEEERERERIBAREITHMFREN
were, or future cash flows will be, classified in the Group’s EMEE-
consolidated statement of cash flows as cash flows from
financing activities.
Convertible
bonds
R ES
At 1 October 2019 RZE—NAF+A—H -
Proceed on issue of convertible bonds BT AR E S 2 TS RE 13,500,000
At 30 September 2020 R-E-_ZTFNLA=1+H 13,500,000
32. MAJOR NON-CASH TRANSACTIONS 32. Ek#ﬁ%?&%
During the year ended 30 September 2020, a vessel was sold RBE_Z-_ZFANA=THLEFE HE—#
for consideration of HK$3,000,000. The receivable of vessel W A EY 1B 53,000,000 TT © A0 45 85 2 FE UL X

balance is included in “prepayments, deposits and other
receivables”.
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

e P HmRME

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

33. STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION OF THE

33. AR A HBMRR K

COMPANY
2020 2019
—ECEF —E-NF
HK$ HK$
BT BT
Non-current assets ERBEE
Interests in subsidiaries LN NECI - 47 47
Current assets REBEE
Prepayments, deposits and FENFIE - Ze REMEWKIE
other receivables 26,416,696 31,916,909
Amounts due from subsidiaries A N NG @ 557,824,328 540,332,604
Cash and cash equivalents HeERREEFEEY 503,361 11,739,329
584,744,385 583,988,842
Current liabilities REBAE
Other payables and accruals HEMERIBERETER 3,636,921 6,527,786
Amounts due to subsidiaries FEATHI B R R FRIE 54,158,415 54,231,285
57,795,336 60,759,071
Net current assets REEEFE 526,949,049 523,229,771
Total assets less current liabilities BELERREDEE 526,949,096 523,229,818
Non-current liabilities ERBERE
Convertible bonds Al A% & 55 12,782,343 =
Deferred tax liability BT IEE G 121,646 =
12,903,989 —
Net assets EEFE 514,045,107 523,229,818
Capital and reserves EXR#E
Share capital % A& 68,872,062 68,872,062
Reserves E1E 445,173,045 454,357,756
Total equity attributable to equity holders A B IRAER B A FE{h ek 4258
of the Company 514,045,107 523,229,818

Chan Cheong Yee

RE=
Director

BF

Kong Fanpeng
#L AL Hs
Director

BEF
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

eV IRRMEE

For the year ended 30 September 2020 &2 =2 _ZFNA=+HILFE
34. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY 34. X Elf#fE
Convertible Capital
Share bonds equity reduction Share options Accumulated
premium reserve reserve reserve losses Total
TRRES
REE BEfEE RAHARE BRERS ZitER @5t
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT B BT B
At 1 October 2018 W=Z—-\F+HA—H 1,315,163,854 - 22,826,010 - (708,372,762) 629,617,102
Loss and total comprehensive AEEBEREZE
loss for the year FREE - - - ~ (177,134,846) (177,134,846)
Recognition of equity-settled HRAREREBARR
share-based payments (Note 22) ~ BEWERH (H#22) - - - 1,875,500 - 1,875,500
At 30 September 2019 RZE-AEAA=1H 1315,163,854 - 22,826,010 1,875,500  (885,507,608) 454,357,756
Loss and total comprehensive AEEFBEREE
expenses for the year HxasE - - - - (16,212,029)  (16,212,029)
Recognition of equity component BRI AR EFHNER
of convertible bonds, B5 - MEREEHE
net of deferred tax - 4,920,818 - - - 4,920,818
Lapse of share option BRELN - = = (1,875,500) 1,875,500 =
Recognition of equity-settied TR AR 5 H DA RR 17
share-based payments (Note 22) ~ AERRR K (Hi222) = = = 2,106,500 = 2,106,500
At 30 September 2020 RZB-ZEAA=1+H 1,315163,854 4,920,818 22,826,010 2,106,500  (899,844,137)  445173,045
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NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
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For the year ended 30 September 2020 &1Z —Z -_FFNA=THILFE

34. RESERVES OF THE COMPANY (Continued)

()

(i)

(iii)

Share premium

The application of the share premium account is
governed by the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands.
Under the Companies Law of the Cayman Islands, the
funds in share premium account are distributable to
shareholders of the Company provided that immediately
following the date on which the dividend is proposed to
be distributed, the Company will be in a position to pay
off its debts as they fall due in the ordinary course of
business.

Capital reduction reserve

The capital reduction reserve is derived after setting off
of the capital reduction with the accumulated losses as
at the date of the capital reorganisation of the Company
which became effective on 8 February 2013.

Distributability of reserves

At 30 September 2020 and 2019, the aggregate amount
of reserves available for the distribution to the owners
of the Company calculated in accordance with the
laws of the Cayman Islands was HK$443,066,545 and
HK$452,482,256 respectively.
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FINANCIAL SUMMARY

MR

A summary of the published results, assets and liabilities of the

Group for the last five financial years, as extracted from the

audited financial statements, is set out as follows:
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RESULTS E 3
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EC-EF —T-NF —E-N\F —E—+tfF —ZT-RF
hA=1A NA=+H NA=+H AA=+H LA=+H
LEE HEE EFE tFE EFE
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Turnover EEE (52,399,474)  (142,787,678) (179,754,212)  (514,825,909)  (235,969,328)
Loss before tax BREAIEE (105,482,955)  (183,559,559)  (244,421,994)  (577,951,816)  (265,561,083)
Income tax (expense)/credit FEH (AX) /8% - = - (10,065,716) 58,555,454
Loss for the year attributable to AR RERAE AESL
equity holders of the Company FEER (105,482,955)  (183,559,559)  (244,421,994)  (588,017,532)  (207,005,629)
ASSETS AND LIABILITIES EEHAR
30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September 30 September
2020 2019 2018 2017 2016
—EC-EF —E-NE —2)\E —2—tF TR
RA=TA NAZ+H NA=Z+H NAZ=1H hAZFA
HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$ HK$
BT BT BT BT BT
Total assets BEEHE 489,783,797 576,007,442 751,497,253 1,014,021,190  1,230,257,810
Total liabilities BERE (41,113,078) (28,881,086) (15,943,215) (33,775,099)  (108,965,838)
Total equity attributable to equity holders ARRRERAE AEL
of the Company EREE 448,670,719 547,126,356 735,554,038 980,246,091  1,121,291,972
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